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June 10, 2020 

VIA REGISTERED AND REGULAR MAIL 

Bayview Creek (CIM) LP 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, ON L3T 7V9 
 
CIM Invests Development Inc. 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, ON L3T 7V9 
 
CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, ON L3T 7V9 
 
Dear Sirs: 
 
Re:     DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.  (“DUCA”) loan to Bayview Creek 

(CIM)  LP, CIM Invests Development Inc. and CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 

(collectively, the “Debtors”), secured, inter alia, by a charge over 10747 Bayview 

Avenue, Richmond Hill 

 

We act as solicitors for DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (“DUCA").  According to 
our client’s records, you are jointly and severally indebted to DUCA as of June 9, 2020 in the 
principal amount of $20,720,000.00 with accrued interest thereon in the amount of $38,374.58, a 
discharge fee of $1,000.00, a PPSA registration and discharge fee of $130.00, an appraisal fee of 
$27,585.56, unrecovered legal fees of $5,133.84 and an interest reserve of $23,890.25 for a total 
amount owing as at June 9, 2020 of $20,768,333.73.  

Interest continues to accrue from June 9, 2020 to the date of payment at DUCA’s prime rate of 
interest in effect from time to time plus 5.5% per annum, which as of today’s date is equal to 
$4,796.82 per day. 

Your indebtedness to DUCA is secured, inter alia, by a General Security Agreement dated May 
13, 2016, as well as a Charge/Mortgage of Land registered in the Land Registry Office for the 
Land Titles Division of York Region (No. 65) on May 18, 2016, as Instrument No. YR2473036 
on the property municipally known as 10747 Bayview Avenue, Richmond Hill, Ontario. 

EXHIBIT "HH"
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You are in default under your obligations to DUCA.  We hereby demand payment of your 
indebtedness to our client.  Unless payment of the total sum owing as aforesaid together with 
additional interest accrued and legal costs actually incurred to the date of payment or other 
satisfactory arrangements therefor are made within 15 days from the date thereof, DUCA shall 
take such steps as it deems necessary or desirable to recover payment of your indebtedness in full 
without further demand upon or notice to you.  Such proceedings may include enforcement of 
DUCA's security. 

Enclosed please find our client's Notice of Intention to Enforce Security which is served upon 
you pursuant to section 244(1) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, as well as notice being 
provided to you pursuant to Section 63(4) of the Personal Property Security Act, R.S.O. 1990, as 
amended. 

Govern yourself accordingly. 

Yours truly, 
 
DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP 
 

 
 
Oren Chaimovitch (Devry) 
OHC:tm 

Encl. 
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 NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ENFORCE SECURITY 
 Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) 
 (Subsection 244(1)) 
 
TO: Those persons set forth in Schedule "A" annexed hereto (the “Debtors”), each an 

insolvent person 
 
Take Notice That: 
 
1. DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT UNION LTD. (“DUCA”), a secured creditor, 

intends to enforce its security on the property of the above-mentioned insolvent person.  
The property is described as a collateral Charge/Mortgage given in support of the debts 
and obligations of the Debtors. 

 
2. The security that is to be enforced is in the form of the following (the “Security”): 
 

(a)  a General Security Agreement dated May 13, 2016 in respect of which a financing 
statement was registered under the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario); and 

 
(b)  a Collateral Charge/Mortgage registered on May 18, 2016 in the Land Registry 

Office for the Land Titles Division of York Region (No. 65) as Instrument No. 
YR2473036 made by CIM Invests Development Inc. as Chargor(s), in favour of 
DUCA. 

 
3. The total amount of indebtedness secured by the Security is $20,768,333.73, inclusive of 

principal and interest to June 9, 2020, plus costs and further interest accruing to the date 
of payment at DUCA’s prime rate of interest in effect from time to time plus 5.5% per 
annum, which as of today’s date is equal to $4,796.82 per day. 

 
4. The secured creditor will not have the right to enforce the Security until after the expiry 

of the 15 day period following the sending of this notice, unless the insolvent person 
consents to an earlier enforcement. 

 
DATED at Toronto, Ontario, this 10th day of June, 2020. 

 
DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT UNION 
LTD. by its solicitors 
DEVRY, SMITH & FRANK LLP 
95 Barber Greene Road, Suite 100 
Toronto, Ontario M3C 3E9 
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Per:                               
  OREN CHAIMOVITCH 
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 SCHEDULE "A" 
 
 

Bayview Creek (CIM) LP 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, Ontario 
L3T 7V9 
 
CIM Invests Development Inc. 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, Ontario 
L3T 7V9 
 
CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, Ontario 
L3T 7V9 
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 NOTICE PURSUANT TO SECTION 63(4) OF THE 

 PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT 
 
TO: Those persons set forth in Schedule "A" annexed hereto 

 
TAKE NOTICE that default has been made in the payment of monies secured 

under the following security agreement (the "Security") granted by Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, 
CIM Invests Development Inc. and CIM Bayview Creek Inc. (the “Debtors”) to DUCA Financial 
Services Credit Union Ltd. (“DUCA"): 
 

(a) a General Security Agreement dated May 13, 2016 in respect of which a financing 
statement was registered under the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario). 

      
The collateral covered by the Security comprises all the undertaking, property and 

assets of the Debtors. (the "Collateral"). 
 

AND TAKE NOTICE that DUCA intends to dispose of the Collateral unless 
redeemed. 
 
1.  The amount required to satisfy the obligations secured by the Security as at June 
9, 2020 in the amount of $20,768,333.73 as more particularly set forth in Schedule "B" hereto 
plus interest thereon from June 9, 2020 to the date of payment at DUCA’s prime rate of interest 
in effect from time to time plus 5.5% per annum, which as of today’s date is equal to $4,796.82 
per day. 
 
2.  The estimated expenses of DUCA in taking, holding, preparing for disposition 
and disposing of the Collateral is $5,000.00. 

 
3.  Upon receipt of payment, the payer will be credited with any rebates or 
allowances to which the Debtors. may be entitled. 
 
4.  DUCA hereby gives you notice that upon payment of the amounts due as above-
described together with additional interest accrued and expenses actually incurred to the date of 
payment you may redeem the Collateral. 
 
5.  Unless payment of the amounts due as above-described is received by the earlier 
of 15 days from the date you actually receive this notice or 25 days after this notice is served 
upon you by registered mail, DUCA will dispose of the Collateral by private sale, public tender, 
public auction or otherwise and the Debtors., as well as any other person liable for payment of 
the obligations secured will be liable for any deficiency. 
 

This notice is given to you because you may have an interest in the Collateral and 
you may be entitled to redeem the same. 
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DATED at Toronto, Ontario, this 10th day of June, 2020 

 
DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT  
UNION LTD.  
by its lawyers,  
Messrs. Devry Smith Frank LLP 
95 Barber Greene Road, Suite 100 
Toronto, Ontario M3C 3E9 

        
 

          
Per:       

OREN CHAIMOVITCH 
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 SCHEDULE "A" 
 
 

Bayview Creek (CIM) LP 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, Ontario 
L3T 7V9 
 
CIM Invests Development Inc. 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, Ontario 
L3T 7V9 
 
CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West 
Markham, Ontario 
L3T 7V9 
 
Jiubin Feng 
35 Penwood Crescent 
Toronto, Ontario 
M3B 3B1 
 
Dianyuan Zhang 
5 Fairfield Place 
Thornhill, Ontario 
L3T 7M7 
 
Xiaoxin Zhang 
5 Fairfield Place 
Thornhill, Ontario 
L3T 7M7 
 
Romspen Investment Corporation 
162 Cumberland Street, Suite 300 
Toronto, ON M5R 3N5 
 
Bryton Capital Corp. GP Ltd. 
65 Queen Street West, Suite 210 
Toronto ON M5H 2M5 
 
GR (Can) Investment Co. Ltd. 
4342 Queen Street, Suite 203 
Niagara Falls, ON L2E 7J7 
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The Bank of Nova Scotia 
4715 Tahoe Blvd 
Mississauga, ON L4W 0B4 
 
Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Canada Corporation 
2680 Matheson Blvd. E. Ste 500 
Mississauga, ON L4W 0A5 
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 SCHEDULE “B” 

 
 
  Principal    $20,720,000.00 
 
  Accrued Interest to June 9/20  38,374.58 
 
  Discharge Fee    1,000.00 
 
  Registration Fee   80.00 
 
  PPSA Discharge Fee   50.00 
 
  Appraisal Costs   27,585.56 
 
  Unrecovered legal costs  5,133.84 
 
  Interest Reserve    ($23,890.25) 
 
       $20,768,333.73 
 

per diem: $4,796.82 
 

  

257



 

 

DE VRY  S MI TH FR ANK  L L P  
Law yer s  &  Medi a t o r s  

 

DE VRY  S MI TH FR ANK  L L P  
Law yer s  &  Medi a t o r s  

 
95 Barber Greene Rd., Suite 100, Toronto, Ontario, Canada  M3C 3E9 

Tel: 416.449.1400   Fax: 416.449.7071   www.devrylaw.ca 

Oren.Chaimovitch@devrylaw.ca 

 

 

 

 

June 10, 2020 

VIA REGISTERED AND REGULAR MAIL 

Jiubin Feng 
35 Penwood Crescent 
Toronto, Ontario 
M3B 3B1 
 
Dear Jiubin Feng:      

  
Re:    DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.  (“DUCA”) loan to Bayview 

Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Invests Development Inc. and CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 

(collectively, the “Debtors”), secured, inter alia, by a charge over 10747 Bayview 

Avenue, Richmond Hill 

 
We are the solicitors for DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (“DUCA”).  

Please find enclosed a copy of our letter dated June 10, 2020 to the Debtors  demanding payment 
of its indebtedness and liabilities to DUCA.  We also enclose with this correspondence the 
Notice of Sale pursuant to the Personal Property Security Act and Notice of Intention to Enforce 
Security pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. 

Payment of all debts and liabilities owing by the Debtors were guaranteed by you pursuant to a 
Guarantee dated May 13, 2016 (the “Guarantee”). You are personally responsible to pay under 
the said Guarantee the amount of $20,720,000.00, the accrued interest thereon in the amount of 
$38,374.58, the discharge fee of $1,000.00, a PPSA registration and discharge fee of $130.00, an 
appraisal fee of $27,585.56, unrecovered legal fees of $5,133.84 and interest to today’s date of 
$4,796.82 and together with interest thereon at DUCA’s prime rate in effect from time to time 
plus 5.5% per annum from the date of the demand for payment, which as of today’s date is equal 
to $4,796.82 per day. 

We hereby demand payment under your Guarantee as well as legal fees incurred to date. 

Please be advised that unless payment or satisfactory arrangements therefor are made within 10 
days from the date of this correspondence, DUCA shall take such steps as it deems necessary or 
desirable in order to recover payment under your Guarantee without demand upon or notice to 
you. 
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Please govern yourself accordingly. 

Yours truly, 
 
DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP 

 
 
Oren Chaimovitch (Devry) 
OHC:tm 
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June 10, 2020 

VIA REGISTERED AND REGULAR MAIL 

Dianyuan Zhang 
5 Fairfield Place 
Thornhill, Ontario 
L3T 7M7 
 
Dear Dianyuan Zhang:      

  
Re:     DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.  (“DUCA”) loan to Bayview Creek 

(CIM) LP, CIM Invests Development Inc. and CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 

(collectively, the “Debtors”), secured, inter alia, by a charge over 10747 Bayview 

Avenue, Richmond Hill 

 

We are the solicitors for DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (“DUCA”).  

Please find enclosed a copy of our letter dated June 10, 2020 to the Debtors  demanding payment 
of its indebtedness and liabilities to DUCA.  We also enclose with this correspondence the 
Notice of Sale pursuant to the Personal Property Security Act and Notice of Intention to Enforce 
Security pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. 

Payment of all debts and liabilities owing by the Debtors were guaranteed by you pursuant to a 
Guarantee dated May 13, 2016 (the “Guarantee”). You are personally responsible to pay under 
the said Guarantee the amount of $20,720,000.00, the accrued interest thereon in the amount of 
$38,374.58, the discharge fee of $1,000.00, a PPSA registration and discharge fee of $130.00, an 
appraisal fee of $27,585.56, unrecovered legal fees of $5,133.84 and interest to today’s date of 
$4,796.82 and together with interest thereon at DUCA’s prime rate in effect from time to time 
plus 5.5% per annum from the date of the demand for payment, which as of today’s date is equal 
to $4,796.82 per day. 

We hereby demand payment under your Guarantee as well as legal fees incurred to date. 

Please be advised that unless payment or satisfactory arrangements therefor are made within 10 
days from the date of this correspondence, DUCA shall take such steps as it deems necessary or 
desirable in order to recover payment under your Guarantee without demand upon or notice to 
you. 
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Please govern yourself accordingly. 

Yours truly, 
 
DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP 
 

 
 
 
Oren Chaimovitch (Devry) 
OHC:tm 

encl. 
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June 10, 2020 

VIA REGISTERED AND REGULAR MAIL 

Xiaoxin Zhang 
5 Fairfield Place 
Thornhill, Ontario 
L3T 7M7 
 
Dear Xiaoxin Zhang:      

  
Re:     DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.  (“DUCA”) loan to Bayview 

Creek(CIM)  LP, CIM Invests Development Inc. and CIM Bayview Creek Inc. 

(collectively, the “Debtors”), secured, inter alia, by a charge over 10747 Bayview 

Avenue, Richmond Hill 

 

We are the solicitors for DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (“DUCA”).  

Please find enclosed a copy of our letter dated June 10, 2020 to the Debtors  demanding payment 
of its indebtedness and liabilities to DUCA.  We also enclose with this correspondence the 
Notice of Sale pursuant to the Personal Property Security Act and Notice of Intention to Enforce 
Security pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act. 

Payment of all debts and liabilities owing by the Debtors were guaranteed by you pursuant to a 
Guarantee dated May 13, 2016 (the “Guarantee”). You are personally responsible to pay under 
the said Guarantee the amount of $20,720,000.00, the accrued interest thereon in the amount of 
$38,374.58, the discharge fee of $1,000.00, a PPSA registration and discharge fee of $130.00, an 
appraisal fee of $27,585.56, unrecovered legal fees of $5,133.84 and interest to today’s date of 
$4,796.82 and together with interest thereon at DUCA’s prime rate in effect from time to time 
plus 5.5% per annum from the date of the demand for payment, which as of today’s date is equal 
to $4,796.82 per day. 

We hereby demand payment under your Guarantee as well as legal fees incurred to date. 

Please be advised that unless payment or satisfactory arrangements therefor are made within 10 
days from the date of this correspondence, DUCA shall take such steps as it deems necessary or 
desirable in order to recover payment under your Guarantee without demand upon or notice to 
you. 
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Please govern yourself accordingly. 

Yours truly, 
 
DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP 

 
Oren Chaimovitch (Devry) 
OHC:tm 
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TAB II



NOTICE OF SALE UNDER CHARGE

TO: SEE SCHEDULE "A" ATTACHED   

TAKE NOTICE that default has been made in payment of monies due under a certain Charge made 
between DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT UNION LTD. as Chargee and CIM INVESTS 
DEVELOPMENT INC., as Chargor upon the following property, namely: 

PT LT 25, CON 2, (MKM), PTS 1 & 2, PL65R31680; TOWN OF RICHMOND HILL
Municipally known as 10747 Bayview Avenue, Richmond Hill, Ontario

) which Charge was registered on May 18, 2016 in the Land Registry Office for the 
Land Titles Division of York Region (No. 65) as Instrument Number YR2473036 and which 
Charge was assumed by CIM BAYVIEW CREEK INC.

AND DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT UNION LTD. hereby gives you notice that the 
amounts due on the Charge for principal money, interest, costs and the other items hereinafter 
shown, respectively are as follows:

(a)  Principal balance $20,720,000.00

(b) Interest to June 23, 2020 105,530.06

(c) Mortgage Discharge Fee 1,000.00

(d) Appraisal costs incurred 27,585.56

(f) PPSA registration and Discharge Fee 130.00

(e) Unrecovered Legal Costs 5,133.84

(f) Additional Legal Fees/disb incurred, including in forwarding this notice 
(including HST) 5,815.51

Total Due $20,865,194.97

E.&O.E.

(such amount for costs being up to and including the service of this Notice only, and thereafter, 
such further costs and disbursements will be charged as may be proper),

together with interest at the prime rate of interest in effect from time to time plus 5.5%
per annum, and interest on overdue interest, at the same rate, calculated and payable in the same 
way, on the principal, interest and costs hereinbefore mentioned, from June 23, 2020 to the date of 
payment. 

AND unless the said sums are paid on or before July 30, 2020, DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES 
CREDIT UNION LTD. shall sell the property covered by the said Charge under the provisions 
contained in it.

THIS NOTICE is given to you as you appear to have an interest in the charged property and may be 
entitled to redeem the same.

DATED at Toronto, this 23rd day of June, 2020.

DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT 
UNION LTD. by its solicitors,
DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP

________________________
REPLY TO: Devry Smith Frank LLP

100-95 Barber Greene Road
Toronto, ON M3C 3E9

-3342

EXHIBIT "II"

(the “ Charge”

Chargee’s

Att’n Oren Chaimovitch (416) 446
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SCHEDULE "A"

To: CIM INVESTS DEVELOPMENT INC.
9140 Leslie Street
Unit 310
Richmond Hill, Ontario
L4B 0A9

To: CIM INVESTS DEVELOPMENT INC.
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West
Markham, Ontario
L3T 7V9

To: Bayview Creek (CIM) LP
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West
Markham, Ontario
L3T 7V9

To: CIM Invests Development Inc.
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West
Markham, Ontario
L3T 7V9

To: CIM Bayview Creek Inc.
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West
Markham, Ontario
L3T 7V9

To: Xiaoxin Zhang
5 Fairfield Place
Thornhill, Ontario
L3T 7M7

To: Jiubin Feng
35 Penwood Crescent
Toronto, Ontario
M3B 3B1

To: Dianyuan Zhang
5 Fairfield Place
Thornhill, Ontario
L3T 7M7

To: Bryton Capital Corp. GP Ltd.
65 Queen Street West, Suite 210
Toronto ON M5H 2M5

To: Bryton Creek Residences Inc.
65 Queen Street West, Suite 210
Toronto ON M5H 2M5
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EXHIBIT "JJ"

D E V R Y S M I T H F R A N K L L P
Law vers & Mediatorsm

Oren.CfutUnovitcka diMyliM ca

Jul> 24, 2020 (REVISEDj

Bayview Creek (CIM ) I P
502-55 Commerce Valle) Drive West
Markham. ON L3T 7V9

'

C1M Invests Development lne.
502-55 Commerce Valley Drive West
Markham. ON L.3T 7V9

CLM Bayview Creek Inc.
502-55 Commerce Valiev Drive West
Markham. ON L3T 7V9

\iaoxii) Zhang
5 Fairfield Place
Thornhill. Ontario UT 7M7

.liubin Feng
55 Pcnwood Crescent
Toronto, Ontario M3B 3B l

Dianyuan Zhang
5 Fairfield Place
Thomhill. Ontario I 3T 7M7

Dear Sirs;

l)L;CA Financial Sen ices Credit Union Ltd. ( the ’ Lender" or “ DUCA” ), credit
facility in favour of Buyview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Invests Development Inc, and
CIM Bayview Creek Inc. (collectively, the “ Borrower") secured, inter ulia, by a
Charge/Mortgage of Land registered in the Land Registry Office for the Land
Titles Division of York Region ( No. 65) on May 18. 2016, as Instrument No.
A R2473036 ( the “ C harge” ) on the property municipally known as 10747 Bayview
Avenue, Richmond Hill, Ontario ( the “ Property")

ihis letter replaces our letters of March 17. 2020 and May 27. 2020. which were not accepted by
you and arc withdrawn.

Re:

95 Barber Greene KvL Suite 100. Toronto, Ontario, Canada M3C 3E9
Tel; 416.449,1400 Fax: 410.449 , 7071 www.devrybw.ca
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DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP Page 2

As you know, we ure solicitors for DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. We make
reference to the commitment letter entered into among DUCA Financial Services Credit Union
Ltd., Bayv iew Creek (CfM) LP by its general partner, C.'IM Invests Development l tic., and Jin bin
I eng. Pianyuan Zheng and Xiaoxin Zhang (collectively. the"Guarantors"} dated April 1 5. 20 Id,

us amended by letter agivemeills dated April 12, 2017, April 26. 2018 and June 14. 21 OS . and our
forbearance letters of March 6, 201 W and April IS. 2019 as replaced by a letter agreement dated
May 22, 2019 (collectively referred TO as the 'Commitment j , All capitalized terms used herein
shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Commitment unless otherwise indicated.

The Lender is prepared to consent to the increase of the existing second mortgage on the Property
in favour of Bryton Capital Corp. GP Ltd. from $20,((00,000 to $22,300,000 ( the "Further
Financing"! and to lorebear from enforcing the Security and Charge until the earlier of (i) the
occurrence of a farther event of Default (which includes the events of Default as defined in the
Commitment as well its an; non-compliance with your obligations hereunder); tmd ni ) September
30. 2020 (which shall hereinafter be referred to the “ Forbearance Deadline" (which replaces ihe
definition of Forbearance Deadline in the letter of May 22, 2019), and the period until the
1 orbearartce Deadline is sometimes referred to us the ''Forbearance Period" (whidh replaces the
definition of Forbearance Period in the letter of May 22, 2019) on the following basis:

I . You shall pa; ihfe Lender within one business da; of the advance of the Further Financing
by Bryton Capital Corp, GP Lid,, bm in an; event by no later than August 7, 2020;

a. a forbearance lee of $60,000,00 ( the 'Forbearance Fee"). The Forbearance Fee is
payable in addition to the regular interest and other amounts payable Linder the
Commitment;

b. the amount ol $20,000.00,to be applied towards payment of legal costs incurred bv the
Lender;

c. the amount ol $27,585.56, to be applied towards payment of appraisal costs incurred
by ihe Lender;

d. the amount of $565,000.00 to be added Lo the Interest Reserve to be applied as payment
towards interest payable u> the Lender,

You arc to continue to provide DUCA with written progress reports on the severance
process at 2 month intervals:

You are to otherwise comply w ith all of your obligations to the Leader set out in the
Commitment and the Security save and except as may be provided herein. Further, you
arc to ensure thyi all encumbrances registered against die Property* including those that
rank behind DUCA's Charge, arc kept in good standing and that no enforcement
proceeding are taken by any other chargee of the Property;

? .
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PKVKY SMITH FRANK LiP Page 3

4. You are to provide DUG A. contemporaneously with the delivery of this agreement, a
written consent (the "‘Consent'*) to a court-appointed receiver to be obtained without notice
to you in the form of tire Model Receivership Order of the Superior Court of Justice’s
Commercial List, in the form attached hereto as Schedule A. DUCA will hold the Consent
in escrow, subject to the terms referred to below:

By signing below , you acknowledge and agree that:5,

a. events of Default have occurred and are continuing and we have demanded repayment
of your indebtedness to the Lender and issued a Notice of Sale under the Charge.

b. you have received the demand letters ( the "Demands") and the Notice of Intention to
Enforce Security ( the " Notice") issued by Devry Smith Frank LLP dated June 10, 2020
and the Notice of Sale under Mortgage Che "Notice of Sale ) dated June 23, 2020.
You agree that the issuance of Demands, the Notice and die Notice of Sale and their
delivery were proper in all respects, the Indebtedness as set out therein is correct and
that the Demands and the Notice have not been withdrawn but remain and will continue
to remain in lull force and effect. Upon acceptance of agreement formed by this letter
and (he receipt within the time allowed therefor of the funds referred to in paragraph 1
above and die Consent referred to in paragraph 4 above, the Notice of Sale shall be
withdrawn. If an additional event of Default occurs under the Commitment
default in your obligations hereunder, the Lender shall be permitted to use and rely on
the Demands and the Notice and shall not be required to issue a fresh demand for
payment or Notice of Intention or Enforce Security prior to enforcing its Security.

c. Each of you hereby waives any rights to have any of the Indebtedness waived or die
costs included therein assessed:

or you

d. You continue to have no defences, counterclaims or claims against DUCA, or rights of
set off or reduction against the Indebtedness (or to enforcement of the Security)
whatsoever and all such defences, counterclaims, claims or set off rights are expressly
Waived Without limitation, you hereby release and discharge DUCA and its respective
officers, directors, employees and agents from and against all claims and demands in
respect of any actual or alleged action or omission of DUCA arising up to and including
the date of this agreement;

c. None of the rights and remedies under the Commitment and/or the Security and
of the existing events of Default are waived or shall be deemed to be waived by the
agreement formed by this letter. However, the Lender will agree to lake no further
steps in enforcement of its rights and remedies under the Security during foe
Forbearance Period, provided no further events of Default occur, the terms hereof are
complied with, and the conditions to forbearance set out herein are met. If a further
Default does occur, or the terms hereof are not complied with, or the condition to
forbearance arc not met, or if the Lender in its discretion believes its Security is in
jeopardy, the full amount of the Indebtedness shall immediately become due and
pay able and the Lender may immediately and without further notice to you exercise

none
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DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP Page 4

any or all of its rights* including enforcing the Security , and DIJCA may immediately
appoint a receiver at its discretion in accordance with the Consent attached hereto.

All of ihe Indebtedness (which when used herein means the Credit facility and all fees,
costs, interest and other amounts which may be owing to the Lender in accordance with
the Commitment and Security ) will be paid in full by the Forbearance Deadline. At dial
time, any additional legal costs incurred or amounts not paid in accordance with the terms
of this letter shall be paid in full ,

6.

7. 1 lie agreement formed by this letter be construed in accordance with and governed by the
laws of the Province o! Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, The Borrower
and Guarantors irrevocably submit to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of such
Province and acknowledge the competence of such courts and irrevocably agrees to be
bound by a judgment of any such court.

The agreement formed by this letter is supplemental to and shall be read with and be
deemed to be pan of the Commitment and the Security, which shall be deemed to be
amended muiatis mutandis as herein provided. Any reference to the Commitment or the
Security in any agreements or documents entered into in connection with the Commitment
or the Security shall mean the Commitment and the Security as amended hereby and all
such agreements and documents arc also hereby amended pro tanio to give effect to the
agreement formed by this letter. All the terms and conditions of the Commitment and the
Security, except insofar as the same are amended by the express provisions of die
agreement formed by this letter, arc confirmed and ratified in all respects, shall survive and
shall not merge with or be extinguished by the execution and delivery of the agreement
formed bv this letter and shall hereafter continue in full force and effect, as amended.

S.

9. The agreement formed by this letter may be executed in any number of separate
counterparts by any one or more of the parties hereto, and all of said counterparts taken
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart
of die agreement formed by this letter by telecopier. PDF or by oilier electronic means shall
be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterparts.

The above offer is open for acceptance until July 31, 2020 at 1 pm unless earlier withdrawn. We
require you to acknowledge acceptance by signing this letter in the space indicated below, and
returning it to our office by that time along the Consent

Yours truly.
DEVRY SMITH TRANK LLP

Oren Cbaimovitch
/ohe
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DEVRY SMITH FRANK LLP Paiie 5

We hereby accept the above terms and conditions this day of . 2020

BAYVIEW CREEK|CIM ) LP, t>y its general partner,
CIM INVESTS DEVELOPMENT INC.
Per:

Jiubin Feng - President
I luive authority to bind the Corporation

CIM INVESTS DEVELOPMENT INC.

Per:
Jiubin Feng - President

I have authority to bind the Corporation

CIM BAYVIEW CREEK INC.
-Per:

Jiubin Feng - President
I have authority to bind the Corporation

J iub inTong
f

7*-
Dianyvian Zhang

Xiaoxin Zhang
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Schedule A

Court File. No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

B E T W E E N :
DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT UNION LTD.

Applicant
and

BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP. CIM INVESTS DEVELOPMENT INC and CIM BAYVIEW
CREEK INC

Respondents

CONSENT TO RECEIVERSHIP ORDER

THE RESPONDENTS,Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Invests Development Inc and
CIM Bayview Creek Inc. , and the Applicant, DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd
hereby consent to an Order for the appointment of a Receiver against them and of all of
their assets, undertakings and properties of In the form of the Model Receivership Order of
the Ontano Superior court of Justice Commercial List as amended from time to time, with
such revisions as may be necessary and appropriate.

THE RESPONDENTS, Bayview Creek (CIM) LP.CIM Invests Development Inc. and
CIM Bayview Creek Inc., and the Applicant. DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd.,

certify that this Order does not affect the rights of any party under a disability

Date: July 2020 BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP

Per: V
Name:
( I have the authority to bind the company)
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Date. July , 2020 CIM INVESTS DEVELOPMENT INC

Per: _
Name:
(l have the authority tq bind the company)

Date July , 2020 CIM BAYVIEW CREEK INC.

Per: _
Name;
(I have the authority to bind the company)

Date; July 2020 DUCA FINANCIAL SERVICES CREDIT
UNION LTD.

Per:
Name
(I h a t h e authority to bind the company)
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EXHIBIT "KK"

CmI Fiic fa r-;n. KXK . r j f t .MMI

ONTAMIQ

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

)
) FRIDAY THE ISIIJ DAYTUF HONOURABLE

ru^ricT SCHAUAS
I

OF SEPTEMBER 2020
)

BET WHEN:

1RACY MR AnJ KJ .rom.n (PwJKKUJJIy .md Repmenlfity; thr mii- i «b r2 [ IJic
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holden )

Flu huffs / MdrvifteftlrtbfS
J] J

OM INTERNATIONAL CROUP INC-* BAWltW CRfcEK (C1M> LP, a!W 3AVY1EW
CiU EK INC* 111 GIN mtr, tUon, JERRY FENG), (CHANC DIAN YUAN.DANn ioCO, ROBERT PARENT* MEM III SJJAREL OM MACKliNZDE CREEK tNClf QM
MACKENZIE CREEK Iif \ CRA VITASStCTlRn lES INC. a ad AMANDA ZILAO

DaNntlniib F
' Racpundiog Paiuct

ORDER

I'UJS MOTION moa^ a pnrft by [tic Ptiiniffi r". ,t ^ Older^UBII t iettims taj a#U0 J id

he ftwW- a/Ml*' Ad , K.5.0 1990 , - O. Ji aitU= HEi=ij (rflff "CJA") tn (fl ]&3U& arid rcyiwj i

iJcjiiikiia nf Pending Lltiganon. mi fipprunr .1 icceivn und {JIII gn^ on mjmjckan IIJLJULJ ik-:

Defendants wai Stard Ifti* d*y by conference call In Tatmtn,Oncarh

ON R L A D I N G the AlfljJfc^l o f Jqfo IILLI awi, i , Si-pUcmber 12, 2020 and lhc exmsi'.s
annexed lli.-tr::. njid ein reading tbs Nuiicc (jf AtttCfi ,
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1 .
"IH.fS COURT ORCTiRS itint ihc Plaintiffs’ muticirj it hereby jjfnnied.

- IT i ]:̂ i. '• '1 I’. | rSUERS thul .I Certllidtflc af Peitdtqg; I ii:y. i.: jun in the form. nt ladicd rrrcM

idicJuIc "A" shall he issued JJ:d jcgj^crcit liyaintf title in itu: hods nnn j-ircrjuiiH- -. legally

mid pmnicipflJ,ly deiatbed panuacl lu \mabnn [0:1 ufdfo Courts o/ Ĵ t cf ict; R S O 1990,

c C. tj nnd Ruk 42 mi' Lhc iufrj ofChiif 'riwtdiirt R RO 1 9 9 0, H4.

F.S

: nils COURT URUERS that un Interim ittf unction fm 10 days from the rfnta of t(iii OjJtt

iJiiU bcgtmEed ptmulntg ihe nalc of itir reni propony gs ilwrfhcii: in ’' A h^a -

4; THIS COURT ORDERS tfwif on rntciim LMJCL preventing CIM Imcnmnaml Cifoup Inc,

rClMG:oup ) , ONf Bayview L':cek JAc B a y v i C i w k :(. LV( i l.i\ CIM Mactarcr,c Cieek
Inc sr; d CIM MldcritRic Crrri, LPf their Servnnti. employees. "i^CrtES jlS4i|jyu nffiKn.
djtvcwm grd ,if jnyone rlic acting on in btibsJf cv ] n ttonjunkrfclfm with it, and MSM1 ill

PflJwd with nancenfihji - inie; jrnm ciiltcr riimdy on fttdlnfitly, by an nicaris whvifooytir

&om

i r j Selling rtn^ovmg, difttpdiQfi, .iltctuUng, HiiusfemriJi jnrigjrifag
meum keying,w timUBfly dealing *jih at Jtupasing ninny aiwu of CIM

Bsyvtcw Creek Inc as described In Schedule"A” hereto

innlr-jctmiJ, raqiKittid^ k;t- uib: ’̂l -ijLIJJ , ikmunding , QT CiJKiLiLUiUEiEJ any tirhci

person iu Jo so; and

m r- JCII i tn l i LI amuJrny; in. idinL- nhattiog uir participating in qny acta I he

effect of which n to do so

(ill
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5. THIS COURT ORDERS LIJUL the pn^uhtbCn oui above in ptu^japh 4 *LppUa ia CJM

lm “ : iLL^ jini] i.ruiLip Inc C'C’M f uojpHi. CJM faty-view Creek Inc . Jfayvifvr t .' jed [CLM i

XJ?h CIM Mackenzie Creak LIIL amt CIM Mackenzie Creek JJ* ajseu, whethw In the

DefDBtama3 flwt[ (tHticj:oniDt,iiniJ ^haihti wtdy otjerfatiy CTWHHJR mchidipfi hnr run i: mtad

IP

H LUL^ himi . fnirfifttmat n mEtc : ULjcoiint et itny hank linandtl nr rihci

inwitmiott:
' i L : -ii K' »uiwr i L r:. iraSIcr nu ike i v =hIcte mjjit rreri iu the Dcfcwhatfe

Cffl any anl property m winch thr UojSjndnflis hate nn.y imaae*, inrlydjni] ihe

real property,

(iv f ;ui> i :id uJL oLiit - perw t paperly or cuiy destnption whaqaKvrr ; :ifld

\ l Miy jnii all share certificates, ne^habit iiHtranwtff jrvd the tike.

G. THIS COT.JRT ORDERS that CIM intem.nl mu I CJrtmp Im. i CIM Grajp"). CIM B&yvitw

l / raek ^ , fUyvn-u Cjflfck (CIM) t̂ P. CIM MfldttUlZiC Crcrit tu.: .ind CIM Mackenzie Creak
l _ EJ iLiall I'rtfjhwitti rtetivn u OOLHUSEI fbi die rtaiiMftTji sworn iMdcnfie ot the nirtiue a:. . I

LncaLton Lni a|j iticir rati, wfaenaowct located. including as.-eii. he’d m ( heir hcimlr" ur |ft

Lruai tnr them, q^d5 held JGIfitlj \SiLt: Stime Other pm 4SM[% itt ^ FILCIJ EiJUy fadjari -. IBtJCtHl

.ind assets ibjLt they hold in trail hjr nny party

' Tilts COURT ORDERS that a Receiver vbu.ll LK appointed puanadl ia net Lit* i " nf flit

" IA mtd jn ihc torra after hg.1 hereto' as Stb-. -ank- "H '“
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R 1 ] iT.S COURT ORDERS tljut of thft m: i ionh up hi mul JULILUJULK ej]Sr > and styvlc dJ

J J i i i i 1 i J , -.nilt her rr1Cr '- c:1 pmding |ULlp_riLEik5 u: Mir jnnmedinz O! fijltbcr Ufiifif £if tlici . IUII

' > I EtlK COUK TORDERS ilitri matta intfucLLux ..L'UiiidcruiiQn of IHIL Order he irtunicihiefli ] i]

. MI on Scpicmt* Z02J i „ befnttthi-̂ i\inert

3 (?. I UJrS '1 H H T < JRnHUfi , L.LL- S nutiDjUtstiituliiin rule J9 OJ, ihn i inJrr i:fffecTivi fnErrr the djre

it iiit^ned .ind iiiufutttihre without uny iteed tor esirjy zt-A filing

ENTERED AT t IN5CBFT ^ TOflOUTO
C+J t BOOK U0:
LE /MNS LE REGisrmE NO,: II

SEP i D im
P^ul ikhahia l

o-PER /RAR:
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SCHEDULE “ A”

Court Flic No. CV -ZO -MWiC7 J &6 -UU-Jt'

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

D ETWr. EN;

(court\cui)

TRAC V IH I am) JOJO l!LI ( Pmonalli' and Ucprtstn[in* rln- ipieretN nf The
Fnforccmem Comnittn of tilt- Debenture Holders i

PlumtifW

-U iJ

CIM rm UILNALWAJLCSpt^ INC^ BAVVrElft CRI .I S i C I M i U\ C I M RAWIE^CREEK INCH ,ML WINFENG JERRY ET VO], 7T)ANC Dl VN YUAN,DAN
EUOCO,ROBERT PARI:N' , MI HIM SBAFIKI,ciM MACKENZIECREEKJNC.CIVI

MACKENZIE CREEK LP.GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC, and AMANDA ZTTAO

Defendant:

CERTIFICATE OF PENDING LITIGATION

I CERTIFY tli.tr ici thu proceeding An imorcst La die following land ij iq qufijlipqi

Property [\^niiriLv Number '")? iStrj-l7f7 [ j .
"j j

FT FT CON 7% ( M.KM ) * PTS I * J* PL G5RjHj$U . S/T EASEMENT QVEtt PART 2,
G5RUZ7D AS IN RSlQTQtl

E'Fll^ csrtifisfllc :t I.:nund u]ittr 311 ardei' nflhlC UdUJl ramie tm September . 2020,

Issued by[.late P I S " >1 9 1 - a - - - - - i f i - - r i r r i T i a a i, P f B.S I * h r! i j i 1 -i na +

I nL-iit ri-TIltttiu

Address rif
court alike * **+ ++ * + + - P + P P a f a h»P+ p i * I f1I

i- m a a k aa «k• B+k I - I a li.i.
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TAB LL



EXHIBIT "LL"

SCHEDULE*B"

CuiL.-tm xp ci- litfootoiMtenm

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

J
) FRIDAY I IH i ATI I DAY OF

THE nOTVOURARt.E
tUimCE S< FI \ J [ A I'. .1

SEITTMI1FR 2020
)

[H: J W t i N:

JRACV HUE and JOJO III I iPrrinruiU.V ntJirJ Ri' pprrjcnTinE ihe inFcrciU ufTllt
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)

IV ^ intiifsu Mnvtng Fault*
nod

MM INTERNATIONAL GROl I1 ] NC„ KAYVIEWCREEK (t IMj I . r, flM RAY VIEW
CREEK USr , JtMJEN F - hMO i *.h_n. JERKt FENG), ZHANG WAN VE AN , I t \ N

HJOCO- ROBERTPARENT, MEH1H SEIARFl , CJMM \ t KLNZHCREEK INt . CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK L r OKAY ETAS SGCURI J IES JM: wd AMANDA /JUO

I kfendoittS ItatpeijuluEg Ruticr.

ORDER

(A|j{)ointinc Investigative Receiver)

THIS MOTION '[iii'je =- [ putt* b>' the PEnmtifik I'm on '. 'hdei punsuuttF i -.' JCCIJOCL hll DF

’ll* (\*;P tj v/ haUc- f Ad . SLS O HHH) c asqmrmlu! 11 ' i V'l appointing rtlha'i Qdmaji

Inn. L 'AOn :is Invongmive tcceiver ::hc r R L = vtj- ij£ [jcopcfly of CM Jhlntnibuntil
i rTtiup Ii-kt . i TM 11iyvIOW t :n:ck Inc , Bay view Credit (CIM j i ,P, Cl M Mackmizje Creek Tat rind
CIV] Stfadtonzie Cr«(t LP nri the ictma wi ou] bclrtv, heard this . - EH ;. v TdenmlttcaB in

TtNOfilo, Ontario
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ON READlNO \hz Affidavit <jf
" Jim i ^viirr Sejnrrrih r E2. 2D2A uid (be tihihiti

qqijfiXCfl TlicncHx find on hearing the Hubmistlonj of ermine] Tor the Plaintiff mud on reading the
BGIl în! of t\Cr] lr UC( U Kc CtfI ViJ,

APHttNTMEN i

1- THIS COiniT OKDEK.S thar (litrautifii io ^ciioa ]fl|of the CJA, AQl it hereby appointed
Ir.vcEu^Eitivc $£Q0iua tviflfl anli .the pewra ^ws/ati bd, w Qf the pruperr, of TIM
IntelnntiwinJ tlrnoii IHCL, CtM Uuyuiew Ciedt Inc Bnyvic '̂ Creek (CtElj FT. ClM
M«k(ttnfc Crrek Jnc . and ' ’ TV - Mackenzie < [cei: LI' [foe "t rmpanuts ' i pmsrlLLu; juntiei

order rlf Ihe enun.

RECEIVER MOT IN POJWLSMON OK ASSETS

- li . ln COrmi DRDEKS|M iJit Cotapmtts EFIAII remain in ptHiosaian mf it= cirrrtnt and
i i"ire N&vts. JXLIJ iiiidtrliJanga .mil pfOperUm of every nnlnrc and kind ^ hnbjcvir

N i ]l|EtLivi' iy Iht "PiupQriyH nnd vvhcrrVCT sitij;irid Including proceed ingn ; l ctDot

1 PHIS COURT ORDERS ihnl. iir siihjrc! CU futiJlri ( hder oflhil Court, the t loillf;JJi: sr - sfalEj

Cfliuimte to carry on iti boaineps and uffmra consiitnii with as nbiigattGiB to cstno tnsfittns
and btEnficiojJK , tf any,

RECEIVF K SPDWEKS

A. THIS COURT ORDERS rimt litc Receiver he and u hereby crnptmvcjtijl uxj aurhoTtiKc, but
LLUL (iL'Iijjtiird, toaa juonce. wjihLmiitwiryy wjjy Hmilitifi tha gcTHttality cifilw EMBRum^ to do
uny n / ilw following whert itw Receive! eonssdeis tneneKary or r £e3 rnh(c:

{ n} To obtain till inform utiah HV] ic : LLL:L tn pajiei Jjc JIT. HI UL in ij.::LI JI faunm, bodi forest LIT

dnnmlie i for funher rinrily , (vrth > Y.i ±hir. end - niiniLlt oF Cuiadi .iod in all i^ iier

:urt3tlictiDrt!i| rcldlLni' la the buiiftcad; ^Tfntrs. nUida. mid nil ^ssd5 and propert -. of thf

Cocnpimir^ (ihc nMontindonn w i i:hmd limitftrin^ from (t) tha Compnrun md all of thair

281



* 3 '

L^ tiTKni nd fotmcr dirccton. officers, employees, agents. tuccuuitmjiu, shaichotdErs,

b*lrt - - irM! financial UmiUUicmn or brokeragM, nil officers at employees .:-lJch |- ., n ^Lsr

fiiuinfial institutions or hrirktcugn wlm [invu in ih<
_

InfanELoj] LLU I . orJ jlj Litber

I'L- I wnt riLlm :1 iheir i 115:1 uttiucu IT behalf wiTli ilie rttcejilrnn o: J*p] comiv! and li

nil inner individuals, rjmrj. coipoMtiuun. y.^vcLTUTrCnlHl boilies nr nccncicj. OL other

cdtiiLcj hiving noliot of this nrd«. HIV5 and «e<pi fci [he lhlulnLLfl tall ihi- foRgoing

ejdL befog it "Person, save ntni esorpt fnrihi-* Plumtif&jai enlace toumilrnnti*

agents, exports, iiudjkim, wnuntacito, menage:--., COHEIHI and rriLL h ruhci j -.-rajisi fuiiri

lime (P time QJIL| ;>n wWtvc muni 5, (Deluding on .1 icmporttry -iasu. ic ai> i.5 L vyftb [pu

exercise oftlie Reviver's powa1 .ind Julies trte !uHiii^ wiinimr limltarion those :ci;dn«cd!

by tJiia Order ;

> 1 td rtfjKui 3 i , m^-FRL w:ih ami dioim* w- i ]h nr.y nd 1 nil RciKmu. irErJuiJvi^ cnuiiii'i ror die

REgintUTi QS il’.c HwlvcrilciRs rtppuspttote on .ill matted rd-Ttniii lo LiieO mpinie'. and
nivciii^iLvr nxefvifcahip, oud lo dikirr mfnrmajjon. .tiilifetr in taeh rmT> n m

;"inf ;(nniiM|in as ihe Rffepfti deem 1 ndvittblfc

; to take any steps reasonably i M idcnEaJ 10 1 he excr rise of these power* ur the perfennante

CfJUty shllltOf}1 tiinlIL1Lih-irirn. mid

it!'i Lu rdnduei exanttoslinu pndef i .uli rd' ill the Uaferidunls and rhalt finMnenJ oditap
(MEivided proper notiiM as siipuiurtt under ibe Ruias nf Civil P/ vcediî t it provided to the
proposed party lu be examined ivhleh eKminaHKiiw ahull ftEso ierva i* examinations Tor
Lluttrocr]; in the within nt(inn
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(0 ULSLL in tuft oat when the receive* ijkr - turfi qainti rir itepsr it tM be ncJuawJy
nnhon/ed mid etnpott'Lrrvd !" do so vriEhoul inlerrcrcnLc tram any wilier pcnoi. including
thorx dtfbttd herein a:- ‘'fleaon"!

un v TO PROVIDE ACCLSS\yn co OILRA i ION TO TIH \XECEI\ ER

5^ THIS COURTORULKS liutt JLLI I'mDii;(|j& ilut toijit J 4 ^ pjb-pipjr^h sbcrvcX
InLlurilrijj hank ami iHrun-n.:' ul institutions. aim!I Indhwilh - .nviMtlw Eiĉ ej^TT oi Hit pic - i^ncc
wi Huy ItHuE Qtu( jun m .ULJI I’mdii'ipossession 01 : -zn tn? ' and ^htaJ c:i:j/ uniHL’dlnii: and
continued Bcctfii io ilic lti&OTiitkR3 to [he Receiver.

ti THIS COURT ORPERS that all J'etsona shill Tortliwlth edviec die Receiver of ibc tsasiontc
H ;1 any toots dcutumcnlii, jqxnntia, ti II^ls . contracts, tijtiers nrcouiniag iceotdi, _L-LLI ILLV

cithct papers, m.'ords, umJ InihnjuiUoii oT nify kind related to rhe famines* or afFstra of ihe
CornpajiiK, WIIIUMLI timuntian. any wmpuccr pnugrartu, compute upe* cunuputet diiki, or
other smm£i» ten ccamijtfnESny aUth infotniffTton (the Jufc^oLQu collecuvely die HRcemtljr j

in Uimj lLersonLs posses,? mo 01 control. nnd rdllll provide Ed die Receiver unJciiercd.10 nt> io
nniJ U!:-. or iwotmiitiR, compute loftnm: imJ i .hynnul Merlincj i-clann^ hcr .rco. indudin.’
without tunicing the generality or the rbjegoin#, the delivery by uugbpermit nf rill jussworili
r-i;i]nin.u to nata lln InformaLitm and Recur d; vhiett iTuy noE ye diittlnsed or pr >rldctl m
ilu Receive: Jtie to privilege naching to solmirtn-L' Iinut GCfflimmirmlkma nr due to triturnty
pruviBiam fHahilmtag such disclosure

7. THIS COURT ORDERS rhai if any Infimniuitui mtd Rdxvdi ETC Ain-red. m oflietwiK

amttained nr .1 computer nr other -nir .- irnruc jgmtEin of LniiimuuiQu iiNn-rngc:, whclitfj W:
independent ejvjcc provide; n - r oiherwiK;, nfJ Pert-nut. m pqjsuuon nr con'ral of nth
brfiifmnudn nnd Rcct*ds Mjuii Tc*tLSwitfi yjvt tmTctiersl statu ta iho Receiver for LIIC puipsn^
>1 aUywing ilie ftm'eivcr m (TCiTivr: mil fully copy til nJ the Imtimumor. .ind RcctLrda

Cdntained ili îein whei&cr by way uf printirt^ Uie lnfo::Eiiiiii ii npd Rererd.- onto [wiê i Ltr

mnkin^ . npics of enLapu'r; dial) . or ^ hi-jli::L| 1 irna^e or Jticii other EiiEnuif ' if retrceym^ and
ropyinj; the FNFONRILHEOJS IK the Receiver in JIS di^-iriEtit] rlirnir expedLenL uid iluill mn aiicr ,

erase or destroy any Information and Records withorn the pnor wurten coJir-etjt uf the
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5.

Horeivrr E- ;]!tJi&r , foi tltc jfditi PofBgiBpI^ all Pprtyjia ihall provide Lhu fLccdwei
wir!- ail Futh aHtstanet m scaring i 'Timedidr ae«5 j lu Nut IjtfutnmliKty imn Reran!* ts ;hc

Receiver nitty In Eta discretion require iitdwJing providing the Jtecetver vath any smi JL|| peccat

code^r ftotomtf namex ,md account mimbtru lhat may be required U> ydn accos to flic
Infrrmaltnn jnit Reznnis.

NO I’HOCl Et)lNG$JVCAfNSl TUB ltECIdVEK

8 T7ilf K ' '". IR'[ ORDERS []u : MM procctfliiifl or ttnfttrc-omenr pnueesi :n any Court "i tithucid
dtall bt cotmncnc rd oi cammnti1 . LL-^ir* .! Ibe Receive rj(ce|]l wilti lln- wrjLECTI - LS - M tfujofltie

Rnedvaroi with leave this Court

i n n . HUN CJN NIL RECEIVIHICS LIABILITY

9- ITT3S OOUB ]" ORDFRS L.MH ibt- Reociver ntmli ianff m> liability orabLkJihm jr; •remit nT
in appointment nr the -i urryi riij nut of the provision* of ihrr Order save anri mteepr fgi any

JUBSinntlllfctnre or V- iJifUL tnUdiXndudt nn iUr ;!.n i

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNT

|fl I H[S ft H JET OKI5JERS hut ibe j'Jalntiff utinll ff rcspoiiisbie ror tins E .,-.51N of itie Rwci '-xr
C«l± xn6 jL . CNQUMVJ. BCCLUUIL.. i*ilhuuL prejudice L(J ihc FlflfrltJiff mJailg tc ILIV-: H;J] mvs
pmd by UHT [ jjnj: jine& amlAii h > aiiv .tridArj- idi oTtlie Defoitdwu ia flic event u: ^ jntim is

"blamed agsiKut enj :ictd ' cr i[|of them ui subject to jny Snifter ( JTDE; ofihe cottft Fha
rjjLnflfT shall bp responsible to pay I ho LlLribUTiemcnL cmSj ol flic ^cfcnflanls OJI ^ LUP from

lliEircLTrnfiliiTiK v iln, thif Order provided [doc (i,l flic litihiiTvcjncni ranli would nm arduiucilv

be EcquitcJ he pjjd by tbe Orfendlilb' iindet dir Rltfsul L. Vt\ !3Ti:iLvdijne und ( ti) (hat the
i^lcndunti advmc ihe PUtntLfh nbrau^h [l*nr CPLUBCI of the P&lEniiilcii tad of L|K

dlibufinniHil prmr K » kntjijniii^ it.
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SERVICE AND NOTICE

II . TUIS COURT ORDERS (JJJL tlie clrctrmiic ..ecvrt* - hqil be valid mrl rffeciiH' Hrrv&e
Suhjc^r In Rule l tk rEiis OL'dcL STL = . J cunjui lit? .NI order fijr iLibutEiuTcil service pursuant li>
Rule tho ftwliej of Civil Proeetitirz

GENERAL

\2. UllS EOUHH ORDERS lhat ih-c Rjetdvtit fiti> form [uiir :u rime .-! f < . L(LIH- 1 '-.‘USL mr
ailvrtc g.ntl djiL ^iujcLi ill IJLL: diSfihHra* of Eb pffWH Mill .luncst liercimdri

] j ! ITIS COI :RT ORDERS t!mi ciUn ; 3 he r. -.'LcivLr ot llw rEtfiiiLLff may apply LO :iiL’ r '..-.U t foi

-- I J i fiCT EW rrUcLiirmp die i n v g o] i w JCCU ernJii|J

M THIS dOURl ORDERS 11 ULI I iLunmiJii- biTd LntfcytffJ LLP be 2rlJ me hereby utltfcflriicd TO nc.1
V « unatil iiJi the RftEivtrin urdrr in implemL'n: the RccciyK^powci! herein

I % TFIIS COURT( IRtJEHiS itifii ncirEitEifj ETI J ! H - Order shrill prevent iii -= RftfceivcT from udms ns
ii iru ] i rt bintmprt - i h C;i m|UJ LI es .

Iti TTIrS CCHJKI HbEtfiaY REQUESTS riic n:d nnt! recn^niriQfi erf tiny coun , ttrbunt,
rcjiul^ocv ol jc!minL'jIruMve boefy having JimidlCtinh m L'amcfB Ki £1*1! eifetil 1. ' ^ELA Older
und Ut asiitr the ttiKjeivei nr,d its Qgeiuj in carryii:;* out iht icnm uf Lfris Oidci All comets

Lr J 11 u wh i c^i i liLtuiy .md ^LILC]]|I jujaiti« Liu il [es .ux!icrctty m npL^ltully requested m m ; l.. n ir11
,?|J(!I . jhnd Ifl prnvWe iBdt L1 >^i 16 iLiv RaDdverH . (!nftker rii' Court. 3-j Nix- bs
RettBur) ->r deiuubk to give cfleer To tin r- Order HJT to u & nEii the lijareiixi imJ ;( j aganii m

Lurrying mil ik1 tCfLTS liu:. Opfet.

! Ti:TS f Ot ' nil 1 ORDERS haT ilk- Receiver be n the liberty .md hcreiy aulharj^ciJ .md
asipewered ID tpply to any coL:rr . LRIHUIAJ, r^ntnmry o: oinhiiSlniUve body .'- IILTCVL - -
iotaifld, L.I : dm LL’Li.iycjjinTi uf tEus i >rdf !' :md for a^Lfitance tn carrying\ ui ikr inms of iiiiJi
Qnter, nod litai the Receiver a luthuri d̂ ami empowemf Lu ui an repiesetiiinive in rnpcci
of Ibi wnTnd proctfdJUiji for the purp^ic cf having these pjatccdLrifla cteoiiriized i:t a

lwi*tbt uuttidt? Cjirntda
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! K T I M L I I Qt l\ l £JR_Ohk.S ILIIL iiosi.1! of iJ'iii motion, up ILI . LP : . I Inducting criiiy jrd v'c - ill
rfii !i i - ii .111 tic r :1 . | p:n:ling 111.1’- i : i : i \ i : ji.'^ncd i r : L OL i UFIftei ( >fiii r . : 11 u- i '

i .1 ;

[ *J . TFItS COURT OKOl.- .RS itiaLiUiy in&iatal party r.my apply m this Cafifft (o vary jmcnd

iJ]] - i : Jldci iHt LH' ! FEES lluin ^nipT’d i | ttayi;" nLiriL
_
c to tJjC ftfccetVfnf uriil :n- .- i n nEliST party j ij, L1 V

tiy iJ]e o rdcr apj'j^h [ L>r upon uudiaihc: nodcc, LfsiiyH JI EIELK Court ruiij ujdci

2ft THIS COURT ORUiilOs thm nctfwlihttanding iTj.rapm.ph 1^ , tim mur/tr mcJudlny
csaeitlEiHiian of tkisOndcr shall be iciuniabted 4k IT:, op September 1015 htTqrt thta
GOUT*

rfATORONTOEI^REtJW' i
Q* I SCOH Hf
L£ I DAMS LE^I :T-.1

. . I
J
" -

Paul Sdtnba? J.

NOi

SEPYB TOM

PER /
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TAB MM



Endorsement – September 18, 2020  

Tracy Hui et al. v. CIM international Group et al.,  CV-20-00647366 

Jonathan Barr, for the plaintiffs 

This motion for a Certificate of Pending Litigation, a Mareva injunction and the appointment of a 

Investigative Receiver, came before me by conference call this morning.  

Mr Barr advised of recent developments arising from his contacts with the real estate agent and the 

lawyer for the defendants on the proposed sale of the Bayview property on September 17, 2020, 

including his notice to them of this motion, and specifically to the defendant Jerry Feng last night that 

this motion would be proceeding this morning and to provide contact information if he wished to 

participate.  Mr Barr provided me with a chain of emails that were exchanged on September 17 

documenting these contacts.  

I am satisfied that interim orders should be made granting the relief sought by the plaintiffs, and have 

signed the orders which are effective immediately.   

This matter shall be adjourned for further consideration by me to Monday September 28, 2020 at 10AM.  

Subject to any requests for an in-person hearing, the matter shall be heard by Zoom technology, and the 

coordinates for the hearing shall be provided by the Court in advance of the hearing.  Should the 

defendants not have filed an appearance or response, the plaintiffs shall be responsible for advising the 

defendants of the Zoom coordinates for the return of the motion. 

 

 

Paul Schabas J.  

EXHIBIT "MM"
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EXHIBIT "NN"

Riff So. CV-20 000647366 OOOC

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

B F T W E R N

(court sea!)

HtACli innud JOJO III i (PenwiBlty mid Rqimw ting the Intonstx of Tie
Enforcement ( tinuuiKtr of llic Dchrnitirr Holders j

Platatilfc
DILI)

C1M INTERNATIONAL GROUP INC, BAWItW CREEK (CIM)|_r, CIM BAYVTEW
CREEK 1NC.H JILUIN I FNG (a, k.n. JERRV PENCh ZHANG DIAN YUAN, DAN

1 VOCO, ROBERT|- V l t F N T M E H l I E SHAFTRI, fTTM MACKENZIE CREEK IN ( , 1\\\
MACKENZIE CREEK LI*. GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC and AMANDA ZHAO

Htefcndiinti

CERTIFICATE OJ PENDING LITIGATION

i CERT \\-\ that in CJL^± pnaoeedini; an mimesf m m . following limd is in question:

Property Identifier Nunttar 0 : : N < i -47^7 lT\

PT LT 25, COW 1» (MKM) , FTS t h 2, PL G5R31fiBD. S/T EASEMENT!OVER PART 2
frSEtm AS IN RS107M

i ms Ciii [ ific&'L' is tSAsd under in orderof the L-OUII made Lin SL'picmĥ ’j ^ . 2020,

Date I stool by , ,

Address of 5UFBWR COUFT7
vUllrt office OfJiSlJUE

3ffl UNIVERSIIY AVE
?TH FLClOh
TORONTO, OtfTAftC IW

'

OifiO ONTARIOww 1 T*7

COlifl "BAJFETCEIJFTE
0£JUSTICEL a a a a a. a. Jiiiiijia

. UNIVERSITY* M*
'

MSQiFTT
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TAB OO



EXHIBIT "OO"

Court I -'JIC NO . . C\ -20-<]flM736f:-DLH)0

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT cir JUSTICE

B E T w E E N

TLtfV JfL l aud.lOJO IM I ( PtrsmmlK and Rpprrst'Mlng rhe InTeresK fit1
l iiiifr^n tiu rit C tmimltfi1!' of ( he Debenture Holders)

PLimliffe
iltld

Cm INTERNA?TONAL GROUP INC., DAYVIEW CREEK (CIM ) LP, CIM BAV \ 1 EW
CREEK INC, JTU1HN FENG lii .kJl , TERM FENG), ZHANG THAN YUAN, DAN

FUOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHUT SlIAKtEI, CfM MACKENZIE CREEK INC., CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK U\ GRAVJT VS SECURITIES INC- ami AMANDA ZHAO

Defendants
t \ PARTE N OTICE OF' MOTION

The PUmtlfft will mnkc a Motion to a Judge on a date to he set hy itae Court JII ^3tl *,m nr os
:;:.->nn after Ihnl tame oJtlic Motion can be heard. at the couillKiuse. 3'Cl University Avenue.Turin itu .
Ontario M5i i I if 6

PROPOSED ME THOD OF HEARING: '11ir Mutann j.'i ! i.i be lir. ird tebnort upprvpr .rrrojnfTcuJ

in writing under mhrule 3 7|2 l < !) because u rioi afv*i ^dwnmj. unopptneii m‘ mad? wufaiut

nonce;.
in writing ns an opposed uuiLinu wider nubruk- M 11.1 141.

X orally on .in uryeni basis

I . ThK Molloti Is Fnr
i Hi Ata order grantinf die Pirn miffs leave to have issued and registered o certificate of

pending litigation in the within aetinn. for registration against t i t l e to die lands and

premises legally and nranicipalty described in Schedule "A atudjed bereio juiiammt
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to section 103 of the (,'rtuns oj Justice Ait, R S O, 1990, c C 43 und Rule 4^ of ilic
ftuh* ofCivil Pntcethirv, R.R.O. 1990, Reg 194

lb ) An interim and permanent injunction prrventing die Hide ! thr teal property as

described m Schedule HA” hereto:

id An inrt-nm order preventing DM hitemliltcinnl Group Inc (k,CIM Cjroup"K CTM
Uny-L icu ( ’reek. Ine and CIM Mackenzie Ovek Inc., ilinr *crvanisT employees,agcati,

assigns, officers,dim ton. aml/nrany me else on itibehalf or :n conjunction with
it , and any and all per\iin» with notice or this order, from either directly ot indijcctly.

hy any tneam whatsoever tram:

0) Selling, removing, dissipating, uHemittnjt, tnmsfcrnnii, outgoing,
cncunibctuig. or stmflufly dealing with or disposing of any u.yek or"DM

Hay-view Creek Ine :r:; described in Schedule “ A" hereto'

ini instructing , requesting , counselling- ikmaiidinjL w encouragingany nihcr

perscin to do sn; and
f.iii ' Facilitating. assisting m, aiding, abetting, or participating m any act* Uic

cfFctl of wtlldl 15 lo do so

(dl An order appointing an invatigiliyc receiver over the ptojierty ami assets of CLM

Group, CIM Bayview Creek Ine . RnyvieW Creek (CIMI U\ CIM Mackenzie Creek

Inc . und CIM Mackenzie C reek LP in the form attached nu Schedule “ B' hereto

Jh The Grounds l or this Motion Arc:

(ai The Plainriffs have a strongpnnui fticie- ease against The Defendants.
t'b ) l he Plaintiffs ar^ both holders of debentures named hy CIM Interiwlinri4l tin-up Join

I iui is the Chairperson of the Enforcement CarranitLcc of the Dclrohure holders which
rrprnieni5 over sixty-six and two-third* pemeni ( tq? 7 3%l of the Jliree-Ycai I'erru

S«:urtd Redeemable Dcbcttttffic Cenificatts ( like "DeberUinca") issued by CIM
Internaltonal Group Inc fflMGroups

(c ) The debentures were muted .Li being Three-Year I'erru Secured Redeemable
Debentures 1 the "Debenturê 1’ \ iL ,;ucd hy [’EM Group, which wmilil bear interest at the

talc of 13.5% per annum payable somi-tomtally on June 15 jnd December 15 of c;ch
yeai
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|d) Tlw purpose of the Debentures, os it was explained to die Plalntiffa. was to fund CIM
Group's Bayvicw Creel Project

in The I'lntntdls in ugrctung, to purchase the Debenture/., relied on Hie representobans
jiudc by Jtuhm Fens ("Feng'T GEOul’GJM Group uiidannihvi DITCCUJI U \ t 'lM Group.

Robert Parent as well as Ajtwudn Zhuo ("Zhao") of Gravitas Securities lnu .

rCjravitJii"!!
111 The representations made by Frng and Zhao indicated ihm the $111,000,UOU .HO raised

bv CTM Group m selling I be rJcbcntnrcs would be used 10 provide a loan to Bav. iew

Greek f.CEM ) 1J* to finance die Bayview Greek real estate projecr healed at 1074?

ftayview Avenue . Richmond Hilt, Ontario dhe "Hayvlcw Property1*). The Bayview

Creek teal e&LUe project was also lidjre undertaken by CIM controlled entitles and

directors and officers. 1he 5 ] 0,000.000 from tire debenture holdcrt would go to CTM

Group 1m who would then provide a $10,000,000 loan TO Bayview t ' reek (CIM W.
which Joan would bear interest at a rale of 20% per annum payable -cmi-anmuJIy for

.1 term of 3 yean . CTM Group would, Lhei caftnr, uotlcct its 20'! ii mtotc.sl fri.un Buy view

Cieek (CIM ) J IJ or Hoyview Creek Inc and then pay the debenmre holders I heir lj.5%

interest payable under Ui = dL-hctiitire
(;: i FLLiihrr , tbr rcjircscni.idons made by Feng and Zhao Indicated that al Uie end . of thu-

three-year term, Bayview' Citxk (ClM l I 1' would repay the $10,000,000 loan back to

CTM Group, who in rum would puy hack the debenture holder* their SIO.dOQTHX)

F urtlnrrmore, Feng and ZUoo represented thru ihE loan Was to br .,ccuredby .imnrlj'agc

in favour of the debenlurc luildcis should (here be a default The Pljiniiffs were also

informed that Bayne Creek (CLM ) LIJ would agree not to permit any di '.posituni of
any iuteted in ilic Bayview Creek Fruperiy before die Foau was fully repaid

( hi In addition tu the .ictunl intercM in tbc Bayview I'loperty ihat wn« premised, Fen,e and

Zhuo also represented that furihn security for the debentures would be m the shares

thut CIM tmmp htid in another real cstalc project known as C1M Markenzu? Creek

LI1, tu a form of backup security The Mackenzie Creek prelect was further alunjt than

the Bayview Creek project m tlmt Mackenzie Cr«k had already sold all unit*and was
into the corumjction phase already Therefore. .1 was represented that in the even! iJuu

293



4

there were any delay* wnli rhe Bayvtcw Creek project , the debenture holder* would
dill yet paid from piucoed>i (if the Mackenzie Creek project.

U ) Fuilhci , the I'lninlifls also relied im lisf marketing materia! provided by die Issuer
including but run limited to CIM Group's ClimtiJoitial Iniarmutimi Memorandum

dated January 2111 H , which implied ihnt the Debenture* would he secured as agsitntihe
r.iAeta of CUM Mackenzie Creek Inc and the Buyvicw Property

(j) In jilriimn to the nral representations made by Feng and Zhao ihe debenture borders

werealso provided with certain debenture marketing material . Their.nrkctuiu uuiteriaLs

provided by Feng and 7 h.nn tnHtoaird ih:ir Ihe Debentures would be secured asag,nmsi

the jspet:; of CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc and the Rayvjcw Ptuprrty

lit) lltc Et|ircstiiluium> as ton Untied in llic marketing material, and specifically I hr Term

Sheet winch fanned part of the GM Confidential fiitOEtnaitoiL Memormaduni and the

Subscript!nn Agreemem fufthl- E provide* that

a ) Use of Proceeds: The net proceeds of thin Offering will he used by die Corporation as
a loan fthe"Loan i ID Bayview Geek (CIM) LF (the "Bayviirw Creek LP" TO finance
the Bay, icwt reek renl estate profoct locatcd .it 1114 “ B,iyview Avenue, Richmond Hill,
Dmitrio (the "'Pi operty i The term of the 1 oun will be approximately three [3' years
jud the LULIU will bear iTitereii til u rate of 20.0% per annum payable scmi-anniifiUy .

The Loan will be secured by a covenant to provide n mortgage on the Property to secure
the Loon in die event of a default of tlir Loan or on event of default under any mortgage
on title to the Property Bayview Cicek Lp will ut:ui covenant wuh the Corporation not
in do any of the fallowing WUJWUT Hie written consent of the t 'orptjraiinn in it -1; f,file and
absolute cjjierelton .

( i i Permit any disposition of any interest m the Rayvicu Creek LJ\
hi ) Consolidate, amiJgpniato ur merge with any other person , enter into any

rcoigani/iUlon or othertransP'. non intended to tffcci or otherwise permit a

clumge tn the Bayview Creek LP’s existing struclurcr. liquidate , wind-up nr

dissolve itself n.r pennit rhe r.arru:.

( i n i Make any distribution to the limited partners of Ray view Creek LP,

including the payment of management ires, until the loan is paid .

( re ) Withdraw or permit 1lie wiIhdrswa l of any equity from thedevelopment n f
tlie Property until tlic ban hoi been repaid, and

( v ; Further encumber the property
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III At some point between January mil FebnntFy 201S. Zhno and/or f'rng represented tiiui

they were nr5; ,tblr lo .̂ dd another mortgage diuige u» the Rnyvicw Properly because

ilie mortgagee holding ihc I'ITHI rnmtgngc, Ducti Financial Services. L't^Jjl Union Lid .

[“ Diica"h would not allow It. In order to address tliis problem,CIM Group, I -'CLII! and
7hao advLscd that they would include T5X Trust Company at regulators to ensure that

ini finuil or defaults occur viih tcjqxct to ihc drhetttuto H WJA nl/to explained that

TSX Trust Company would be Envoi VL-d to proieet Ihr debenture holders ami would

monitor everything in relation to the debentures
i m' Ocipn- the alleged mobility to register a charge on the Bayview Property , the [* i muffs

were informed that flu* property still formed therr main soujtc of collateral

Ini flic Plaintiffs relied on die icptcseututiirtu, made by Fcag and Zbno antJ I A Ctrniaincil
m Ihe Term Sheet in purchasing the debentures issued by ITM Group

(of In accordance tviih the debenture ^ertifitiUes provided to the Plaintiffs upon acquiring

sin- dehemures, and as noted at paragraph ( c) above, the fitsi mterrjt payment With

rn-'-ptei to The tlchcnlure.v hccnmcduc and payable on December ] r. 2019

ip i t .'fVI Group I IJLS fiulnd in mnkr my payments .Mih respect to rhe debentures

(q> CiM breached the Debenture agreement m failing In pay the micro*!payment due to

I he holders of liic ikbra kites on ur abrtrl December 15. 2014 ("Event of DafauJf } and

failing to mate the Accelerated Pay nifiiL after being properly nidified.of all principal

a ltd intefcM on all outiUuidtng dubentutea dm- anil payable [belliwill i upon the llbovc
noted Event of Default The LLininjc^ ri cEnun i - still bring 11 u. i uti fieJ but it will be fur at

Icavt $|Q,OQOTUOO.OD plus the intercut payment!iliai would he due to the debenture

holders purkujltt to thr Debenture Agreement

111 The Plaintiffs have made several attempts to contact the Issuer and the Trustee, TSX
Tnist Company, to ascertain whelhet or when payments would be made but have

received no pnsirivc response regarding this .

( vj NiH only have no payment.! been rruulc wuh fexpect lo ihc imerest paymenis due hut

CIM Group hits been delisted as a public company anil iL . I ' l .iintiiTs widenland that

the iLSMsti of CIM Mackenzie Creek JILC. have been sold and that the Class A shares

held rn CIM Maeketuttc Creek Inc are ctsum 11 ally worthless
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(U Them is II ctul rsKt IK;L: die aucUt ownod by the Defendunis, specifically the Bayview
Pmpnrty may he .sold before judgment likely to nvmij paymcnl io due Plaintiffs The
Mt .Sw N4S7 I ^ 01 mdicaLca that the property is currently up far sale

( ill The PEaintiJb understand ittui the Bavview Property LH. now in ihe midst of ,r puteniial
power of sale by the mortgagee and n ^cheduLed to he told on or about September 17,
2020 .

|v ) The Ray-s1tew Property n owned by CiM Bayview Creek Inc Jerry Kcaa IS a Director

of CIM Bayvtew Creek tnc., and was at all material l imes a Director and tlir CEO of
CTM Group. Additionally, Jerry Fenp was at all material times a Director of CIM

Mackenzie Creek Inc As such. CIM Group CIM Bayvicw Creek Inc. , and CIM
Vlrvkntaic Creek Inc shared (he «mc directing mind and werecnnirolled hy the same
person nr all material limes

( w) Cntuasel for The Plaimiff:; aitenspied rn call CIM Group urtiJ fax ctircipnndenrc to CIM
Group mi Septrmki 2. 2020 , kith ity phone number and fax number were tin Irngcr

in set VILE

(x ) Bryan Gelman of Albert Gelman Inc, the proposed Receiver, visited CIM Gn.iuff s
nI rice location The doors were locked and a notice of tcrrmnatinn by the land!iml wax
posted on Ihe entrance

( v J The Plaintiffs state Hut a disposition of the Bnyviow Property 15 in bread i of the terms

of the provisions of I lie Term Sheer , which makes up purr of the Subscription

Agreement, as the loan has noi been repaid and the property is about tn be Mild. A_<

such The PLuimiffs are seeking an ill j; r <-- nL LL-= liflCtite o 1'peridinsj Ittigiilirm uni; I injunction
1o prohibit the sale and permit the adjudication of this matter prior to any dtspowtum
of aSistlA

(zj There is a serious issue to be tried coneermni; Lhc inieipretotJon oi iltc debenture

docuracntntion, and the recovery ol the PbunLfiV fond ill of the holdcn of debentures’ )

initinl principal amounts paid with respect to ae ^uirmg ihe Debentures and the interest

currently owing thereon.

( ml The PlainiilT* state thui should ihe Ruyviow Property be sold prior to Ihe determination

of the proceeding herein they will suffer irreparable harm n* lliete will likely be
mnifikirmi asset* against which ihey may enforce judgment
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( bb ) Sections K) ( ami 103 of the Coum of Justice Act. R .SO. 1990, c L '

. 43 ,

(cc) Rules 1.03* 2,01, 14, 37.07(2), 40* 41,02, 42-01 ouii of rhe Pules qf Civil Procedure,
KRO IWRtg I 'M

|Ljil I .Such fisrlhcj urn I ijihe) Hounds .15 counsel uu1, advise and ibis llonotabEc Loan Jinn

permit

The f'ldJanitij; 3 Ji»CLEEHCRI[:ii'y Evltkiua nill be used at thv litaring of this mntkiu:3.

(a) The Nonce of Action isGued on September 11.2020;

(b) The .Affidavit of Jtyo Hui . with exhibits winched, swum . "ti September 12. 2020.
Id The Umki taking ut Juju I lui C \ C^UICLI <;d September [ 2 , 2020,

ibl Such fcmhci' and other evidence us cnun.se! tuny advise and Uns 1 tiirwiimble I . CHJII may

permit

HI MMlM.tilKIt LAWYERS LLP
Suite 1401
80 Bloor Street West
I'aitinTo, Omano
M5S 2VI

Bale: September 14, 2020

Jonathan J Batr ( LSO# 521SIS)
Amin Dettfl.50# Mi39IT)

Telephone:1905) 731*1911
Pax: CTOS) 731-1913

I awyers tor the MovingParries Plaintiffs
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SCHEDULE “ A”

Property Identifier Number: 03186-4757 (LT)

PT LT 25, CON 2, (MKM) , PTS 1 & 2, PL 65R31680. S/T EASEMENT OVER PART 2,
65R13270 AS IN R510790
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SCHEDULE “ IT
Court Fite\‘o C f f-2(U00064?366-M06

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT Ot JUM ICE

li E T W £ l-
; IS

TRACT Ifl'l arid JOJO HUT ( Pcr\otiatl> mid Representing ihr inlcrctft orThe
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Hidden )

Plaint i If 3

Jit id

CIM INTERNA TIONAL GROUP 1NC„BAYMEW CREEK (CTM) LP. CTM BAYVTEM
CREEK INC , JHJUIN I ENG ( n .k.a. JLHHA i I NG ), /HANG MAN YUAN, DAN

IUOCO. ROBERT PARENT. ME11Dl SHAFIEL CIM MACKENZIE CHEEK INC,CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK LP, GRACH AS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZR \Q

I >rtcndanls K espondinfl Pane .

ORDER
IAppointing 1mostlyutivr Receiver)

PHIS .MOT ION mode by Ihc Plaintiffs for an Order pursuant to -ectum 101 al'ibc Courts

nj Justice A a R S O l 9‘M), c 43. as amended (the "CM’" i appointing Al beat Gutman Inc C .AGIT
as investigative reeeivcnrhe "Receiver") OVCT rhe property of CIM Internalional Group tile , CIM

Bayview Creek Inc r Bayvicw Cicek (C IM ) LP, CIM Mu.lciudfl Creek hie , and CIM Mackenzie

Creek LP. an the term* set oui below , wns heard ibis day at

Ontario ,

University Avenue, Toronto,

ON READING the AftidnVil of Jojo lTut sworn Scpî mb-ci 12 , 2021) and the cxtubiU

annexed thereto -ind on neorine the .submission ’. of cmmsel fur rlu- Pknutifl and on reading the

Ctinscn! of AGI to act os Receiver,
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APPOJNJ MEM

I . THIS COURT ORDERS tluri pursuant to section 101 of the C/A.AGf is hereby appointed

Investigative Receiver with only the |>oweri granted below of the property of CIM
International Group Inc . CIM Bayview Creek Inc... Bayvjew Creel iClM ) LP. CIM
Mackenwc Creek Inc . mid CIM Mm:ken/.:e Creek I ? (the "Cotnjwnic*") pcoding further

order of the court.

RECEIVER NUT LV POSSESSI OfS OF ASSETS

2. THIS COCK I ORDERS dial the Companies shnJI remain in possesion of iK current and

Fuluic assets, and undertaking* and propertfc* of every ratlin- and kind whatsoever
[ collectively thr “Property” J and wherever situated including proceedings tJurreof

i THIS COURT ORDERS that at subject to further Order of this Court, thr Compand -, shall
continue to carry on its bin;me*:, ami a I tain , consistent with il: oTLiu ^lum.-. to emufe creditor*
ar.d bcncficuiric5. if any

RECEIVER S POWERS

-i THIS COUR 1 ORDERS that thr Rmrivcf be nnd i* hereby empowered arid ninhun^cd , hn
not obheaied, io act at once, without in unv way limiting the generality of the foregoing, ut do

nn> of the following when:the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

( a ' lo lake oil step?, ticeessiir. to obtain all inftitinaium « bethel in paper formal or in digital

formal, both foreign or domestic ( for further cbniy, boih within and outside of Canada

and in all other jurisdiction*), relating in the burtnevi affaire, record*, »nd all awsc** nnd

property of the Torn panic? ( the ~lnfr>nnalionr>t, without limitation , from < i 1 the Companies

and all < i| thei: i- urrem im! fnrmei dlttetUrt , officers, employee*, agent*. accmmUmiy

sluuelujldcts, hanki. anJ financial nwliuiiiun.s of brokerage* all officer-, m employee#, of

300



11

:. ucJi batikfitwinffjal institutions 01 brokerages who hnvr JLXC*!I h> (he Infarraarmn . and

aJ| other person* acting on them ins-tnic lions or beiuit with tlit except ion of Ic^enured.
and nr ) all other individual fimu. corpora timis, governmental bodies or agencies, or

oilier cnl tlies having notice of lilts order, save jud except for the Pluiiitiiis tail the

fare£nin £ each JIL - IM i
l'P:r mu . snvr and .:l::cpt tor the FT.min rr

fbj lo engage consulrants, appraisers, Jgttiits. experts, auditors. accountant*, managers.

counsel and such otherr persons from time to Time anti on whatever basin, including oti a

lump LULU . basin. to assis : with the exercise of the Receiver powers mid duties including

without I im Italian those conferred by thu Order:

Id in reparr to, nice? with and discuss with any and «U Person* including counsel tor the

Plmutilfe. ax The Receiver deems a|i]irofirittLc i.in .ill mailers relating ro ihe Companies ami

investigative nxciverslnp, and to share information. mbjecl to such usmu a-j to

ci .iiiJidec. iuiirtv i'i lie Ftcci! IVLT deems advisable:

fd) (o take any steps reasonably incidental to the exertur of tSiesc power* ot liic performance

"['any nuiMinry nWIgniiane ; and

t
'el to conduct oxainiitahoiij. under oath ol nil the Defendants and their financial advisors,

provided propernotice ^ itipuluicd wider the finfcn of Owtl ProfeJurP. is provided in rhv

proposed pnrty to be examined which examinations - hall also serve jj examinations for

discovery in the within action.

CO and tn each case where ihc receiver idkei such action or steps,, Li shall l >r delusively

authorized and empowered to do HD without mterftrence from any other person including

those defined herein as "Penon”
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DUTY TO PROA IDE ACCESS AM) COOPERATION TO 1 HI. RECEIVER

5 THIS COURT ORDtiRi) dun all Pciscuis ( .mhnt larm n defined at sutv-paragniph 4{a) above),

including banks and nuuncml insiiruiionii. shall foiihwiih utlvisr the Receiver cifThe existence

of any Infarnman in nucli Person* I possession or control and ‘lull grant immeJislc nnd
continued access, to the Intormarinn to the Receiver-

[' [ IIS ( 1 Lrri T ORDERS rliiiiflU f 'erijum- slmli Ibrthw il uit '- ke the IS .. - . = ei of » hc aimtciice

of tiny boofci, document*, securing rru.st=., contracts, oedens. ceounung records, mid any
i »rhcr papers, records, and infomulnm of any kind related to the business or affairs of the
Compos lie *;, without limitation, any computer programs, eonipuk-r irtpes, computet dinks, or
other ’UOii^e dan containing ari> 'Uicli information (the for egoiuguollci:lively ( lie "Rjecordi T
in that Prison's possession oi control, and skull provide to the Receiver unfettered access to

and UiC of uccoimtiiiE, computer 'niftwart: .ud physical fadlikes reining herein, including

without limiting die generality nfThr foregoing, the delivery by such person* oratt puswurds
required ro access the Informanon and Records, which may not be disclosed ot provided to

the Receiver due tu privilege attaching in stiliuiitir-clietit cornmunirartons or dire To stamtory

provisions prohibiting such disclm- ure.

7 THIS COURT ORDERS that it tiny Infonuautui ami Record; arc stored oi otherwise
comuLEjed on a computer or other ck-drmuc system of inthnnaticin storage, whethei hy

independent service provider or oilKTwise, ail Prrsuns in possession m control r. f such
Informdice aud Rccurds dial!forthwith give unfettered accdis tu the Receivei for ihe purpose

oi allowing the Receiver to recover and fully copy all nf ihc Information and Records
contained therein whether by way of printing the Information and Reeoids onto paper nr
making copies of computra dink; or a bitmap image or itn:h other manner of retrieving and

copying (he Information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedienl, ami jhall ui.rt i.iltei.

erase or destroy any Infurriiatuin and Records without the puor written consent of flic

Rcccivei I Lurluti , for ilie purposes it ihts Paragraph, all P( ismu shad provide the Receiver
with all such assistance in gaining immediate access lo die Information and Records as the

Receiver may in its discretion require including providing the Receiver with am and all across
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cndrn, dcunml names and account numbers Hint may lie required to gain ecccsa to lilt:

InfLirrmitHiri ami Records.

NO PROCEEDINGS ACA INST 11 IV R[it KIVEK

THIS COURT OED RS rliAi no proceeding or enforcement process in any i 'mil or rribumd
shall he commenced ru continued x^ainst ibe Receiver ejtccji! with The written ronsent of the

Receiver or with leave of tins Court

8

LIMITATION ON mi RECEIVER'S! LABILITY

9, THIS COURT ORDERS that ihc Rectivet strati incur no lixUiliry or obligalmn JO O remit uf ib

appnintmem ur ihc carrying out of ihc prowmoru of thi» Onler. uve end except for any ir.-nss

tutyligctwe : ir lvdlfu! mlaecrnduel or: iti |im.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNT

10 I HIS COt iRT ORDERS that the Plaintiff shall hr nsporwiblc for the cn.sts of the Receiver

co&L-s and it}. coun5cl'b account., without piujudJce to the Plaintiff seeking to have such CUSL,

paid by die Companies und/or hy my and/or all uf the Dcfcndantx in ih<t event judgment is

afctinned -igstnst ans mid or at) of diem ur sublet to any further Order of the . ourt The

PUinLllT shall be responsible to puy the disbursement coats of ihc Defendant* timing I'lmtu

their compliance with thu Ordc: provided dul (T) Ihc duburecmcnl costn would not ordinmty

he required\o he paid by the Defendants under the Itt; lex of Civil Procedure and uiHhflt the
Pefirtuhrujr rtrlvisc the Plaintiff* through their emtntel oi the usluimted CM! o| the

disbursement pnbr to inclining n

SERVICE AND NOTICE

11 THIS COURT ORDlJiS that the elcctnuiK scarce shall be valid und effective service
Subject lo Rule 11 05 tins Order SIILIU constitute an order tar auhstitulcd service pursu.ini In

Rule 16 (14 of the Pula vf Ctvii Ptncedure
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GENERAL

1,1 TtUis COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from lime 10 time apply to [hi \ Cutm !m

advice arid dtreclumv m the dr-charge; itf it> powers and duties hercunrkt.

13 T*H 1S CO'tiRl ORDERS thm either lUe Receiver nt the Plaintiff tuny apply lo the Court I or

on Older termumiing the mvcstigolivc receivership

|4 TUTS COURT ORDERS that Hummingbird Lawyers ! LPbe and are hereby authorized to act

as counsel fur the Receiver in order in implement ihr Receiver's pnwen herein

I 5 . THIS COURT ORDERS ihnl nothing in this Order ihill prevent the Receive: from acting art

o trustee in bankruptcy of the Companies,

lb THIS COURT IICREBY BEQUESTS the aid and r«ogniiittn of :iny cutnt, tribunal ,

regulatory ur admtmsnalive IUK.1 V having jurisdiction in Canada to give effect to this Order
and Hi assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out die terms of thi * Order Ail courts,

tribunal^ , regulatory and (vdmtniatranvr bodies are hereby respectfully reoutisicd ro make JtucSi

onkn and to provide such asmtitmice ro the Receiver, an an officer of this Court. 15 may lie

ripcessary or desirable lo give effect to this Older m to nssim the Receiver md n ,*. agem* in

carrying out the terms of thin Ol der

P THIS COURT ORDERS ihm rhe Receiver he ni ihe liberty and is hereby authorized and

entpuweml in apply U> iny emm , tribunal. regulatory or admiiiiRinairve body wherever
located For Ihc recognition of ilUi Order ami for assonance in carrying out the icrms of this
Order , and ihut the Receiver tv authorized and empowered tu act as icpje&imUtive in reaped

at' the width! proceeding* Ibr ihe lurTpnsc of having these proceedings recognized in a

futisdicbon outside ( atiadj

IS. THIS COURT ORDERS ihut costs of this malian* up to and including entry md service of
this Order shall be reserved pendingjudgment m tins proceeding ar funher Order ni the Conn
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IS THIS COl 'R I ORDERS iW any umni^tei! jnuiiv may apply Tit this G>url in vary LM ameml
this Order on W <A Its than seven [ 7) di\ >;

T notice to the Receiver mul to cu^ oihei pan> likely
itTccicd by the oitjcr' soughl or upon such other notice,irany, as this Court nmy order
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EXHIBIT "PP"

Court File No.: CV-20-000647366-0000

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

)
) MONDAY THE 28TH DAY

THE HONOURABLE
JUSTICE SCHABAS

)
) OF SEPTEMBER, 2020
)

B E T W E E N:

HUI and JOJO HUI (Personally and Representing the interests of The
'•'^Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)<CUr<r$ O Plaintiffs / Moving Partiesra

LLlD OC/J
and&Y*>

$•Z ,*,

ATIONAL GROUP INC., BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP, CIM BAYVIEW
CREEK INC., JIUBIN FENG (a.k.a. JERRY FENG), ZHANG DIAN YUAN, DAN

FUOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHDI SHAFIE1, CIM MACKENZIE CREEK INC., CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK LP, GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZHAO

CIM I

Defendants / Responding Parties

ORDER

THIS MOTION, originally made ex parte by the Plaintiffs for an Order pursuant to

sections 101 and 103 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. 43, as amended (the “ CJA” ), to

(i) issue and register a Certificate of Pending Litigation, (ii) appoint a receiver and (iii) grant an

injunction against the Defendants, and adjourned until today, as well as this motion brought by the

defendant Bayview Creek (CIM) LP (“ Bayview LP” ), for, among other things, an Order setting
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.2-

aside i >rdi;r= mode cut September IK. 2tr2 fl . lot rm mlemu injuntfnsis and ihc ippciintincitt af nn

[n> t.-*Ej 0j3tisc Kc^fi ^ cj . .=’ iwril iv fur ,ui < jidf . fi' i the diulnujir ul' the ‘ ertificiiie nt Pending

Lllig^ LiuO. WLTe h«l ltliuj[ i ;, h ;. VjiW ci.itllfidlKe U] 1 L .T-. IIII fl, OnM

< )v HI-' \1)IN ( ; The Iruv n l i p i i V L- RectiMT'i Interim Hepn« rimed September 1 ^ M hi ihe

Affidavit -.' I Aimfi Muse? Dcai '•••• vm September 24, 2020. Mic Affidavit t > J" Joju Uni iVt-om

September 12, 20211 4md Ibe cvhibu ^ nmicAcd thereto. and the Manet of Actum rwued September

U, 2020. as well gi ttiyvkw LP’s Pactum. Notice ol' Mutiun. and The Affidavit* oj' keely Yuan

ano Alexia Pirante, both of which went m*tnn on ScpTcmber 23, 2020, filed, and nn heumn]

MtbnusMotujri cnunnrJ Far the Pktntiffi fijyvle^ LP. m well us oftheihin- parLief llrynin Capital

Corp. and TfijL'l, Financial Services (.'redit Union Ltd-, no other parries yppearmij.

I THIS COURT ORDERS Lhm dw Outlet of September IK. :u2U . tmnexed hlTL'k? Scheflule

"A", (hall be emended to Tycfwky,October 13.2l>2t*

: I ll l ^ < ( II H I I E HMIEHdKDkHSlh .l ihis mollcr alull artrd tolk < omilictolti

LUi Court mid cuuiisqJ HJC three led LJJ eunincL t]jc t kULmictciul Liji office immediately to

obtain in appointment wtlhnjmtjiL' uv HKJII a* possible mid in any event no LLIIL- J - IILUTI October

13, 2020. At that ippoinlinnii Lhccontiiiuiuitwaf Jive tclhrt' yarned in ilicOnk- Kd September

1 ¥, 2020. :nj^ he addiLissett. and the partus 5hid I be prepared iv do m m turn time, hsiuding

having (Tied evidence on (he inue.

proceed i n I Ini t should be- done loftier wub ibi* pwacdinft w Him aTJ piaJicn* eon be

siuHiJd the irKHlBagn; w- jmh ti1- iakv eufLiieenum

-LLII,3] L-^H.-L4 ihe ^.isne nidge .;- el'fU:en!h t:- pn-> ih!c
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> I N I S O H H I IfRTHEtlORDERS ihul HayvWrw L.T* unatipn fa srt wide iht (Wfli ut

S^icmfter I v 302t- for i luck nfftW J»d fail disci * ri Otemi'Wd

dew*

£ V = A" \SC?fcrATOflOMTD
ON BOOK SC
L= CASS L= 3g3ir̂ £ NO

OCI 5 2020
PEfl / BUfc
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oc-wfflxjiue "A”

Cmi Flic .Vu :p.2Q-mei rjfit - ..vi , I

ONTAMIQ

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

)
) FRIDAY THE ISIIJ OAV

TlfE HONOURABLE
rUffTICI HCHARAS

I
OF .SEPTEMBER 2020

)

BET WHEN:

1 RACY HUJl AnJ fOJO Ujjl CPwJKKUlJfy .md Repmenlfity; thr mii- i «b af |Jic
F-nfbrcomeatCommittee of the Debenture Holden )

Fluhuffs / MovingfttttbsS
J] J

OM INTERNATIONAL CROUP JNC-» BAWltW CREEK (C1M) I,r, a!W 3AVYIEW
Ciu EK mc.p Wfi {o . tt.ll . JERRY FENG), ZFI A NO DiXN YUAN. DAN

riioCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEM III SHAREL OM MACKENZIE CREEK LNC,TOMMACKENZIE CREEK LP. GRAVITAS SECT RFI IKS INC a ad AMANDA ZJLAO

DaftrutuiibRafpundiog pjiuct

ORDER

l'UJ!s MOTION Dioa^ a pnrft by [tic Ptiiniffi r". , t ^ UJICL pitouml k_ ictiimj n . r aEfd IOJ

he ftwW- a/Ao/ice Ad , &SO 1990 , t *3. LU uiutxkd (ri» "tJA") to (fl ]&3U& aon a
iJcjiiikiia nf Pending litigation, mi appoint -» fitceniet and {JIN gmaa^ mjmjckan HJLJULJ ih-:

Defendants wai btard Ibi* d*y by conference call in Tatmtn, Oniarh

O.v IH'. ADING the AffljJfĉ of Jftjn IELLI awi, i , £;-p|(rmbtj 12, and lhc ejtmbj-.s
annexed lli.-tr:, . njid ein jcoiiu iy tbs Nuiicc (jf ActtCfi ,
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1 .
"IH.fS COURT ORCTiRS itint ihc Plaintiffs’ muticirj it hereby jjfnnied.

- IT i ]:̂ i. '• '1 I’. | rSUERS thul .I Certllidtflc af Peitdtqg; I ii:y. i.: jun in the form. nt ladicd rrrcM

idicJuIc "A" shall he issued JJ:d jcgj^crcit liyaintf title in itu: hods nnn j-ircrjuiiH- -. legally

mid pmnicipflJ,ly deiatbed panuacl lu \mabnn [0:1 ufdfo Courts o/ Ĵ t cf ict; R S O 1990,

c C. tj nnd Ruk 42 mi' Lhc iufrj ofChiif 'riwtdiirt R RO 1 9 9 0, H4.

F.S

: nils COURT URUERS that un Interim ittf unction fm 10 days from the rfnta of t(iii OjJtt

iJiiU bcgtmEed ptmulntg ihe nalc of itir reni propony gs ilwrfhcii: in ’' A h^a -

4; THIS COURT ORDERS tfwif on rntciim LMJCL preventing CIM Imcnmnaml Cifoup Inc,

rClMG:oup ) , ONf Bayview L':cek JAc B a y v i C i w k :(. LV( i l.i\ CIM Mactarcr,c Cieek
Inc sr; d CIM MldcritRic Crrri, LPf their Servnnti. employees. "i^CrtES jlS4i|jyu nffiKn.
djtvcwm grd ,if jnyone rlic acting on in btibsJf cv ] n ttonjunkrfclfm with it, and MSM1 ill

PflJwd with nancenfihji - inie; jrnm ciiltcr riimdy on fttdlnfitly, by an nicaris whvifooytir

&om

i r j Selling rtn^ovmg, difttpdiQfi, .iltctuUng, HiiusfemriJi jnrigjrifag
meum keying,w timUBfly dealing *jih at Jtupasing ninny aiwu of CIM

Bsyvtcw Creek Inc as described In Schedule"A” hereto

innlr-jctmiJ, raqiKittid^ k;t- uib: ’̂l -ijLIJJ , ikmunding , QT CiJKiLiLUiUEiEJ any tirhci

person iu Jo so; and

m r- JCII i tn l i LI amuJrny; in. idinL- nhattiog uir participating in qny acta I he

effect of which n to do so

(ill
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-3-
5. THIS COURT ORDERS LIJUL the pn^uhtbCn oui above in ptu^japh 4 *LppUa ia CJM

lm “ : iLL^ jini] i.ruiLip Inc C'C’M f uojpHi. CJM faty-view Creek Inc . Jfayvifvr t .' jed [CLM i

XJ?h CIM Mackenzie Creak LIIL amt CIM Mackenzie Creek JJ* ajseu, whethw In the

DefDBtama3 flwt[ (tHticj:oniDt,iiniJ ^haihti wtdy otjerfatiy CTWHHJR mchidipfi hnr run i: mtad

IP

H LUL^ himi . fnirfifttmat n mEtc : ULjcoiint et itny hank linandtl nr rihci

inwitmiott:
' i L : -ii K' »uiwr i L r:. iraSIcr nu ike i v =hIcte mjjit rreri iu the Dcfcwhatfe

Cffl any anl property m winch thr UojSjndnflis hate nn.y imaae*, inrlydjni] ihe

real property,

(iv f ;ui> i :id uJL oLiit - perw t paperly or cuiy destnption whaqaKvrr ; :ifld

\ l Miy jnii all share certificates, ne^habit iiHtranwtff jrvd the tike.

G. THIS COT.JRT ORDERS that CIM intem.nl mu I CJrtmp Im. i CIM Grajp"). CIM B&yvitw

l / raek ^ , fUyvn-u Cjflfck (CIM) t̂ P. CIM MfldttUlZiC Crcrit tu.: .ind CIM Mackenzie Creak
l _ EJ iLiall I'rtfjhwitti rtetivn u OOLHUSEI fbi die rtaiiMftTji sworn iMdcnfie ot the nirtiue a:. . I

LncaLton Lni a|j iticir rati, wfaenaowct located. including as.-eii. he’d m ( heir hcimlr" ur |ft

Lruai tnr them, q^d5 held JGIfitlj \SiLt: Stime Other pm 4SM[% itt ^ FILCIJ EiJUy fadjari -. IBtJCtHl

.ind assets ibjLt they hold in trail hjr nny party

' Tilts COURT ORDERS that a Receiver vbu.ll LK appointed puanadl ia net Lit* i " nf flit

" IA mtd jn ihc torra after hg.1 hereto' as Stb-. -ank- "H '“
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R 1 ] iT.S COURT ORDERS tljut of thft m: i ionh up hi mul JULILUJULK ej]Sr > and styvlc dJ

J J i i i i 1 i J , -.nilt her rr1Cr '- c:1 pmding |ULlp_riLEik5 u: Mir jnnmedinz O! fijltbcr Ufiifif £if tlici . IUII

' > I EtlK COUK TORDERS ilitri matta intfucLLux ..L'UiiidcruiiQn of IHIL Order he irtunicihiefli ] i]

. MI on Scpicmt* Z02J i „ befnttthi-̂ i\inert

3 (?. I UJrS '1 H H T < JRnHUfi , L.LL- S nutiDjUtstiituliiin rule J9 OJ, ihn i inJrr i:fffecTivi fnErrr the djre

it iiit^ned .ind iiiufutttihre without uny iteed tor esirjy zt-A filing

ENTERED AT t IN5CBFT ^ TOflOUTO
C+J t BOOK U0:
LE /MNS LE REGisrmE NO,: II

SEP i D im
P^ul ikhahia l

o-PER /RAR:

314



-5

SCHEDULE “ A”

Court Flic No. CV -ZO -MWiC7 J &6 -UU-Jt'

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

D ETWr. EN;

(court\cui)

TRAC V IH I am) JOJO l!LI ( Pmonalli' and Ucprtstn[in* rln- ipieretN nf The
Fnforccmem Comnittn of tilt- Debenture Holders i

PlumtifW

-U iJ

CIM rm UILNALWAJLCSpt^ INC^ BAVVrElft CRI .I S i C I M i U\ C I M RAWIE^CREEK INCH ,ML WINFENG JERRY ET VO], 7T)ANC Dl VN YUAN,DAN
EUOCO,ROBERT PARI:N' , MI HIM SBAFIKI,ciM MACKENZIECREEKJNC.CIVI

MACKENZIE CREEK LP.GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC, and AMANDA ZTTAO

Defendant:

CERTIFICATE OF PENDING LITIGATION

I CERTIFY tli.tr ici thu proceeding An imorcst La die following land ij iq qufijlipqi

Property [\^niiriLv Number '")? iStrj-l7f7 [ j .
"j j

FT FT CON 7% ( M.KM ) * PTS I * J* PL G5RjHj$U . S/T EASEMENT QVEtt PART 2,
G5RUZ7D AS IN RSlQTQtl

E'Fll^ csrtifisfllc :t I.:nund u]ittr 311 ardei' nflhlC UdUJl ramie tm September . 2020,

Issued by[.late P I S " >1 9 1 - a - - - - - i f i - - r i r r i T i a a i, P f B.S I * h r! i j i 1 -i na +

I nL-iit ri-TIltttiu

Address rif
court alike * **+ ++ * + + - P + P P a f a h»P+ p i * I f1I

i- m a a k aa «k• B+k I - I a li.i.
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SCHEDULE*B"

CuiL.-tm xp ci- litfootoiMtenm

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

J
) FRIDAY I IH i ATI I DAY OF

THE nOTVOURARt.E
tUimCE S< FI \ J [ A I'. .1

SEITTMI1FR 2020
)

[H: J W t i N:

JRACV HUE and JOJO III I iPrrinruiU.V ntJirJ Ri' pprrjcnTinE ihe inFcrciU ufTllt
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)

IV ^ intiifsu Mnvtng Fault*
nod

MM INTERNATIONAL GROl I1 ] NC„ KAYVIEWCREEK (t IMj I . r, flM RAY VIEW
CREEK USr , JtMJEN F - hMO i *.h_n. JERKt FENG), ZHANG WAN VE AN , I t \ N

HJOCO- ROBERTPARENT, MEH1H SEIARFl , CJMM \ t KLNZHCREEK INt . CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK L r OKAY ETAS SGCURI J IES JM: wd AMANDA /JUO

I kfendoittS ItatpeijuluEg Ruticr.

ORDER

(A|j{)ointinc Investigative Receiver)

THIS MOTION '[iii'je =- [ putt* b>' the PEnmtifik I'm on '. 'hdei punsuuttF i -.' JCCIJOCL hll DF

’ll* (\*;P tj v/ haUc- f Ad . SLS O HHH) c asqmrmlu! 11 ' i V'l appointing rtlha'i Qdmaji

Inn. L 'AOn :is Invongmive tcceiver ::hc r R L = vtj- ij£ [jcopcfly of CM Jhlntnibuntil
i rTtiup Ii-kt . i TM 11iyvIOW t :n:ck Inc , Bay view Credit (CIM j i ,P, Cl M Mackmizje Creek Tat rind
CIV] Stfadtonzie Cr«(t LP nri the ictma wi ou] bclrtv, heard this . - EH ;. v TdenmlttcaB in

TtNOfilo, Ontario

318



2

ON READlNO \hz Affidavit <jf
" Jim i ^viirr Sejnrrrih r E2. 2D2A uid (be tihihiti

qqijfiXCfl TlicncHx find on hearing the Hubmistlonj of ermine] Tor the Plaintiff mud on reading the
BGIl în! of t\Cr] lr UC( U Kc CtfI ViJ,

APHttNTMEN i

1- THIS COiniT OKDEK.S thar (litrautifii io ^ciioa ]fl|of the CJA, AQl it hereby appointed
Ir.vcEu^Eitivc $£Q0iua tviflfl anli .the pewra ^ws/ati bd, w Qf the pruperr, of TIM
IntelnntiwinJ tlrnoii IHCL, CtM Uuyuiew Ciedt Inc Bnyvic '̂ Creek (CtElj FT. ClM
M«k(ttnfc Crrek Jnc . and ' ’ TV - Mackenzie < [cei: LI' [foe "t rmpanuts ' i pmsrlLLu; juntiei

order rlf Ihe enun.

RECEIVER MOT IN POJWLSMON OK ASSETS

- li . ln COrmi DRDEKS|M iJit Cotapmtts EFIAII remain in ptHiosaian mf it= cirrrtnt and
i i"ire N&vts. JXLIJ iiiidtrliJanga .mil pfOperUm of every nnlnrc and kind ^ hnbjcvir

N i ]l|EtLivi' iy Iht "PiupQriyH nnd vvhcrrVCT sitij;irid Including proceed ingn ; l ctDot
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RECEIVF K SPDWEKS
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{ n} To obtain till inform utiah HV] ic : LLL:L tn pajiei Jjc JIT. HI UL in ij.::LI JI faunm, bodi forest LIT
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Cocnpimir^ (ihc nMontindonn w i i:hmd limitftrin^ from (t) tha Compnrun md all of thair
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exercise oftlie Reviver's powa1 .ind Julies trte !uHiii^ wiinimr limltarion those :ci;dn«cd!

by tJiia Order ;

> 1 td rtfjKui 3 i , m^-FRL w:ih ami dioim* w- i ]h nr.y nd 1 nil RciKmu. irErJuiJvi^ cnuiiii'i ror die

REgintUTi QS il’.c HwlvcrilciRs rtppuspttote on .ill matted rd-Ttniii lo LiieO mpinie'. and
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CfJUty shllltOf}1 tiinlIL1Lih-irirn. mid

it!'i Lu rdnduei exanttoslinu pndef i .uli rd' ill the Uaferidunls and rhalt finMnenJ oditap
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proposed party lu be examined ivhleh eKminaHKiiw ahull ftEso ierva i* examinations Tor
Lluttrocr]; in the within nt(inn
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II . TUIS COURT ORDERS (JJJL tlie clrctrmiic ..ecvrt* - hqil be valid mrl rffeciiH' Hrrv&e
Suhjc^r In Rule l tk rEiis OL'dcL STL = . J cunjui lit? .NI order fijr iLibutEiuTcil service pursuant li>
Rule tho ftwliej of Civil Proeetitirz

GENERAL

\2. UllS EOUHH ORDERS lhat ih-c Rjetdvtit fiti> form [uiir :u rime .-! f < . L(LIH- 1 '-.‘USL mr
ailvrtc g.ntl djiL ^iujcLi ill IJLL: diSfihHra* of Eb pffWH Mill .luncst liercimdri
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,?|J(!I . jhnd Ifl prnvWe iBdt L1 >^i 16 iLiv RaDdverH . (!nftker rii' Court. 3-j Nix- bs
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Lurrying mil ik1 tCfLTS liu:. Opfet.

! Ti:TS f Ot ' nil 1 ORDERS haT ilk- Receiver be n the liberty .md hcreiy aulharj^ciJ .md
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iotaifld, L.I : dm LL’Li.iycjjinTi uf tEus i >rdf !' :md for a^Lfitance tn carrying\ ui ikr inms of iiiiJi
Qnter, nod litai the Receiver a luthuri d̂ ami empowemf Lu ui an repiesetiiinive in rnpcci
of Ibi wnTnd proctfdJUiji for the purp^ic cf having these pjatccdLrifla cteoiiriized i:t a

lwi*tbt uuttidt? Cjirntda
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tiy iJ]e o rdcr apj'j^h [ L>r upon uudiaihc: nodcc, LfsiiyH JI EIELK Court ruiij ujdci

2ft THIS COURT ORUiilOs thm nctfwlihttanding iTj.rapm.ph 1^ , tim mur/tr mcJudlny
csaeitlEiHiian of tkisOndcr shall be iciuniabted 4k IT:, op September 1015 htTqrt thta
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CITATION: Hui v. CIM International Group Inc., 2020 ONSC 6020 
   COURT FILE NO.: CV-20-647366 

DATE: 20201005 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO 

RE: TRACY HUI and JOJO HUI (Personally and Representing the interests of 
The Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders), Plaintiffs 

AND: 

CIM INTERNATIONAL GROUP INC., BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP, 
CIM BAYVIEW CREEK INC., JIUBIN FENG (a.k.a. JERRY FENG), 
ZHANG DIAN YUAN, DAN FUOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHDI 
SHAFIEI, CIM MACKENZIE CREEK INC., CIM MACKENZIE CREEK 
LP, GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZHAO, Defendants 

BEFORE: Paul B. Schabas 

COUNSEL: Jonathan Barr and Amiri Dear, for the Plaintiffs  

Ronald Lachmansingh and Katherine Lee, for the Defendant Bayview Creek 
(CIM) LP  

Lawrence Hansen for Duca Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. 

Robert Choi, for Bryton Capital Corp. 

HEARD: September 28, 2020 

 

ENDORSEMENT 
 
[1] I released an endorsement in this matter on September 28, 2020: Hui v. CIM International 

Group Inc., 2020 ONSC 5857.  Unfortunately, the parties cannot agree on the terms of the 
formal order, and I have been forwarded competing versions together with email exchanges 
between counsel setting out their positions. 

[2] First, in the preamble, the defendant Bayview Creek (CIM) LP objects to including 
reference to my having read the Investigative Receiver’s Interim Report.  As I read it, it 
should be referred to in the Order. 

[3] Second, Bayview Creek’s counsel wishes to add to the preamble the following words after 
“no other parties appearing”: “and the Plaintiffs’ counsel having undertaken to have Tracy 
Hui, a resident of Ontario, give an undertaking as to damages.” This issue was discussed 
in my endorsement as it arose during the hearing respecting the issue of security for costs, 

EXHIBIT "QQ"
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but I specifically made no order regarding it. I do not recall a specific commitment being 
given for an undertaking by Tracy Hui, although the potential need for one was recognized 
by counsel for the plaintiffs.  Accordingly, I will not add that phrase to the Order. 

[4] Third, I have made some minor changes to paragraph 2 of the Order as suggested by 
counsel for Bayview Creek. 

[5] Fourth, the plaintiff seeks to have the Order contain a third paragraph stating: “THIS 
COURT FURTHER ORDERS that Bayview LP’s motion to set aside the Order of 
September 18, 2020 for a lack of full and fair disclosure is dismissed.”  This accurately 
reflects my endorsement. Presumably the plaintiffs want this in the Order to ensure that the 
lack of full and fair disclosure is not raised by Bayview Creek again.  I would have thought 
my endorsement dismissing that basis for setting aside the ex parte Order was sufficient 
for that purpose; indeed, it includes the fact that I addressed the issue at the request of 
Bayview Creek. However, as the paragraph is accurate and may prevent misunderstanding 
going forward, I have included the proposed paragraph 3 in the Order. 

[6] I have signed the Order in accordance with this endorsement.  

 

 

Paul B. Schabas, J. 
 
Date: October 5, 2020 
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EXHIBIT "RR"

Court File No. CV-20-00647366-0000

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

B E T W E E N:

TRACY HUI and J OJO HUI (Personally and Representing the interests of The
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)

Plaintiffs / Moving Parties

- a n d -
CIM INTERNATIONAL GROUP IN C., BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP, CIM BAYVIEW

CREEK INC., JIUBIN F EN G (a.k.a. JERRY F EN G), ZHAN G DIAN YUAN, DAN
F UOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHDI SHAFIEI, CIM MACKENZIE CREEK IN C., CIM

MACKENZIE CREEK LP, GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZHAO

Defendants / Responding Parties

INVESTIGATIVE RECEIVER’S FIRST REPORT TO COURT

(Dated September 25, 2020)

I. INTRODUCTION

1. This First Report (“ Report” ) is filed by Albert Gelman Inc. (“ AGI” ) in its capacity as

Investigative Receiver (“ Receiver” ).

2. On September 18, 2020, the Honourable Mr. Justice Schabas issued an order (“ Appointment

Order” ) appointing AGI as Investigative Receiver over the property of CIM International

Group Inc., CIM Bayview Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc.,

and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP, pursuant to section 101 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O.
1990 c. C. 43, as amended. A copy of the Appointment Order is attached as Appendix “ A”

to this Report.

1
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3. On the same day, the Honourable Mr, Justice Schabas also issued an order (“ Order” ) granting.
among other things, that:

a. a Certificate of Pending Litigation be issued and registered against title to the lands and

premises municipally described as 10747 Bayview Avenue, Richmond Hill, Ontario

(“ Real Property” );

b. an interim injunction for 10 days from the date of this Order shall be granted,preventing

the sale of the Real Property;

c. an interim order preventing CIM International Group Inc. (“ CIM Group” ), CIM

Bayview Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc. and CIM

Mackenzie Creek LP, their servants, employees, agents, assigns, officers, directors

and/or anyone else acting on its behalf or in conjunction with it, and any and all persons

with notice of this order, from either directly or indirectly, by any means whatsoever

from:

selling, removing, dissipating, alienating, transferring, assigning, encumbering.i.

or similarly dealing with or disposing of any assets of CIM Bayview Creek Inc.
as described in Schedule “ A” to the Order [referring to the Real Property];

instructing, requesting, counselling, demanding, or encouraging any otherli.

person to do so; and,

facilitating, assisting in, aiding, abetting, or participating in any acts the effectin.

of which is to do so.

2
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II. SCOPE AND PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

4. The Receiver has focused its efforts on obtaining information relating to the business, financial

affairs, records, assets and property of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP (“ Bayview Creek LP” ), CIM

Bayview Creek Inc. and CIM Group for the purpose of investigating and reporting on:

a. the state of the intercompany accounts between Bayview Creek LP and CIM Group,

with specific reference to the $10,000,000 loaned by CIM Group to Bayview Creek LP

from the proceeds of the Debentures issued by CIM Group;

b. the status of the Real Property (defined below), and advising the Court of the mortgages

registered against it for the purpose of assessing if any equity may exist in the Real

Property for the unsecured creditors of Bayview Creek LP in the event of a sale of the

Real Property1;

5. The purpose of this Report is as follows:

a. to assist the Court in making a determination of the relief sought by the Plaintiff, which

motion is returnable on September 28, 2020;

b. provide the Court with the preliminary information obtained by the Receiver to date;

and.
c. advise the Court of the actions and activities of the Receiver to date.

III. TERMS OF REFERENCE

6. While the Receiver has reviewed various documents provided by the parties named herein,

such review does not constitute an audit or verification of such information for accuracy.
completeness or compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“ GAAP” ) or

1As discussed in this Report, the Receiver has requested, but not received any documents to allow it to report on
this to date

3
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International Financial Reporting Standards (“ IFRS” ) or otherwise. Accordingly, the Receiver

expresses no opinion or other form of assurance pursuant to GAAP or IFRS or otherwise with

respect to such information except as expressly stated herein.

7. This Report has been prepared for the use of this Court to assist the Court in making a

determination of whether to approve the relief sought. Accordingly, the reader is cautioned

that this Report may not be appropriate for any other purpose. The Receiver will not assume

responsibility or liability for losses incurred by the reader as a result of the circulation,

publication, reproduction or use of this Report contrary to the provisions of this paragraph.

8. Unless otherwise noted, all monetary amounts referenced are in Canadian dollars.

IV. BACKGROUND

9. The following background information is contained in the Plaintiffs Motion Record dated

September 14, 2020 which provides background for the Court:

The Plaintiffs are both holders of debentures issued by C1M Group:a.

b. The debentures were stated as being Three-Year Term Secured Redeemable

Debentures (“ Debentures” ) issued by CIM Group, which would bear interest at the

rate of 13.5% per annum payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each

year;

c. The purpose of the Debentures, as it was explained to the Plaintiffs, was to fund the

CIM Group’s Bayview Creek Project;

d. The $10,000,000 raised by CIM Group in selling the Debentures would be used to

provide a loan to Bayview Creek (CIM) LP to finance the Real Property;
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e. The Bayview Creek real estate project was also being undertaken by CIM Group

controlled entities and their directors and officers;

f. The $10,000,000 from the debenture holders would go to CIM Group who would then

provide a $10,000,000 loan to Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, which loan would bear

interest at a rate of 20% per annum payable semi-annually for a term of 3 years;

g. CIM Group would, thereafter, collect its 20% interest from Bayview Creek (CIM) LP

or Bayview Creek Inc. and then pay the debenture holders their 13.5% interest payable

under the Debentures;

h. At the end of the three-year term, Bayview Creek (CIM) LP would repay the

$10,000,000 loan back to CIM Group, who in turn would pay back the debenture

holders their $10,000,000;

i. The loan was to be secured by a mortgage in favour of the debenture holders should

there be a default;

j. Further security for the debentures would be in the shares that CIM Group held in

another real estate project known as CIM Mackenzie Creek LP, as a form of backup

security;

k. At some point between January and February 2018, Jiubin Feng aka Jerry Feng

(“ Feng” ) Chief Executive Officer of CIM Group, Robert Parent, another director of

CIM Group, and Amanda Zhao (“ Zhao” ) of Gravitas Securities Inc.2 (“ Gravitas” )

advised that they were not able to add another mortgage to the Real Property because

Duca Financial Services Credit Union Ltd. (“ Duca” ), the lender holding the first

2 Albert Gelman Inc. was appointed as Trustee in Bankruptcy of Laurier Capital holdings Inc. on January 28, 2020.
The assets of Laurier Capital Holdings Inc. include five percent of the common shares of Gravitas Securities Inc.,
which are still held by the bankrupt estate. No Trustee, nor any employee of Albert Gelman Inc., is or has ever been
an officer or director of Gravitas Securities Inc, nor has had any prior contact or dealings with Amanda Zhoe.
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mortgage, would not allow it. To solve the problem, CIM Group, Feng and Zhao

advised that they would include TSX Trust Company as regulators to ensure that no

fraud or defaults occur. Furthermore, if any defaults occur, TSX Trust Company would

be the first to know and that they could immediately get the debenture holders a charge

on the Bayview Property, which would rank second behind the first mortgage with

Duca;

1. Further security for the debentures would be in the shares that CIM Group held in

another real estate project known as CIM Mackenzie Creek LP, as a form of backup

security;

m. The Plaintiffs understand that the assets of CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc. have been sold

and that the Class A shares held in CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc. are essentially worthless;

n. Jerry Feng was at all material times a Director of CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc. As such,

CIM Group, CIM Bayview Creek Inc., and CM Mackenzie Creek Inc. shared, the same

directing mind and were controlled by the same person at all material times;

o. The Real Property is now in the midst of a potential power of sale3;

p. There is a real risk that the assets owned by the Defendants, specifically the Real

Property may be sold before judgment; and, :

q. There is a serious issue to be tried concerning the interpretation of the debenture

documentation, and the recovery of the Plaintiffs and all of the holders of debentures

initial principal amounts paid with respect to acquiring the Debentures and the interest

currently owing thereon.

3 It has been subsequently understood by the Plaintiffs that the Property is not in the midst of a power of sale
proceeding, but rather that Bayview Creek LP and its Director, Jerry Feng, are attempting to sell the Property and
were informally considering offers on September 17, 2020.
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V. INFORMATION REVIEWED AND RELIED UPON BY THE RECEIVER

10. In preparing this Report, the Receiver has relied upon the following:

a. discussions and documentation obtained from Hummingbird lawyers, counsel to the

Plaintiffs, including the Affidavit of Jojo Hui, sworn on September 12, 2020 (“ Hui

Affidavit” );

b. The audited financial statements of CIM Group as at December 31, 2017 and December

31 2018, which were audited by Deloitte LLP (“ Deloitte” ) and which have been

obtained by the Receiver from www.sedar.com (“Sedar” )4 and are attached to this

Report as Appendices “ B” and “ C” .

c. The audited financial statements of CIM Group as at December 31, 2019 which were

posted to Sedar on September 22, 2020 and attached as Appendix “ D” .

d. Interim financial statements of CIM Group as at March 31, June 30 and September 30,

2018 and as at September 30, 2019, attached hereto as Appendices “ E” through “ H”

obtained from Sedar; and,

e. News Releases of CIM Group obtained from Sedar as set out below:

i. June 29, 2020 Press Release-Announcement regarding updates on Debentures,
Real Estate Projects and other matters following review by OSC, attached
Appendix “ I”

ii. May 26, 2020 Change of Auditors Notice - MS Partners LLP succeeded
McGovern Hurley LLP as auditors, attached Appendix “J”

4 The Receiver notes from news releases of CIM Group posted to Sedar that Oeloitte resigned as auditor of their
own initiative effective July 31, 2019. McGovern Hurley LLP replaced Deloitte as auditors on August 8, 2019 and
subsequently resigned at their own initiative effective as of April 20, 2020. MS Partners LLP were appointed as
successor auditors on April 22, 2020.
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iii. May 26, 2020 Letter to Securities Commission Members by MS Partners LLP

regarding confirmation of appointment as auditor, attached Appendix “ K”

iv. April 28, 2020 Press Release -Announcement regarding delay in statutory filing

and change of Auditors, attached Appendix WL”

v. January 29, 2020 Press Release-Announcement regarding Notice received for an

event of default in respect of payment of interest to Debenture-holders, attached

Appendix “ M”

vi. January 15, 2020 Press Release- Announcement regarding appointment of new

CEO and CFO, attached Appendix “ N”

vii. January' 13, 2020 Press Release -Announcement to purchase LP units of CIM

Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership and shares of its general partner, attached

Appendix “ O”

viii. December 12, 2019 Press Release - Proposal to Call Back Approximately 39

Million in Shares and announcement of new CFO, attached Appendix “ P”
ix. November 27, 2019 Press Release -Announcement regarding agreement with

Bayview Creek (CIM) LP (“ Bayview Creek” ) to revise the terms of their lending

arrangements and to off-set certain debts, attached Appendix “ Q”

x. November 7, 2019 Press Release-Announcement regarding update on

Mackenzie Creek Court Proceedings, attached Appendix “ R”
xi. November 8, 2019 Management Report - Management’s Discussion & Analysis

for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and September 30, 2018, attached

Appendix “ S”

xii. October 1, 2019 Press Release -Announcement regarding problems faced for the

investment in CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership, attached Appendix

xiii. August 12, 2019 Change of Auditors Notice - McGovern Hurley LLP succeeded

Deloitte LLP as auditors, attached Appendix “ U”

xiv. February 16, 2018 Material Change Report -Private Placement of Secured

Debentures, attached Appendix MV”
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VI. ACTIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF THE RECEIVER

11. In addition to the information provided herein, the Receiver has completed the following

activities to date:

a. The Receiver served Jiubin Feng (a.k.a Jerry Feng), CEO of C1M Group with the

Appointment Order on September 20, 2020 by email to jerry.fent»@,cimintgroup.com

and requested a phone call to discuss its mandate and request for information in further

detail. Mr.Feng did not respond to this email and accordingly, on September 22, 2020

the Receiver sent a follow up email to Mr. Feng again requesting a phone call and

requesting specific financial information authorized for production to the Receiver

pursuant to the Appointment Order. Mr. Feng responded by email on September 24,

2020 wherein he stated he will tty to find what we want. A copy of the email exchange

is attached as Appendix “ W’\

b. Provided Deloitte LLP with a copy of the Appointment Order by email to Temg Chen,

who is the engagement partner from Deloitte LLP for the audit of CIM International

Group Inc. for the years ending December 31, 2018 and December 31. 2017 and

requested a true copy of the audited financial statements for 2017 and 2018 from their

records. The Legal counsel to Deloitte LLP responded by email on September 23,2020,

advising that they are looking into the request for information and will make bestefforts

to respond in due course.

c. Wrote by email to DUCA Financial Services Credit Union Ltd., Bryton Capital Coip,

GR (CAN) Investment Co. Ltd. and Monest Financial Inc. who are the mortgagees

registered on title to the Real Property of CIM Bayview Creek Inc. at 10747 Bayview

Avenue, Richmond Hill, requesting the current balance of their mortgages, copy of
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their mortgage agreements, documents showing the advance of the mortgage loant's),

status of any defaults in relation to the mortgages and copies of any financial statements

in their possession for the years 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020 that they may have in their

records in relation to CIM Bayview Creek Inc., CIM International Group Inc., Bayview

Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc., and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP. In this

regard the Receiver has been in contact with counsel for DUCA Financial Services

Credit Union Ltd., Solicitors for Bryton Capital Corp. GP. Ltd. and Mr. Chris from

Monest Financial Inc. but has not yet received a response from the other mortgagees.

d. On September 21, 2020, the Receiver emailed a representative of Global Link Realty

Brokerage (“ Listing Broker” ), who the Receiver understands is the listing broker for

the Real Property. In that email the Receiver attached the Order the Honourable Mr.

Justice Schabas of September 18, 2020 and requested that the broker contact the

Receiver urgently. The Listing Broker responded by email the same day advising that

he will talk to his lawyer tonight or tomorrow and then answer my questions. A copy

of the email exchange is attached as Appendix “ X” . On September 22, 2020, Richard

Worsfold of the law firm Mills and Mills LLP emailed the Receiver advising that

Global Link Realty Brokerage has asked him to contact the Receiver about the

Receiver’s requests and he would like to understand what information the Receiver

seeks so he might be able to advise his client regarding the request for information. A

further exchange of emails took place wherein the Receiver advised that the matters to

be discussed and documents needed are:

Copy of listing agreement

offers received

Is there any accepted offer, even conditional
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Did he do an opinion of value and if so, can we get a copy
Generally, his thoughts on saleability of property and price range expected

A copy of the email exchanges is attached as Appendix “ Y”

e. The Receiver wrote to Peter Proszanski, lawyer at Himelfarb Proszanski, who the

Receiver understood to be the real estate lawyer for CIM Bayview Creek Inc., the seller

of the Real Property, by email dated September 20, 2020. The Receiver followed up

on September 21, 2020, advising it would like to discuss which parties he represents in

this matter (if any) and whether he can discuss matters on their behalf or otherwise

advise his clients of their responsibility to communicate with the Receiver pursuant to

Sections 4(a) and 4 (e) of the Order appointing the Investigative Receiver. Mr.

Proszanski responded by email of September 21, 2020 advising he is not retained on

this matter, as he indicated to Mr. Barr, and he has no knowledge about the debenture

and that he will contact Mr. Feng and advise him of our appointment. A copy of the

email exchange is attached as Appendix “ Z”

VII. STATE OF INTERCOMPANY ACCOUNTS BETWEEN BAYVIEW CREEK LP

AND CIM GROUP

12. As expanded upon later in this Report, the Term Sheet attached to the Subscription Agreement

for the Debentures, as well as the Financial Statements and Press Releases of CIM Group,

evidence that the intention of CIM Group in relation to the issuance of the Debentures was as

follows:
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a. CIM Group was to raise gross proceeds of $10,000,000 by issuing three-year tenn

secured debentures bearing interest at a rate of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-

annually, on a non-brokered Private Placement basis (the “ Private Placement” );

b. The Debentures were to be secured by 10,000,000 Class A limited partner units owned

by CIM Group in the capital of CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership;

c. The net proceeds of the Private Placement were to be used to purchase a three-year

term secured debenture bearing interest at a rate of 20% per annum, also payable semi-
annually (the “ Investment” ) from Bayview Creek LP; and

d. The Investment was to be secured by a covenant to provide a mortgage against the title

to the Real Property in the event of default of the Investment or an event of default

under any mortgage on title to the Real Property .5

13. Based upon the above, the Receiver would expect that that the amounts due by CIM Group to

the Debenture holders, at each quarter end, would be the same (or closely correspond) to the

amounts due by Bayview Creek LP to CIM Group. However, as the Receiver reports below,

this does not appear to be the case based upon the Receiver’s examination of the financial

statements of CIM Group.

14. Set out below is a schedule of the state of accounts between Bayview Creek LP and CIM

Group, as set out in the financial statements of CIM Group on aquarterly basis from December

31, 2017 to December 31, 2018, and also at September 30, 2019. Also set out on the schedule

is the corresponding amount due by CIM Group to the Debenture holders at each quarter.

5 The Receiver points out that the March 31, 2018 and June 30, 2018 interim financial statements do make a
reference to the covenant to provide a mortgage against title to the Real Property. However, the subsequent
interim financial statements and the December 31, 2017 and 2018 audited financial statements do not make such
a reference. In addition, a press releases of CIM Group posted to Sedar also make reference to the covenant to
provide a mortgage (see Appendix "V” )
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Audited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited
Sept 30

Audited Unaudited
Dec 31 Sept 30

2019

Mar 31 June 30Dec 31
r v r r r r2017 20IE 2018 2018 2018

Due by CIM Group to Bayview Creek
Due by Bayview Creek to CIM Group
Loan due from Bayview Creek to CIM Group

Net Due by Bayview Creek to CIM Group

3,663,327 - 5,131,054 - 6,398,120 - 7,232,030 - 7,352,306

- 1 - - j - 611,501

- 4,565,000 8,140,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 1,201,584
3,663,327 - 566,054 1,741,880 2,767,970 3,259,195 1,201,584

Due by CIM Group to Debenture Holders 4,890,000 8,565,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000

15. To illustrate the discrepancy between the apparent intention of CIM Group and the actual

statement of accounts between CIM Group and Bayview Creek LP, the Receiver first draws

attention to the March 31, 2018 column as an example. This column shows that as at March

31, 2018, the Debenture Holders had then advanced $4,890,000 to CIM Group and that CIM

Group had then advanced $4,565,000 to Bayview Creek LP. However, CIM Group had also

borrowed $5,131,054 from Bayview Creek LP as at the same date. Accordingly, on a

combined/net basis, even though $4,565,000 of the funds advanced by the Debenture Holders

are reported as having been loaned to Bayview Creek LP, because CIM Group also had

borrowed $5,131,054 from Bayview Creek LP, no net amount is due by Bayview Creek LP to

CIM Group. To the contrary, CIM Group owed Bayview Creek LP $566,054 on a

combined/net basis.

16. As at December 31, 2018 the financial statements show that the Debenture Holders had

advanced the total $10,000,000 to CIM Group and CIM Group had advanced a total of

$10,000,000 to Bayview Creek LP. Again, however, the financial statements show that CIM

Group had also borrowed $7,352,306 from Bayview Creek LP. On a combined/net basis,

Bayview Creek LP only owed CIM Group $3,259,195.
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17. The Receiver also points out that the Audited Financial Statements of CIM Group as at

December 31, 2017, being just prior to the Debenture holders advancing their monies to CIM

Group, show that CIM Group then owed Bayview Creek LP $3,663,327.

18. Set out below is a schedule setting out this discrepancy on a quarterly basis.

Sept 30 Dec 31 Sept 30Mar 31 June 30
2018 20192018 2018 2018

(566,054) 1 ,741,880 2,767,970 3,259.195 1.201 .584Net Due from Bayview Creek LP

4,890,000 8,565,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 1 0,000,000Due to Debenture Holders

19. Note 15(b) to the December 31, 2017 audited financial statements sets out the interest rate on

the loans from Bayview Creek LP to CIM Group:

As at December 31, 2017, the Company [CIM Group] owes Bayview
Creek CIM LP., a related company, $3,663,327 which is a 20% annual
interest rate short-term loan payable on demand and is presented as “ Due
to related parties” on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest in related
companies.

20. The Receiver points out that the 20 percent interest rate on Bayview Creek LP's loans to CIM

Group is the same rate as on CIM Group’s loans to Bayview Creek LP. Accordingly, the net

interest payable by Bayview Creek LP, even at 20 percent, was far less than the interest CIM i

Group was liable to pay the Debenture Holders at a rate of 13.5 percent.

21. On the unaudited September 30, 2019 financial statements, CIM Group consolidates and

offsets the loans due to and from Bayview Creek LP, showing a net amount owing to CIM

Group of $1,201,584. Note 15(f) to this financial statement states the following:

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued a note
receivable in the amount of $10,000,000 to Bayview Creek (CIM) Limited
Partnership (Notes 5 and 10) where the Director of the Company has an
interest in related companies. As at June 30, 2019, the Company and
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Bayview Creek (C1M) LP agreed to set off the loan receivable balance
against the due to balance, such that the net amount owing by Bayview
Creek (C1M) to the Company as of July 1, 2019 is $1,543,774 with 15.5%
annual interest. As at September 30, 2019, related interest receivable from
Bayview Creek (C1M) is $55,559.

22. In addition, a news release of CIM Group dated June 29, 2020, attached as Appendix “ I”

includes a disclosure of the offset. Excerpts from the news release are as follows:

CIM International Group Inc. (CSE: CIM) ("CIM" or the "Company")
announces that, following receipt of a comment letter from staff ("Staff )
of the Ontario Securities Commission ("OSC") in connection with a
review by Staff of the OSC of the Company’s continuous disclosure record,
the Company has determined to update and to publish clarification of
certain matters in respect of its outstanding debentures, land development
projects and other matters

Debenture Status
When the Company issued $10,000,000 of debentures in 2018 pursuant to
a trust indenture dated January 9, 2018, as amended, (the "Trust
Indenture’’) between the Company and TSX Trust Company (the
"Trustee"), the proceeds were loaned to Bayview Creek (CIM) LP
("Bayview Creek LP” ). As the loan to Bayview Creek was reduced by
outstanding loam due to Bayview Creek dating back to December 2017,
including an outstanding balance of $3,681,613 owed to Bayview Creek at
the time of the issuance of the debentures on February 6, 2018, as well as
periodic repayments commencing in February, 2018 to a net balance of
$1,543,774 as at June 30, 2019 and the security provided to its debenture-
holders in respect of the Mackenzie Creek development was uncertain (see
the Company’s news release dated December 12, 2019), the Company
engaged in discussions with some of the debenture-holders and their legal
counsel regarding ongoing interest payments and the Company’s principal
repayment obligation with a view to reaching a resolution.

23. The Receiver points out that the shortfall between the interest payable by Bayview Creek LP

to CIM Group, on a net basis, to the interest payable by CIM Group to the Debenture Holders

appears to have been partially addressed by a reported waiver of $800,000 of interest payable

by CIM Group to Bayview Creek LP. This waiver is disclosed at Note 17 (c) to the December

31, 2018 audited financial statements of CIM Group, which states as follows:

15

343



16

As at December 31, 2018, the Company owes Bayview Creek CIM LP., a
related company, $7,352,306 which is a 20% annual interest rate short-
term loan payable on demand and is presented as “ Due to related parties”
on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company has an interest in related companies.
During the year, interest expense payable of $800,000 was waived by
Bayview Creek (CIM) LP by agreement. This resulted in a reduction to
“ Interest expense” and ‘Due to related parties” in the amount of $800K
each.

24. The Receiver will require the following information and records in order to properly

understand the state of the intercompany accounts, including the nature and use of the loans

advanced by Bayview Creek LP to CIM Group.

a. Financial Statements of Bayview Creek LP, CIM Bayview Creek Inc., CIM Mackenzie

Creek Inc., and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP;

b. The General Ledgers of CIM Group, Bayview Creek LP, CIM Bayview Creek Inc.
CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc., and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP;

c. The Banking Records of CIM Group, Bayview Creek LP, CIM Bayview Creek Inc.
CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc., and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP;

d. Shareholder Registers and Corporate Minute Books for each of these companies; and

e. Explanations from Feng and others, including the auditors.

VIII. DECEMBER 31, 2019 AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF CIM GROUP

25. On September 24, 2020, the Receiver learned that CIM Group’s audited financial statements

for the year ended December 31, 2019 had been posted to Sedar on September 22, 2020.
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26. The Receiver has not had sufficient time to conduct an adequate review and analysis of these

financial statements. That said, the Receiver does have the following interim comments and

observations:

a. The Auditor, MS Partners LLP, has provided an unqualified opinion on the financial

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

b. In their Auditor’s report the auditor includes a note on “ Material Uncertainty Related

to Going Concern”,which reads as follows:

We draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Company incurred a net loss in the past and currently
has an accumulated deficit of $25,315,997. As stated in Note 1, these events
or conditions, along with other matters indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt oh the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

c. The Assets of the Company are reported as $3,423,838 as at December 31, 2019, as

compared to $23,267,769 as at September 30, 2019 and $30,819,483 as at December

31, 2018.

d. The material items comprising the reduction in the Assets between December 31, 2018

and December 31, 2019 are as follows:

Write-down of asset held for sale
Impairment write-down of investments
Offset of the loan payable to Bayview Creek LP of $8,201,104
against the Loan Receivable from Bayview Creek LP

$ 2,267,726
$15,011,790

$ 8,201,104

Offset of Loan Payable to C1M Investment Inc. of $700,458
against the Loan Receivable from Bayview Creek LP $ 700,458

f. As a result of the offsets set out above, the net amount owing by Bayview Creek LP to

CIM Group as of December 31, 2019 is only $490,494.
g. As set out earlier in the Report, the $10,000,000 advanced by the Debenture Holders to

CIM Group during 2018 was, and appears to have been, re-advanced by CIM Group to
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Bayview Creek LP. The apparent intention between the Debenture Holders and CIM

Group was, among other things, that the Debentures holders would be repaid on the

due date in 2021; being the same year when the loan of $10,000,000 by CIM Group to

Bayview Creek LLP was due to be repaid to CIM Group. It is evident that this camiot

happen, since the December 31, 2019 audited financial statements report that the

remaining amount due by Bayview' Creek LP is only $490,494. As stated earlier, the

Receiver does not yet have sufficient information or records to properly understand the

nature and use of the loans advanced by Bayview Creek LP to CIM Group that were

ultimately offset against the $10,000,000 of loans by CIM Group to Bayview Creek

LP.

h. CIM Group reported Revenue of only $115,461 and a net loss of $21,665,618 for the

year ended December 31, 2019 compared to Revenue of $3,857,082 and net income of

$434,042 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The reported loss is substantially a

result of the write-down of assets and investments as set out earlier.

i. CIM Group reported an investment in CIM Mackenzie Creek LP of $10,000,000 as at

December 31, 2018 and only $1 as at December 31, 2019. The December 31, 2019

audited financial statements includes a detailed disclosure on the history of the

investment and reason for the write down at Note 7(a). The Receiver has not had an

opportunity to investigate this matter as at the date of this Report.

j. CIM Group reported an investment in CIM Port McNicoll Holding LP of $3,577,500

as at December 31, 2018 and only $1 as at December 31, 2019. The December 31,

2019 audited financial statements includes a detailed disclosure on the history of the
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investment and reason for the write down at Note 9(b). The Receiver has not had an

opportunity to investigate this matter as at the date of this Report.
k. As at December 31, 2019 CIM Group had total liabilities of $14,196,855, of which the

Debenture Holders represented $10,000,000, being approximately 70 percent of all

liabilities.

IX. CLOSING COMMENTS OF RECEIVER

27. The Receiver has sought, on a preliminary basis, the following records and information which

have not yet been provided by various parties set out earlier in this Report:

a. Historical and current financial statements of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP and CIM

Bayview Creek Inc;

b. The current balances of mortgages, copies of mortgage agreements, documents

showing the advance of mortgage loans and the status of any defaults in relation to

mortgages from each of the mortgage holders against the Real Property;

C. A copy of the listing agreement for the Real Property, copies of offers received, if any,

and a copy of any offer accepted;

d. A true copy of the audited financial statements for 2017 and 2018 from Deloitte; and

e. A commitment from Jerry Feng to discuss our mandate and request for information in

further detail.

28. The above forms only a preliminary listing of information and records required by the Receiver

for it to conduct its mandate.

29.The Receiver seeks advice and direction from this honorable Court in relation to compelling

all “ Persons” , asdefined in the Appointment Order, to cooperate with the Receiver in providing
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requested information and documents in accordance with paragraph 12 of the Appointment

Order, as needed for it to conduct and complete its mandate.

All of which is respectfully submitted this 25,b day of September 2020.
ALBERT GELMAN INC.,
In its capacity as Court Appointed Investigative Receiver
and not in its personal capacity
Per:

Joe Albert, CPA, C1RP, LIT,
Diploma in Investigative and Forensic Accounting (DIFA)
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Court File No.: CV-20-000647366-0000

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

)
FRIDAY THE 18th DAY)

THE HONOURABLE
.IDSTICK SCHABAS

)
OF SEPTEMBER 2020

)

B E T W E E N:

TRACY HUI and JOJO HUI (Personally and Representing the interests of The
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)

Plaintiffs / Moving Parties

and

CIM INTERNATIONAL GROUP INC., BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP, CIM BAYYIEW
CREEK INC., JIUBIN FENG (a.k.a. JERRY FENG), ZHANG DIAN YUAN, DAN

FUOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHDI SHAFIEI, CIM MACKENZIE CREEK INC., CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK LP, GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZHAO

Defendants / Responding Parties

ORDER

THIS MOTION made ex parte by the Plaintiffs for an Order pursuant to sections 101 and 103 of

the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. 43, as amended (the “ CJA” ) to (i) issue and register a

Certificate of Pending Litigation, (ii) appoint a receiver and (iii) grant an injunction against the

Defendants was heard this day by conference call in Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the Affidavit of Jojo Hui sworn September 12, 2020 and the exhibits

annexed thereto and on reading the Notice of Action,
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1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Plaintiffs’ motion is hereby granted.

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that a Certificate of Pending Litigation in the form attached hereto

as Schedule “ A” shall be issued and registered against title to the lands and premises legally

and municipally described pursuant to section 103 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990,

c. C. 43 and Rule 42 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that an interim injunction for 10 days from the date of this Order

shall be granted, preventing the sale of the real property as described in Schedule “ A” hereto;

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that an interim order preventing CIM International Group Inc.
(“ CIM Group” ), CIM Bayview Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek

Inc. and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP, their servants, employees, agents, assigns, officers,

directors and/or anyone else acting on its behalf or in conjunction with it, and any and all

persons with notice of this order, from either directly or indirectly, by any means whatsoever

from:

Selling, removing, dissipating, alienating, transferring, assigning,(i)

encumbering, or similarly dealing with or disposing of any assets of CIM

Bayview Creek Inc. as described in Schedule “ A” hereto;

Instructing, requesting, counselling, demanding, or encouraging any other00
person to do so; and

(Hi) Facilitating, assisting in, aiding, abetting, or participating in any acts the

effect of which is to do so.
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5. THIS COURT ORDERS (hat the prohibition set out above in paragraph 4 applies to CIM

International Group Inc. (“ CIM Group” ), CIM Bayview Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM)

LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc. and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP assets, whether in the

Defendants’ own names or not, and whether solely or jointly owned, including but not limited

to:

any bank, investment or other account at any bank, financial or other(i)

institution;

any motor vehicle, trailer to other vehicle registered to the Defendants;(ii)

(iii) any real property in which the Defendants have any interest, including the

real property';

any and all other personal property of any description whatsoever; and(tv)

any and all share certificates, negotiable instruments and the like.(v)

6 THIS COl IRT ORDERS that CIM International Group Inc. (“ CIM Group” ), CIM Bayview

Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc. and CIM Mackenzie Creek

LP shall forthwith deliver to counsel for the Plaintiffs sworn evidence of the nature and

location of all their assets, wheresoever located, including assets held on their behalf or in

trust for them, assets held jointly with some other party, assets in which they hold any interest

and assets that they hold in trust for any party.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that a Receiver shall be appointed pursuant to section 101 of the

CJA and in the form attached hereto as Schedule “ B” .
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8. THIS COURT ORDERS that costs of this motion, up to and including entry and service of

this Order, shall be reserved pending judgment in this proceeding or further Order of the Court.

9. THIS COURT ORDERS this matter including consideration of this Order be returnable at 10

a.m. on September 28, 2020, before this Court,

10. THIS COURT ORDERS, that notwithstanding rule 59.05, this Order is effective from the date

it is signed and is enforceable without any need for entry and filing.

Paul Schabas J.
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SCHEDULE “ A”

Court File No.: CV-20-000647366-0000

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

B E T W E E N:

(court seal)

TRACY HUI and JOJO HUI (Personally and Representing the interests of The
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)

Plaintiffs

and

CIM INTERNATIONAL GROUP INC., BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP, CIM BAYVIEW
CREEK INC., JIUBIN FENG (a.k.a. JERRY FENG), ZHANG DIAN YUAN, DAN

FUOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHDISHAFIEI, CIM MACKENZIE CREEK INC., CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK LP, GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZHAO

Defendants

CERTIFICATE OF PENDING LITIGATION

1 CERTIFY that in this proceeding an interest in the following land is in question:

Property Identifier Number: 03186-4757 (LT)

PT LT 25, CON 2, (MKM) , PTS 1 & 2, PL 65R31680. S/T EASEMENT OVER PART 2,
65R13270 AS IN R510790

This certificate is issued under an order of the court made on September , 2020.

Date Issued by
Local registrar

Address of
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court office
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SCHEDULE “ Bw

Court File No.: CV-20-000647366-0000

ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

)
) FRIDAY THE 18TH DAY OF

THE HONOURABLE
JUSTICE SCHABAS

)
SEPTEMBER 2020

)

B E T W E E N:

TRACY HUI and JOJO HUI (Personally and Representing the interests of The
Enforcement Committee of the Debenture Holders)

Plaintiffs / Moving Parties

and

CIM INTERNATIONAL GROUP INC., BAYVIEW CREEK (CIM) LP, CIM BAYVIEW
CREEK INC., JIUBIN FENG (a.k.a. JERRY FENG), ZHANG DIAN YUAN, DAN

FUOCO, ROBERT PARENT, MEHDI SHAFIEI, CIM MACKENZIE CREEK INC., CIM
MACKENZIE CREEK LP, GRAVITAS SECURITIES INC. and AMANDA ZHAO

Defendants / Responding Parties

ORDER

(Appointing Investigative Receiver)

THIS MOTION made ex parte by the Plaintiffs for an Order pursuant to section 101 of
the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. 43, as amended (the “ CJA” ) appointing Albert Gelman

Inc. (“ AGI” ) as investigative receiver (the “ Receiver” ) over the property of CIM International
Group Inc., CIM Bayview Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM Mackenzie Creek Inc., and

CIM Mackenzie Creek LP, on the terms set out below, was heard this day by Teleconference in

Toronto, Ontario.
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ON READING the Affidavit of Jojo Hui sworn September 12, 2020 and the exhibits

annexed thereto, and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Plaintiff and on reading the
consent of AGI to act as Receiver,

APPOINTMENT

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to section 101 of the CJA, AGI is hereby appointed
Investigative Receiver with only the powers granted below of the property of CIM

International Group Inc., CIM Bayview Creek Inc., Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, CIM
Mackenzie Creek Inc., and CIM Mackenzie Creek LP (the “ Companies” ) pending further
order of the court.

RECEIVER NOT IN POSSESSION OF ASSETS

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Companies shall remain in possession of its current and
future assets, and undertakings and properties of even' nature and kind whatsoever
(collectively the “ Property” ) and wherever situated including proceedings thereof.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that at subiect to further Order of this Court, the Comnanies shall
m* -* M.

continue to carry on its business and affairs consistent with its obligations to estate creditors
and beneficiaries, if any.

RECEIVER’S POWERS

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be and is hereby empowered and authorized, but
not obligated, to act at once, without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, to do

any of the following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

(a) To obtain all information whether in paper format or in digital format, both foreign or

domestic (for further clarity, both within and outside of Canada and in all other

jurisdictions), relating to the business, affairs, records, and all assets and property of the

Companies (the “ Information” ), without limitation, from (i) the Companies and all of their
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current and former directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, shareholders,

banks and financial institutions or brokerages, all officers or employees of such banks,

financial institutions or brokerages who have access to the Information, and all other

persons acting on their instructions or behalf with the exception of legal counsel, and (ii)

all other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental bodies or agencies, or other

entities having notice of this order, save and except for the Plaintiffs (all the foregoing

each being a “ Person, save and except for the Plaintiffs;to engage consultants, appraisers,

agents, experts, auditors, accountants, managers, counsel and such other persons from

time to time and on whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the

exercise of the Receiver’s powers and duties, including without limitation those conferred

by this Order;

(c) to report to, meet with and discuss with any and all Persons, including counsel for the

Plaintiffs, as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the Companies and

investigative receivership, and to share information, subject to such terms as to

confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;

(d) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the performance

of any statutory obligations; and

(e) to conduct examinations under oath of all the Defendants and their financial advisors,
provided proper notice as stipulated under the Rules of Civil Procedure, is provided to the
proposed party to be examined which examinations shall also serve as examinations for
discovery in the within action;
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(0 and in each case where the receiver takes such action or steps, it shall be exclusively

authorized and empowered to do so without interference from any other person including

those defined herein as “ Person” .

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons (as that term is defined at sub-paragraph 4(a) above),
including banks and financial institutions, shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence

of any Information in such Person’s possession or control and shall grant immediate and

continued access to the Information to the Receiver.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence

of any books, documents, securities, trusts, contracts, orders, accounting records, and any
other papers, records, and information of any kind related to the business or affairs of the

Companies, without limitation, any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, or

other storage data containing any such information (the foregoing collectively the “ Records” )

in that Person’s possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver unfettered access to

and use of accounting, computer software and physical facilities relating hereto, including

without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the delivery by such persons of ail passwords

required to access the Information and Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to
the Receiver due to privilege attaching to solicitor-client communications or due to statutory

provisions prohibiting such disclosure.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Information and Records are stored or otherwise
contained on a computer or other electronic system of information storage, whether by

independent service provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such
Information and Records shall forthwith give unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose

of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully copy all of the Information and Records
contained therein whether by way of printing the Information and Records onto paper or
making copies of computer disks or a bitmap image or such other manner of retrieving and

copying the Information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter,
erase or destroy any Information and Records without the prior written consent of the
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Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this Paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver
with all such assistance in gaining immediate access to the Information and Records as the
Receiver may in its discretion require including providing the Receiver with any and all access
codes, account names and account numbers that may be required to gain access to the
Information and Records.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any Court or tribunal
shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except with the written consent of the
Receiver or with leave of this Court.

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER’S LIABILITY

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result of
its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save and except for any
gross negligence or willful misconduct on its part.

RECEIVER’S ACCOUNT

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Plaintiff shall be responsible for the costs of the Receiver
costs and its counsel’s accounts without prejudice to the Plaintiff seeking to have such costs
paid by the Companies and/or by any and/or all of the Defendants in the event judgment is
obtained against any and / or all of them or subject to any further Order of the court. The
Plaintiff shall be responsible to pay the disbursement costs of the Defendants arising from
their compliance with this Order provided that (i) the disbursement costs would not ordinarily
be required to be paid by the Defendants under the Rules of Civil Procedure and (ii) that the
Defendants advise the Plaintiffs through their counsel of the estimated cost of the
disbursement prior to incurring it.
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SERVICE AND NOTICE

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that the electronic service shall be valid and effective service.
Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to

Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure.

GENERAL

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for

advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that either the Receiver or the Plaintiff may apply to the Court for

an Order terminating the investigative receivership.

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that Hummingbird Lawyers LLP be and are hereby authorized to act

as counsel for the Receiver in order to implement the Receiver’s powers herein.

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting as

a trustee in bankruptcy of the Companies.

16. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,

regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada to give effect to this Order

and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts,

tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such

orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this Court, as may be

necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in

carrying out the terms of this Order.

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that tire Receiver be at the liberty and is hereby authorized and

empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever

located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this

Order, and that the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as representative in respect

of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a

jurisdiction outside Canada.
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18. THIS COURT ORDERS that costs of this motion, up to and including entry and service of

this Order shall be reserved pending judgment in this proceeding or further Order of the Court.

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or amend
this Order on not less than seven (7) days’ notice to the Receiver and to any other party likely
affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order.

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that notwithstanding paragraph 19, this matter including
consideration of this Order shall be returnable at 10 a.m. on September 28, 2020, before this
Court.

Paul Schabas J.
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CIM International Group Inc.

Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and
For the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Table of Contents

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 1

Independent Auditor’s Report 2

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 3

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income (Loss) 4

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 5

6Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 7-30

368



39

Management’s Responsibility For Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements ofCIM International Group Inc. (the “Company” )and other
information contained in the Management's Discussion and Analysis are the responsibility of management and
have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. The accompanying consolidated financial
statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial
statements including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of
accounting principles and methods that are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances. The significant
accounting policies of the Company are summarized in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management has established processes, which are in place to provide them with sufficient knowledge to
support management representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the consolidated
financial statements do not contain any untrue statement of material factor omit to state a material fact required
to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which
it is made, as at and for the periods presented by the consolidated financial statements and (ii) the consolidated
financial statements fairly present in all materials respects the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of the Company, as at and for the periods presented by the consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting responsibilities
and for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements together with other information. An Audit
Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit Committee meets with
management to review the financial reporting process and the consolidated financial statements together
with other information of foe Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to foe Board of Directors for its
consideration in approving foe unaudited consolidated financial statements together with other financial information
of the Company for issuance tofoe shareholders.

Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its
activities.

(Signed ) "Jiubin Fens ”

Chief ExecutiveOfficer
(Signed ) "Dan Fuoco ”
Chief Financial Officer

Toronto, Ontario
April 30, 2018
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Deloitte Deloitte LLP
Bay Adelaide Centre
8 Adelaide Street West
Suite 200
Toronto ON M5H 0A9
Canada

Tel: 416-601-6150
Fax: 416-601-6151
www.deloitte.ca

Independent auditor's report
To the Shareholders of CIM International Group Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CIM International Group Inc. (the
"Company"), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2017
and 2016, and the consoliated statements of income and comprehensive income/(loss), consolidated
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December
31, 2017 and ten month period ended December 31, 2016, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement, An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements In order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of CIM International Group Inc. as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its Financial performance
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2017 and ten month period ended December 31, 2016
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
April 30, 2018
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

M alPiHfrmber 31. 2017 Mat Bmirtw SI 30!fi
ASSETS
Cuirent assets

Cash
Other receivables (Note 4)
Due from related parties (Note 15)
Prapamggpfenmia

$ 41,994 $
11,199

100,830
43,135

74,013
33,207

2,130,960
4,274

197,158 2,242,454
Non-current assets

Property and equipment (Note 6)
Investments (Note 7)
Investment in associates (Note 8)
Deferred tax asset (Note 111

100,511
11,261,490
5,566,763

281,922

126,432
11,777,850

2,000,000
109,678

17,210,686 14,013,960
$Total Assets 17,407,844 $ 16,256,414

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS* EQUITY
Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 15)
Due to related parties (Note 15)
Convertible debentures - current portion (Note 9)
Deferred gain (Note 7)
Financial lease payable - current portion (Note 10)

$ 521,770 $
4,665,871

597,178
2,972,274

180,000
1,581,762

15,358
1,658,020

16,932
6,862,593 5,346,572

Non-current liabilities
Deferred gain (Note 7)
Financial lease payable (Note 10)
Other liabilities (Note 3 (e))

228,778
10,095
63,846

1,220,128
27,761
63,846

302,719 1,311,735
7,165,312 6,658,307

Shareholders" Equity
Share capital (Note 12)
Other capital reserves (Note 13)
Other comprehensive loss (Note 7)
Deficit ___

^Total Shareholders" Equity

13,972,597
624,183

(269,828)
(4,084,420)

13,972,597
624,183

(357,373)
(4,641,300)
9,598,10710,242,532

Total Liabilities and Shareholders" Equity $ 17,407,844 $ 16,256,414

Subsequent events (Note 18)
The accompanying notes are an integralpart of these consolidated financial statements.
Approved by the Board of Directors:
(Signed) "Jiubin Feng"
Jiubin Feng, Director

(Signed) "Paul Lin*
Paul Lin, Director

3
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CIM International Group Inc,
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income / (Loss)

d in Canadian Dollars except for share and rm* share amounts'r

TDmonfh rWrf
tmi4d

3l± BHf OtwnlMf IL iOffr
Year ended

$Revenue (Notes 7 and 15)

Operating expenses
General and administrative (Note 15)
Share-based compensation (Notes 13 and 15)

Professional fees
Wages and benefits (Note 15)
Depreciation (Note 6)
Listing and filing fees

2,322,599 5 1.333 333

444,366 200,588
86,363

312,537
560,263
23,833
39,085

278,168
954,459
40,743
26,949

1,744,685 1,222,669

Gain on settlement of debt
Share of profit of associates (Note 8)
Interest expense

(163,937)
(55,063)
371,065 37,440

Total 1,896,750 1,260,109

Net income before income taxes
Income tax provision (Note 11)

425.849
(131,031)

556,880
87,545

73,224
(109,678)

Net income for the year
Fair value change of investment (Note 7)

182,902
(357,373)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year $ 644,425 $ (174,471)

Income Per Share - Post-Consolidation (Note 12)
Basic
Diluted

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares
- Post-Consolidation (Note 12)

Basic
Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

S 0.01 $
0.01 $

(0.00)
(0.00)$

46,132,616
46,505,878

37,957,453
38,330,175
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders1 Equity
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Other
Shares to be Capital

Share Capital issued Reserves

Other
Comprehensive
lncome/(Loss) Deficit

Total
Shareholders1

Equity / (Deficit)

$ 3,385,082 $ 596,172 $ 537,820 $Balance - March 1, 2016 $(4,624,202) $ (305,128)

Common shares issued (Note 12) 10,000,000 10,000,000

Private placement (Note 12) 596,172 (596,172)

Share issue costs (Note 12) (8.657) (8,657)

Share-based compensation (Note 13) 86,363 86,363

Change in fair value of investment (Note 7) (357,373) (357,373)

Net income for the period 182,902 182,902

$ 624,163 $ (357,373) $(4,641,300) $$13,972,597 $Balance - December 31, 2016 9,598,107

$13,972,597 $Balance •January1f 2017 $ 624,183 $ (357,373) $(4,641,300) $ 9,598,107

Change in fair value of investment (Note 7) B7,545 87,545

Net income for the year 556,880 556,880

r.
$13,972,597 $ $ 624,183 $ (269,828) $(4,084,420) $ 10,242,532Balance - December 31, 2017

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Year Ended
December 31, 2017

Ten Months Ended
December 31, 2016

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Add (deduct) non-cash items :

Share-based compensation (Note 13)
Share of profit of associates (Note 8)
Depreciation
Gain on settlement of debt
Interest expense
Income tax provision

Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Balances
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deposit payable
Due to related parties (Note 15)
Due from related parties (Note 15)
Deferred gain (Note 7)

556,880 $$ 182,902

86,363
(55,063)
40,743

163,937
350,683

(131,031)

23,833

37,440
(109,678)

53,464
(4,274)

142,661
(36,000)
922,274

(930,960)
666,667

22,008
(38,861)

(569,846)

493,597
2,030,130

1,034,6922,863,177Cash provided by operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investments (Note 7)
Investments in associates (Note 8)
Loan receivable
Property and equipment

(352,400)
(2,311,500) (2,000,000)

(1,200,000)
(98,697)(14,822)

(3,298,697)(2,678,722)Cash used In Investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loan payable advanced (Note 15)
Share issue costs
Finance lease payments
Convertible debentures repaid (Note 9)
Interest payment

2,000,000
(8,657)
(3,192)

(50,000)
(22,400)

(16,092)
(180,000)
(20,382)

(216,474) 1,915,751Cash (used in ) provided byfinancing activities
(32,019)
74,013

(348,253)
422,266

Decrease in cash in the year
Cash - Beginning of year

74,013Cash - End of year $ 41,994 5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
The Company and Business Operations

CIM International Group Inc. (the '"Company") is a Canadian company incorporated pursuant to the provisions of the
laws of the Province of Ontario on February 18, 2010. On May 27, 2010, the Company was listed as a Capital Pool
Company (“ CPC” ) as defined pursuant to Policy 2.4 ("Policy 2.4") of the TSX Venture Exchange (“ TSXV”). On
April 29, 2016, the Company officially changed its name to CIM International Group Inc. and de-listed its shares from
the Toronto Stock Exchange, which was approved by the shareholders of the Company on April 8, 2016 at the
Company’s Annual and Special Meeting. In connection with the Transaction, as described below, ttie Company
completed the process to list its Common Shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the "CSE") in accordance
with the CSE’s listing requirements effective on May 2, 2016 and its commons shares began trading on May 9, 2016
on the CSE Exchange. The Company is now classified as a "Diversified Industries" issuer company. The registered
address of the Company is 55 Commerce Valley Drive West, Suite 502, Markham, Ontario, Canada, L3T 7V9.
Share Consolidation and Chanue of Business

Effective April 29 2016, the Company completed the securities exchange (the "Transaction") involving CIM
Development (Markham) LP ("CIM LP” ), CIM Investment & Development LP, Global King Inc., and Shang Titlist
Investment Inc. ( the three foregoing entities referred to collectively as the "CIM Parties") and acquired 10,000,000
Class A non-voting units in a new limited partnership named CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership in exchange
for 40,000,000 consolidated common shares in the capital of the Company at a deemed price of $0.25 per consolidated
share on a post-consolidated basis totaling $10,000,000. Shareholders of the Company overwhelmingly supported and
approved the Transaction and related matters at the Annual and Special Meeting of the shareholders held on April 8,
2016,

Upon the closing of the Transaction (Note 12) on April 29,2016, the Company consolidated its issued and outstanding
shares on the basis of five pre-consolidation Common Shares for each one post-consolidation Common Share which
resulted in a total of 3,732,616 shares issued and outstanding as at April 29, 2016. The 5:1 ratio consolidation of the
Common Shares was approved by the shareholders of the Company on April 8, 2016 and was also approved by
regulatory authorities. Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic and diluted and share capital transactions
are presented on the post consolidated basis.

The Transaction resulted in a change of business ("Change of Business") for the Company which became a
"Diversified Industries" company on the CSE Exchange.

2.BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements, for the year ended December 31, 2017, including comparative figures for the
ten months ended December 31, 2016, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS” ) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“1ASB” ).

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017 were approved and
authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on April 27, 2018.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of
available-for-sale investments.
Functional Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

3- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all group entities and for all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements.

a) Basis of Consolidation
i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over an entity,
exposure or rights to variable returns from the Company's involvement with the entity, and the ability to use its
power over the entity to affect the amount of the Company’s returns. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its
subsidiaries.

ii) Associate

Where the Company has the power to significantly influence but not control the financial and operating policy
decisions of another entity, it is classified as an associate. Associates are initially recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the Company's
share of the net assets of the associate, under the equity' method of accounting. The Company's share of post-
acquisition profits and losses is recognized in the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive
income/floss), except that losses in excess of the Company's investment in the associate are not recognized unless
there is a legal or constructive obligation to recognize such losses. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Company’s share of profits is recognized only after the Company’s share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognized.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Company and its associates are recognized only to the extent
of unrelated investor’s interests in the associate. The investor's share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting
from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Company’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalized and included in the carrying amount of the Company’s investment
in an associate. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the
carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 317 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Inter-company balances, transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated Financial statements.

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of
the Company’s interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains,
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
The consolidated financial statements include material companies:

Principal
activities

Country of % Equity Interest
incorporation

Investment Banking
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate

Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada

CIM Capital Inc.
CIM Development LP
CIM Homes Inc.
CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP
CIM Port McNicolt
Holding LP

100.0%
21.0%
20.0%
27.3%
30.0%Canada

b) Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and readily convertible demand deposits and are subject to an insignificant risk of change
in fair value. Cash is invested in a commercial bank accounts in a major Canadian Chartered Bank in Canada.
c) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized by reference to the completion of the contract of the service
provided in the period.

Investment income

Income from investments is recognized when the right to receive payment has been established provided that the
economic benefits will flow the Company and the amount of the income can be measured reliably.
d) Mining Exploration Costs

The Company records its interest in its mining properties at cost, less impairment, in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Exploration and development costs relating to these interests are capitalized until the properties, to
which they relate are placed into production, are sold, or allowed to lapse. Management reviews the carrying values
of the mining properties on a quarterly basis to determine whether any indicator of impairment exists. These costs will
be amortized over the useful life of the mining properties following commencement of commercial production or
expensed through the statement of income and comprehensive income (loss) if the mining properties or projects are
sold or allowed to lapse. General expenditures not related to specifically mining properties are expensed as incurred
in the statement of income and comprehensive income (loss).
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Impairment

For mining exploration costs, indicators of impairment would include expiration of a right to explore, no budgeted or
planned material expenditure in an area, or a decision to discontinue exploration in a specific area. The Company
assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that mining exploration costs may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in a statement of income and comprehensive income (loss)
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. Impairment losses recognized in prior
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

0 Flow-Through Shares

The Company will, from time to time, issue flow-through shares to finance a portion of its exploration programs.
Pursuant to the terms of these flow-through shares, the Company agrees to incur qualifying expenditures and renounce
the tax deductions associated with these qualifying expenditures to the subscribers of the flow-through shares at an
agreed upon date.

The excess of cash consideration received over the market price of the Company’s shares at the date of the
announcement of the flow-through share financing is recorded as a liability which is extinguished when the tax effect
of the temporary differences, resulting from the renunciation, is recorded. The difference between the liability and the
value of the tax assets renounced is recorded as a deferred tax expense in the statement of income and comprehensive
income (loss).

A deferred tax liability is recognized for the taxable temporary difference that arises from the difference between the
carrying amount of eligible expenditures that are capitalized to exploration and evaluation assets and their tax basis.
If the Company has sufficient tax assets to offset the deferred tax liability, the liability will be offset by the recognition
of a corresponding deferred tax asset.

g) Property and equipment

Property and equipment assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognized in consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income (loss) and is provided on
a straight-line basis using the following rates:

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

Over 5 years
Over 3 years

Over the term of the lease
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if
appropriate.

h) Income Taxes

Current Income Taxes

Income tax in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented
comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of income and comprehensive income
(loss) except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at year end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous periods.

Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred tax is recorded using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of
deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the financial position reporting date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced
to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

i) Earnings or Loss per Share

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are calculated using the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. The dilutive effect on earnings (loss) per share is calculated presuming the exercise of
outstanding options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise would be used to
repurchase common shares at the average market price during the year.
However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of options
and warrants that would be anti-dilutive. Shares held in escrow, other than where their release is subject to the passage
of time, are not included in the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.

j) Share-Based Payment Transactions

The Company accounts for share-based compensation expense using the fair value based method with respect to all
share-based payments to directors, employees and non-employees, including awards that are direct awards of stock
and call for settlement in cash or other assets, or stock appreciation rights that call for settlement by the issuance of
equity instruments. Fair Value is calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model and is based on model
variables including interest rates, expected life, expected volatility, expected dividends, expected forfeitures and share
prices. For directors and employees, the fair value of the options is measured at the grant date.
For non-employees, the fair value of the options is measured on the earlier of the date at which the counterparty
performance is completed or the date the performance commitment is reached or the date at which the equity
instruments are granted if they are fully vested and non-forfeitable. Under this standard, share-based payments are
recorded as an expense over the vesting period or when the awards or rights are granted, with a corresponding increase
to other capital reserves under shareholders5 equity. When stock options are exercised, the corresponding fair value is
transferred from other capital reserves to share capital.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

k) Share Issuance Costs

Costs directly incurred in connection with the issuance of common shares, such as legal fees and finder’s fees, are
recorded as a charge against share capital.
L) Share Purchase Warrants

When the Company issues common shares and non-transferable share purchase warrants, the Company follows the
relative fair value method of accounting for warrants attached to and issued with common shares of the Company.
Under this method, the fair value of warrants issued is estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The
relative fair value ascribed to the warrants is determined based on total proceeds received applied pro-rata to the fair
of the issued common shares at the transaction date and the fair value of the warrants issued therewith.
m) Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity. Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently
accounted for based on their classification as described below.

The classification of financial assets and liabilities depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were
acquired and their characteristics. Except in very limited circumstances, the classification is not changed subsequent
to initial recognition .

For regular way purchases and sales (a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned), financial assets are recognized on a trade-date basis, when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets
have expired or been transferred, and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts, and the Company intends
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
At initial recognition, the Company classified its financial instruments in the following categories:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ( *'FVTPL"): Financial assets classified at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized both initially and subsequently at fair value. Upon initial recognition, attributable
transaction costs are recognized in profit and loss as incurred. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
presented in the statement of income and comprehensive income (loss) in the year in which they arise. Financial
assets at fair value through profit or toss are classified as current except for the portion expected to be realized or paid
beyond 12 months of the statement of financial position date, which is classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets pertain to the Company’s other receivables due from related
parties and are recognized initially at the amount expected to be received, less any provisions to reduce the loans and
receivables to fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less impairment losses, if any.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities, due to related parties, deferred gain, financial lease payable and are initially
recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when significant, a provision to reduce the payables to fair value.
Subsequently, such financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement and the appropriate reporting standard.

Available for SaIe(uAFS'*) financial assets: Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are
classified as AFS financial assets. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value generally recognized in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the AFS reserve. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.
Purchases and sales of AFS financial assets are recognized on settlement date with any change in fair value between
trade date and settlement date being recognized in the AFS reserve. On sale, the cumulative gain or loss recognized
in other comprehensive income is reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss).
Effective interest method: The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument asset
or liability and allocates interest income or cost over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments over the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than
those financial assets classified as FVTPL.

Convertible debentures: The component parts of compound instruments (convertible debentures) issued by the
Company are classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion options that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company's own
equity instruments is an equity instrument

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for
similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost basis using the
effective interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument's maturity date.

Tile conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognized and included in equity, net of income tax effects,
and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until
the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognized in equity will be transferred to share capital.

When die conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity' date of the convertible note, the balance recognized
in equity will be transferred to contributed surplus. No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of income and
comprehensive income (loss) upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are recognized
directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the
liability component and are amortized over the lives of the convertible notes using the effective interest method.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31 , 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Impairment: A financial asset carried at amortized cost is considered impaired if objective evidence indicates that one
or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flow of that asset that can be estimated reliably.
Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis* The remaining financial assets are
assessed at the cash generating unit which occurs at the mineral property level. An impairment loss in respect of a
financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. In assessing collective
impairment* the Company uses historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and die amount of
loss incurred, adjusted for management's judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that
the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

n) Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one part)' has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. Related party transactions were made on
terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions and are made only if such terms can be substantiated.
o) Lease Liabilities
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the contractual
arrangement at inception date, including whether the arrangement contains the use of a specific asset and the right to
use that asset. Where the Company receives substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, these
arrangements are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are recorded as an asset with a corresponding liability at
an amount equal to the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated beLween die liability and finance costs using the effective interest method, with the
interest element of the lease charged to the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income (loss) as a
finance cost. Capital assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset
and the lease term.
All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized in the consolidated
statement of income and comprehensive income (loss) on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

p) Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period, and the assessment and disclosure of contingencies, if any. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

\) Estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are
recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Information about critical
estimates and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in these consolidated-financial statements is included in the following items:
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Convertible Debentures

The Company measures the discount rate used to determine the fair value of the debt component by reference to
interest rate, charged to companies with debt issuances without a conversion feature.

Stock Options and Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures the fair value of stock options granted to officers, directors, employees and agents using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model which incorporates the assumptions regarding the expected life of the stock
option, volatility, dividend yield, and risk-free rates. The Company is required to calculate the fair value of these stock
options at the date of issuance.

Financial Instruments

The Company makes estimates with respect to the valuation of level 3 investment classified as available for sale.
Income Taxes

In assessing the probability of realizing deferred income tax assets, management makes estimates related to
expectation of future taxable income, applicable tax opportunities, expected timing of reversals of existing temporary
differences and the likelihood that tax positions taken will be sustained upon examination by applicable tax authorities.
In making its assessments, management gives additional weight to evidence that can be objectively verified.
ii) Critical Accounting Judgments

Impairment

Management is required to use judgment to review the carrying values of the mining properties on a quarterly basis
to determine whether any impairment exists based on assumptions of current and future events or circumstances.
Estimates and assumptions may change if new information becomes available. If after the expenditures are capitalized
and information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the carrying values is unlikely, the amount
capitalized is written-off to the statement of income and comprehensive income (loss) during the year that the new
information becomes available.
Convertible Debentures

The Company applies judgment in determining the appropriate accounting treatment for convertible debt issued. The
Company reviews the relevant agreements and determines if any embedded derivatives (other than the conversion
feature) exist in the arrangement. The Company then reviews the terms of the conversion feature to determine if it
should be classified as a liability or as a component of equity. For the convertible debt issued during the year, the
Company determined that there were no other embedded derivatives and that the conversion feature should be
classified as a component of equity.

Going Concern

Management uses its judgment in determining whether the Company is able to continue as a going concern. Critical
considerations take into account all available information about the future viability of anticipated return on its real
estate investments and recoverability of such investments, the availability of capital financing, current -working capital
funds, market price of real estate, and the future commitment and obligations. Management has asserted that the
Company is a going concern and that no material uncertainty exists as at December 31, 2017 (See Note 14)
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Classification of financial instruments

The Company makes judgments with respect to the classification of its investment.

Recent and Future Changes Accounting Pronouncements

Newly Applied Accounting Standards

The following new and revised standards and interpretations and amendments were adopted as of January 1, 2017:

IAS 12-Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses; and

IAS 7-Disclosure Initiative.

The adoption of these amendments did not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial
statements.
Accounting standards issued but not yet effective

i ;

The Company has reviewed the following new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are
not yet effective.

IFRS 9- Financial instruments

IFRS 9, “ Financial instruments'1 (IFRS 9) was issued by Che IASB on July 24, 2014, and will replace IAS 39,
“ Financial instruments: recognition and measurement” (IAS 39). IFRS 9 utilizes a single approach to determine
whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value and a new mixed measurement model for debt
instruments having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an
entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets. Final amendments released on July 24, 2014, also introduce a new expected
loss impairment model and limited changes to the classification and measurement requirements for financial assets.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

The Company determined no impact from this standard on its consolidated financial statements. The new standard is
based on the concept that financial assets should be classified and measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognized in profit and loss as they arise. The Company’s financial assets have already been measured at fair value.

The Company had no debt instruments.
IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15, “ Revenue from Contracts and Customers” (IFRS 15) was issued by the IASB on May 28, 2014, and will
replace IAS 18, “ Revenue” , IAS 11, “ Construction Contracts” , and related interpretations on revenue. IFRS 15 sets
out the requirements for recognizing revenue that apply to all contracts with customers, except for contracts that are
within the scope of the standards on leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. IFRS 15 uses a control
based approach to recognize revenue which is a change from the risk and reward approach under the current standard.
Companies can elect to use either a full or modified retrospective approach when adopting this standard and It is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The new IFRS 15 standard is not expected to have
a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as it currently does not have revenue generating
contracts.
IFRS 16 -Leases
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IFRS 16, “ Leases” (IFRS 16) was issued by the IASB on January 13, 2016 and will replace IAS 17 “ Leases” , IFRS
16 will bring most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction between
operating and financing leases. Lessor accounting remains largely unchanged. The new standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, The new IFRS 16 standard is not expected to have a material impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

4.OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 3 L 2017 December 3 L 2016

S 11,199 $ 10,897
10,932- 11.378

Quebec tax credit for resources
HST taxes receivable and other
Cost recovery

Total $ 11.199 t 33.207

During the ten-month period ended December 31, 2016, the Company received a Quebec mining tax credit refund of
$50,560 from the Quebec Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Natural Resources related to the February 28, 2014
year-end. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company charged $nil ($ 11,378 - 2016) to a non-related
entity for office rent.

5.MINING EXPLORATION COSTS

During the ten month period ended December 31, 2016, the Company terminated the Option Agreement with the
holders with respect to the Hebecourt Property and is no longer bound by the terms, conditions, commitments or
obligations of the Option Agreement, As of December 31, 2017, the Company has no obligations, commitments or
liabilities of any kind going forward with respect to this mining property.

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
December 31.2017 December 31.2016

Office equipment and furniture
Computer equipment and software
Leasehold improvements
Software
Total
Accumulated depreciation

$ 102,246
28,733
19,286

$ 104,346
33,955
19,286
7.500

165,087
(64.576)

150,265
(23.833)

Net book value S 100.511 $ 126.432

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired a total of $14,822 of property and equipment
assets ($98,697 - Dec 31, 2016) and did not dispose of any property and equipment assets in the year ended December
31, 2017 ($Nil - Dec 31, 2016).

1. INVESTMENTS
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

tVcttidxj It. 2<1)7 IkIJIIILI I I 'sm
i IftWMOttO

jauuti
$ 11,777,850Investment in CIM Mackenzie Creek LP-Fair value

Investment in Victoria House Retirement Home-Fair value

l n Itvl WO i 4 1 r~ jTotal

Investmentin CtM Mackenzie Creek LP

As disclosed in Note 1, the Company completed the Transaction. The Company measured $10 million investment in
CIM Mackenzie Creek LP at fair value both at the transaction date and as of December 31, 2016. The fair value of the
investment at the transaction date was $12,745,286 which resulted in a day one level three gain of $2,745,286 which
is to be recognized through profit and loss over time and any changes in fair value only to the extent that it arises from
a change in factors that market participants would take into account in accordance with IAS 39 should be recognized
through Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).
The Company recorded income of $1,333,333 partially relating to the amortization of the deferred gain of $610,064,
and partially relating the income earned on that investment of $723,270. The change in the fair value attributable to
Other Comprehensive Income was $357,373.
The investment was initially designated upon inception as available for sale and recorded at fair value of $12,745,286.
This resulted in a day 1 gain of $ 2,745,286 which was deferred and will be recognized into profit and loss over the
term of the investment. This resulted in $610,064 being recognized in income for the ten-month period ended
December 31, 2016. At December 31, 2016, the fair value of the investment was $11,777,850.
The Company recognized $723,270 in income, and unrealized gains and losses of $357,372 recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company received cash $2 million during ten-month period ended December 31,
2016 and as a result of, the Company recorded a deferred gain of $666,667.

Ai tit Lki -imljq U - 3PI7
The Company recorded income of $2,000,000 consisting of the amortization of the deferred gain of $915,095 and
income earned on that investment of $1,084,905. The change in the fair value of the investment attributable to Other
Comprehensive Income was an increase of $46,332 for the year, See also Note 11.

In calculating the fair value, management was required to make several assumptions concerning, but not limited to,
cash flows and discount rates. All assumptions resulted in a fair value that is considered within the level 3 category of
the fair value hierarchy. In particular, the Company used a discounted cash flow approach in the determination of the
fair value which utilized cash flow projections based on financial forecasts prepared by Company management
covering a 3-year period and a discount rate of 10%.

Investment in Victoria House Retirement Home
During the year, the Company invested in the "Victoria House Retirement Home (“ Victoria House” ), a retirement
home located in Orillia, Ontario. CIM invested $352,400 directly in the common shares of Canadian China Ageing
Development Inc. (“ CCAD” ) representing 8.045% of CCAD’s shares. CCAD is the facilities manager of the Victoria
House. This investment was initially designated upon inception as “ available for sale” and recorded at fair value. Due
to its recent purchase, the Company kept the investment at cost which approximates the fair value.
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8, INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
l A n PwattHfag3i.attfl

$ 2,000,000 $ 2,000,000
1,500,000

55,263
2.011.S0Q *

(a) Investment in CIM Development LP
(b) Investment in CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP
(c) Investment in CIM Homes Inc.
(d) Investment in CIM Port McNicoll Holding LP

Net Equity ft jUtth /Tr,3 $ JUKIIMJU

(a) On November 28, 2016, the Company invested in the Valleyview Garden residential real estate project located at
3000-3020 Kennedy Road in Scarborough, Ontario. The Valleyview Garden Project is a 4.3 acres site of developable
residential real estate land in the City of Toronto. The development proposal application, which has been submitted
to the City of Toronto, is for 42 freehold newly constructed single detached residential housing units. The Company
invested in limited partnership units in the capital of CIM Development LP, which beneficially owns the Valleyview
Garden real estate project, representing a 21% interest in the limited partnership, at an investment cost of $2 million.
This project is progressing with all the various processes and approvals required for the development of the project.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the CIM Development LP on a gross basis includes the following:

$ 3,357,373
21,153,606

(510,979)
n 4.ftna.ooo)

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net Equity

S 6,581,534
19,064,543
(1,646,077)

n4.500.000i
ft m̂ . niki

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $nil of associate’s post-acquisition profit and loss.

(b) On May 23, 2017, the Company invested in the '’Bur Oak1' residential and commercial real estate project located
at 6910 Hwy 7 and Ninth Line in Markham, Ontario. The Bur Oak project is a 3-Phase project on a 20-acre site which
is planned to include 140 residential townhouses, 575 condominium units and 50,000 sq. feet of commercial space in
separate developments over a 6-year timeframe. The Company invested $1.2 million, which was transferred from a
loan receivable of $1,200,000 in the account, directly in limited partnership units in the capital of CIM Hwy 7 Holding
LP, and which effectively represents a 27.3% interest in the Bur Oak project. This project is moving forward with
all the various studies, processes and approvals required for the development of the project.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP on a gross basis includes the following:

$ 853,840 $
4,846,368
(200,208)

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net equity $

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $nil of associate’s post-acquisition profit and loss.
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(c) During the year, the Company invested in 20% of CIM Homes Inc. by acquiring 200 common shares issued at $1
per share. CIM Homes Inc. is a real estate development company which develops both residential and commercial
real estate projects. Its principal activities include identifying new development acquisitions, creating partnerships that
maximize the value of the real estate portfolio, and seeks to capitalize on real estate development opportunities in the
Greater Toronto Area and in the Southern Ontario region.
As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, CIM Homes Inc. on a gross basis includes the following;

tTmnjirir *fiTT HUII
$ 334,440 “ S

1,077,772
(1,144,854)

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net equity $

D:«"r;nilr--:r • . JOs 7 December 3h 2016
$ 684,000

(408,687)
$ 275.313

$Revenues
Expenses
Net income for the year $

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $55,063 of associated post-acquisition profit

(d) During the year, the Company invested in the Port McNicoll residential real estate project located near the town
of Port McNicoll, Ontario on the southern shore of Georgian Bay. The project is in the development stage on a 1,126-
acre site which is planned to include up to 1,500 residential homes. The Company invested $2,011,500, in limited
partnership units in the capital of Port McNicoll Holding LP, and which effectively represents a 30.0% interest in the
Port McNicoll project.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the CIM Port McNicoll Holding LP on a gross basis includes the following:

" !. u *imi
$ 343,656 $

6,596,163
(234,819)

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net Equity $

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recorded $nil of associate’s post-acquisition profit and loss

9. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
11 Hit" |>rmjA ’ 1 : . te!(j

% 280,000
noo.ooo)

Balance- beginning of year
Less: principal repaid in the year

$ 180,000
tl80.0001

1 1 ftLQOb$Balance-end of year
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On December 5, 2013, the Company issued convertible debentures with a face value of $280,000 through a non-
brokered private placement financing. The convertible debentures bore interest at a rate of 8% per annum paid semi-
annually during May and November each year, were unsecured, and with a maturity date of December 5, 2016.
Each debenture was convertible into common shares of the Company at the holder's option at any time prior to the
maturity date at a conversion price of $1.75 per common share (post-consolidation). The convertible debentures were
compound financial instruments consisting of the debt instrument and the equity component feature. The debt
instrument was recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest method at an annual discount rate of 10.28%
over the life of the debenture of three years.

The gross proceeds were allocated between the debt instrument in the amount of $265,371 and to the equity component
for $14,629. The accreted interest for the debenture for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $Nil (December 31,
2016: $12,522). Effective December 5, 2016, a total of $50,000 in principal of the convertible debentures were repaid
and $50,000 was settled against an amount due to a related company. A total of $180,000 in principal of the convertible
debentures were extended for a term of one year to December 5, 2017 with all other terms and conditions remaining
unchanged.
In December 2017, the balance of $180,000 in principal of the convertible debentures and the accrued interest of
$14,400 for the year were repaid in full.

10. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLE

December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016

$Finance Lease payable
Less: Current portion

$27,027
16.932

43,119
15.358

Finance lease payable - Long term portion $ 10.095 $ 27.761

The finance lease payable bears interest at rates of up to 13.9% per annum, are repayable in monthly instalments of
principal and interest of $1,599 are secured by capital assets and mature up to September 2019.
As at December 31, 2017, the committed present value repayments of the finance lease on a fiscal year basis are as
follows:

2018 $ 16,932
10.0952019

$Total 27.027

1 L INCOME TAXES
a) Income tax expense

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would result from applying the Canadian federal and provincial
income tax rates to earnings from continuing operations before taxes. These differences result from the following:

December 31, 2017 December 31.2016
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S 425.849 i 73.224Income before taxes

Canadian statutory federal and provincial income tax rates 26.5% 26.5%

$ 19,404$ 112,850Income tax provision based on Canadian income tax rates

Non-deductible expenses
Pre-acquisition of control
Non-taxable portion of partnership draw
Other
Non-recognition of tax attributes

Income tax recovery

24,983
22,601

6,083

(265,000)
15,036

(176.6661

% ( 109.6781$ ( 131.0311

b) Deferred tax assets (liabilities)

Balance
March 1, 2017

Recognized Recognized in
Other Comprehensive

Income

Balance
December 31,

2017
in

Income

$ $ 558,728
6,707

1283-5231

Non-capital losses
Share issuance cost
Investment
Mackenzie Creek LP
Total

$ 298,412
15,696

(204.430)

$ 260,326
(8,989)

(120.305) 41.212CIMin

$ 28 L922£ 109.678 & (131.031) $ 41212

c) Non-recognized net deductible temporary differences
The Company has total deductible temporary differences in total of $3.9 million (Dec 31, 2016: $4.0 million) for
which no deferred tax asset has been recognized, comprised as follows:

December 31 .2017 December 31 .2016

$ 776,873 $ 776,873
97,792

3.198.444

Mine exploration costs
Share issuance costs
Non-capital losses 3-207.761

$ 3.984.643 S 4.073.109Total

(i) As per Note 1, the Company underwent a securities exchange, which resulted in a change of control. As a result,
the non-capital losses and mine exploration costs pre-acquisition are restricted in use. The Company has not
recognized deductible temporary differences on these properties.
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d) Loss carry-forwards

As at December 31, 2017, the Company has available non-capital losses in Canada of $5.3 million related
specifically to its mining business that if not utilized will expire as follows:

$ 298,251
413,076
518,729
441,280
860,411
666,697
978,457

1,129,987

2031 (Restricted)
2032 (Restricted)
2033 (Restricted)
2034 (Restricted)
2035 (Restricted)
2036 (Restricted)
2037
2038

S 5.306.888
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12* SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized - Unlimited common shares with no par value

Issued, fully paid and outstanding Number of Shares
(Post -Consolidation) Amount

3.732.616Balance, March 1, 2016
Shares issued in the year - Transaction (Note 1)
Shares issued in the year - Concurrent financing
Less: Share issue costs
Balance, December 31, 2016

$ 3385.082
40,000,000

2,400,000
10,000,000

596,172
(8.6571

$ 13.972.59746.132,616

$ 13,972,597Balance, January 1 and December 31, 2017 46,132,616

On April 29, 2016, the Company completed a concurrent private placement financing for gross proceeds of $600,000
which was received during the year ended February 2016 of which transaction costs of $3,828 were recorded against
shares to be issued as of February 29, 2016 consisting of 2,400,000 post-consolidation shares at $0.25 per common
share, as required in order to meet CSE listing requirements in connection with the Transaction.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, share issue costs recorded against share capital included professional fees
and other fees of $Ni1 (December 31, 2016:$8,657).

Income (Loss) Per Share

The income (loss) per share for the current period and for the comparative period, for both basic and diluted, has been
presented on a post-consolidation basis taking into effect the 5:1 ratio share consolidation that was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on April 8, 2016. The dilutive effect on earnings (loss) per share is calculated presuming
the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise
would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the year. However, the calculation of
diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of options and warrants that would be
anti-dilutive.

s

13. OTHER CAPITAL RESERVES

a) Stock Options

The Company established an incentive stock option plan (the “ Plan'*) pursuant to which the Company may, from
time to time, at the discretion of the directors to grant options to the directors, officers, technical consultants and
employees of the Company to purchase common shares, provided that the number of common shares reserved for
issuance will not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares. The number of common shares
reserved for issuance to any individual director, officer or employee will not exceed five percent (5%) of the issued
and outstanding common shares, and will not exceed two percent (2%) for all technical consultants.
The stock options activity during the year ended December 31, 2017 and the ten-month period ended December
31, 2016 is summarized below:
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Weighted
Average Exercise

Price
Number of

Stock Options
STOCK OPTIONS

Balance, March 1, 2016 736,931 $0.26

Granted in the period 373,262 $0,375

Cancelled or expired in the period (736,931) ($0.26)

Balance, December 31, 2016 373,262 $0,375

Balance, January 1 and December 31, 2017 373,262 $0,375

During the period ended December 31, 2016, a total of 736,931 stock options which were granted between August
2012 and April 2014 to Directors and Officers of the Company were cancelled and an amount of $155,292
representing the portion of the fair value attributable to these stock options was transferred to contributed surplus
within the other capital reserves account.
On April 29, 2016, the Board of Directors granted a total of 373,262 stock options to certain directors and officers
exercisable into common shares at a price of $0,375 per share expiring April 29, 2019 and were fully vested upon
issuance. The fair value of the stock options granted was $86,363 and was calculated using the Black Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions; (i)dividend yield of 0%; (ii) expected volatility of 100.00%;
(iii) risk free rate of 0.60%; and (iv) expected life of 3 years and a forfeimre rate of 0%.

As at December 31, 2017, there were a total of 373,262 (December 31, 2016 - 372,262) vested stock options
outstanding and the weighted average contractual life remaining of the balance of the outstanding stock options is
1,33 years (December 31, 2016: 2.33 years).

b) Other Capital Reserves
Amount

Balance, February 29, 2016 and December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2017 <121 ItP
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value

At December 31,2017, the carrying value of bank overdraft, other receivables (excluding HST) and due from related
parties, accounts payables and accrued liabilities, due to related parties, approximates their carrying value due to the
short-term nature of these financial instruments.The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is based on Level 1 inputs.
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 1 are determined by reference to quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following provides a description of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at
fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset
or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

As at December 31, 2017, the Company's investments are measured as fair value and categorized level 3 fair value
hierarchy as disclosed in note 7.

Capital Management

The Company’s capital management objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue to operate as a going concern.
The Company considers items included in shareholder's equity to be capital. Its principal sources of cash are from the
issuance of common shares and funding from related parties. The Board of Directors monitors the Company's capital
position regularly. The Company docs not have any externally imposed capital requirements to which it is subject.
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may
issue new shares from time to time.

Risk Management

The Company is exposed to financial risks due to the nature of its business operations and the financial assets and
liabilities it holds. The Company’s primary risk management objective is to safeguard its cash flows, and to maintain
a strong and efficient capital structure to provide liquidity to support continued asset growth.

The management of the Company monitors its overall cash position on a regular basis and forecasts its financial
obligations so that it is able to meet these commitments. The Board of Directors meets regularly to review business
operations, reviews of cash positions and budgets, monitors the status of its real estate investments, reviews
compliance with contracts and commitments, and compliance with regulatory authorities.
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A summary of the Company’s risk exposures as it relates to financial instruments are reflected below:

a) Market risk - Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow from a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk. The Company believes that it is exposed to price risk related to real
estate.

b) Credit risk - Credit risk arises from cash and deposits with banks and financial institutions, and accounts
receivables. To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instalments with a high credit quality
financial institution, and monitors accounts receivable balances on a monthly basis for collectability.

c) Interest rate risk - The Company is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk as it has no significant
long-term investments except as disclosed in Note 7 which would be subject to material interest rate
fluctuations.

d) Currency risk - The Company operates in Canada and conducts its business operations in Canadian dollars
only. As a result, the Company no foreign currency exposure with respect to its transactions denominated in
Canadian dollars

e) Liquidity risk - Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due. The Company currently settles its financial obligations out of cash. The ability to do this relies
on the Company raising equity and debt financing in a timely manner and by maintaining sufficient cash in
excess of anticipated needs subject to certain restrictions imposed by the CSE. It is anticipated that the
Company’s existing cash balances, cash flow from operations, advances from related parties and debt
financing will be sufficient to fund operations for the next twelve months. Refer to subsequent events note
IS whereby the Company raised a total of $4,890,000 gross proceeds from the issuance of three-year term
secured debentures.

All Company’s financial liabilities except for as disclosed in note 10, are due within three months to one year.

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2017 and ten months ended December 31, 2016, the following are the related
party transactions:

a) Due from related parties:
December 31, 20 ) 7 December 31, 2016

CIM Highway 7 Holding LP
CIM Homes Inc.
Rent cost and salaries recovery

S $ 1,200,000
800,000
130,960100.830

Total $ 2.130.960100,830
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b) Due to related parties
December 31. 2017 December 31, 2016

$ 1,000,000
3,663,327

2.544

SCIM Homes Marketing Inc.
Bayview Creek CIM LP
CIM Global Development LP

50,000
2,922.274

$ 2.972.274$ 4.665.871Total

As at December 31, 2017, the Company owes CIM Home Marketing Inc. Inc., a related company, $1,000,000
which is a 20% annual interest rate short-term loan payable on demand and is presented as "Due to related
parties ' 1 on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
is related to an officer and director of this company.

i.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company owes Bayview Creek CIM LP., a related company, $3,663,327 which
is a 20% annual interest rate short-term loan payable on demand and is presented as "Due to related parties"
on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an
interest in related companies.
As at December 31, 2017, the Company owes CIM Global Development LP., a related company, $2,544
which non-interest short-term loan payable on demand and is presented as "Due to related parties" on the
Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest
in related companies.

c) During the ten month period ended December 31, 2016, the Company acquired 10,000,000 Class A non-voting
units in CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership (Note 7), where Chief Executive Officer and a director of the
Company have an interest in companies related to Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership.

it.

iii.

d) During the ten month period ended December 31, 2016, the Company acquired a 21% interest in CIM
Development Limited Partnership (Note 8) where the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest in
related companies.

e) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired a 27.3% interest in CIM Hwy 7 Holding
Limited Partnership (Note 8) where the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest in related
companies.

f) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired a 30% interest in CIM Port McNicoll Holding
Limited Partnership (Note 8) where the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest in related
companies.

g) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company earned accounting and financial services totaling
$255,000 charged to related companies (2016 - $nil).

h) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company charged related companies for the recovery of operating
expenses totaling $136,793 (2016 - $130,960).
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

i) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred interest expense totaling $350,683 to related
companies (2016 - $nil)

j) Key management includes the Company’s directors, officers and any employees with authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly.
A summary of the key management compensation comprises the following:

December 3 K 2017 December 3 K 2016

Salaries and benefits
Stock-based compensation

$ 423,803
45.017

524,354 S

Total $ S524.354 468.820

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a) Hebecourt Project
During the period ended December 31, 2016, the Company terminated the Agreement with the holders with respect
to the Hebecourt Property and is no longer bound by the terms, conditions, commitments or obligations of the
Agreement. In addition, the Company will have no obligations, commitments or liabilities of any kind going forward.
b) Lease Commitment

The Company is committed to the following rental payments as at December 31, 2017:

Rent Amount

Less than 1 year
Greater thanl and less than 5 years
Greater than 5 years

$ 267,742
644,723

Total Commitment $ 912.464

The Company expects to recover approximately $167,000 of this commitment from related companies.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017 and for the Ten Months Ended December 31, 2016
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

17. SEGMENT

The Company currently operates in one business segment, which is real estate development for which all operating
activities are conducted within Canada.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had $16,828,253 (December 31, 2016 was $13,777,850) of real estate non-
current assets and recorded revenue of $2,000,000 from its investment in real estate.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Subsequent to the year-end, the Company raised aggregate gross proceeds of $4,890,000 by issuing three-year term
secured debentures bearing interest at a rate of 13.5% per annum payable semi-annually (the “ Debentures” ) on a non-
brokered Private Placement basis (the “ Private Placement” ).The Debentures are secured by 4,890,000 Class A limited
partner units owned by the Company in the capital of CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership.

The net proceeds of the Private Placement were used to purchase a thrcc-ycar term secured debenture bearing interest
at a rate of 20% per annum payable semi-annually (the “ Investment” ) from Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, the beneficial
owner of the Bayview Creek residential development project located at 10747 Bayview Avenue, Richmond Hill,
Ontario. The Company paid a finder’s fee equal to four percent (4%) of the gross proceeds of the Private Placement
raised from investors referred to the Company by the finders.

The Private Placement and the Investment (collectively, the “ Transactions” ) were considered “ related party
transactions” as (i) Jiubin Feng, one of the directors and senior officers of the Company, is also a director and officer
of the general partner of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP and (ii) the general partner of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP is also the
general partner of one of the insiders of the Company, namely CIM Investment & Development LP.
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Management’sResponsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements of CIM International Group Inc. (the "Company”) and
other information contained in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis are the responsibility of management and
have been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. The accompanying audited consolidated financial
statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Management acknowledges responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial
statements including responsibility for significant accounting judgments and estimates and the choice of accounting
principles and methods that are appropriate to Ihe Company's circumstances. The significant accounting policies of
the Company are summarized in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Management has established processes, which are in place to provide them with sufficient knowledge to support
management representations that they have exercised reasonable diligence that (i) the consolidated financial
statements do not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated
or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it is made, as at
and for the periods presented by the consolidated financial statements and (ii) the consolidated financial statements
fairty present in all materials respects the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the Company,
asat and for the periods presented by the consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its financial reporting responsibiitiesand for
reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements together with other information. An Audit Committee
assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling this responsibility. The Audit Committee meets with management to
review the financial reporting process and the audited consolidated financial statements together with other
information of the Company. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for its consideration in
approving the audited consoSdated financial statements together with other financial information of Ihe Company for
issuance to the shareholders.

Management recognizes its responsibility for conducting the Company’s affairs in compliance with established
financial standards, and applicable laws and regulations and for maintaining proper standards of conduct for its
activities.

(Signed) "Dan Fuoco"
Chief Financial Officer

(Signed) "Jiubin Feng"
ChiefExecutive Officer

Toronto,Ontario
April 30, 2019
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Deloitte LLP
Bay Adelaide East
6 Adelaide Street West
Suite 200
Toronto ON M5H 0A9
CanadaDeloitte
Tel: 416-601-6150
Fax:416-601-6151
www.detoit1e .ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of CIM International Group Inc.

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CIM International Group Inc.{ the
"Company"), which comprise the consolidated financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
and the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in shareholders' equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information (collectively referred to as the "financial statements").
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS").

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards
("Canadian GAAS"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises:

•Management's Discussion and Analysis
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained In the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We obtained Management's Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor's report, If, based
on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor's report. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

2

403



73

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

•Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor s report is Terng Chen.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Ontario
April 30, 2019
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

SL-Mi: T mi?
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash
Other receivables (Note 4)
Due from related parties (Note 17)
Asset held for sale (Note 8)
Prepaid expenses

$ 10,618 $
3,490,804

754,606
2,072,727

2,726

41,994
11,199

100,830

43,135
6,331,481 197,158

Non-current assets
Loan receivable (Note 5)
Property and equipment (Note 6)
Investments (Note 7)
Investment in associates (Note 9)
Deferred tax asset (Note 13)

10,000,000
84,166

10,352,400
3,577,500

473,946

100,511
11,261,490

5,566,763
281,922

17,210,68624,488,002

30,819,483 $$ 17,407,844Total Assets

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS’EQUITY
Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 16)
Due to related parties (Note 17)
Deferred gain (Note 7)
Finance leasejiayable - current portion (Note 11)

$ 845,484 $
8,803,413

971,700
17.572

521,770
4,665,871
1,658,020

16,932
6,862,59310,638,169

Non-current liabilities
Debenture (Note 10)
Debt issue costs (Note 10)
Deferred gain (Note 7)
Finance lease payable (Note 12)
Other liabilities (Note 3 (e))

10,000,000
(579,661)

228,778
10,095
63,846

21,724
63,846

302 7199,505,909
7,165,31220,144,078

Shareholders1 Equity
Share capital (Note 14)
Other capital reserves (Note 15)
Other comprehensive loss (Note 7)
Deficit

13,972,597
624,183

(269,828)
(4,084,420)
10,242,532

13,972,597
624,183

(270,996)
(3,650.379)
10,675,405Total SharehoIders’ Equity

Total Liabilities and Shareholders1 Equity 30,819,483 $$ 17.407,844

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board of Directors:

(Signed) "Paul Lin"(Signed) "Jiubin Fengn
Paul Un, DirectorJiubin Feng, Director
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars except for share and per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Year Ended

$ 3,857,082 $Revenue (Notes 7 and 17) 2,322,599

Operating expenses
General and administrative (Note 17)
Professional fees
Wages and benefits (Note 17)
Depreciation (Note 6)
Listing and filing fees

328,821
260,334

1,321,665
47,830
22,227

444,366
278,168
954,459

40,743
26,949

1,980,877 1,744,685

Gain on settlement of debt
Share of loss (income) of associates (Note 9)

Interest expense (Notes 11,12,15)

(163,937)
(55,063)

371,065
54,863

1,615,726

Total Expenses
Gain on sale of investments

3,651,466

29,228
1,896,750

Net income before income taxes
Income tax provision (Note 13)

234,844
(199,197) ;

425,849
(131,031)

Net income for the year

Fair value change of investment (Note 7)

434,041

(1,168)

556,880

87,545

Total comprehensive income for the year $ 432,873 $ 644,425

Income Per Share (Note 14)
Basic
Diluted

$ 0.01 $
0.01 $

0.01
$ 0.01

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares (Note 14)
Basic
Diluted

46,132,616
46,505,878

46,132,616

46,505,878

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes In Shareholders’ Equity
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Total
Shareholders'

Equity

Other
Other Capital Comprehensive

Share Capital Reserves Income/(Loss) Deficit

Balance - January 1, 2017
Change in fair value of investment (Note 7)
Net Income for the year

$ 13.972,597 $ 624,1£3 $ (357,373) $ (4,641.300) $ 9,598,107
87,545 87,545

556,380556,860

$ 13,972,597 $ 624,183 $ (269,828) $ (4,084,420) $ 10,242,532Balance - December 31, 2017

(269,628) $ (4,084,420) S 10,242,532
6,005

589.485

Balance - January 1, 2018
Change in fair value of investment (Note 7)
Net income for the year

$ 13.972.597 $ 624,183 $
6,005

589t485

(263,623) 8 (3,494.935) $ 10,838,022$ 13,972,597 $ 624,183 $Balance - December 31, 2016

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consoildated financial statements.
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C1M International Group Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

ScOiE December II 201r
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Add (deduct) non-cash items :

Share of loss (income) of associates (Note 8)
Interest income
Depreciation
Gain on settlement of debt
Interest expense
Income tax provision

Net Change in Non-Cash Working Capital Balances
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties (Note 17)
Due from related parties (Note 17)

$ 434,041 $ 556,880

54,863
(1,292,082)

47,830

(55,063)

40,743
163,937
350,683

(131,031)
1,615,729
(199,197)

(1,639,410)
40,409

(346,215)
(3,081)
7,725

22,008
(38,861)

(569,846)
493,597

2,030,130

Cash (used In) provided bv operating activities (1,279,388) 2.863,177

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments (Note 7)
Sale of investment in associates (Note 9)
Interest received from Bayview Creek (CIM) LP
Investments in associates (Note 9)
Loan receivable (Note 5)
Property and equipment

(352,400)
600,000
630,581

(1,638,727)
(10,000,000)

(31,475)

(2,311,500)

(14.822)

(2.678,722)Cash used in investing activities (10.439,621)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Debenture payable issued (Note 10)
Debt issue costs
Loan received from related parties
Finance lease received
Finance lease payments
Convertible debentures repaid (Note 10)
interest payment

10,000,000
(579,661)

3.217.727
31,475

(19,205) (16,092)
(180,000)

(20,382)(962,703)

Cash provided bv (used in) financing activitles
Decrease in cash in the year
Cash - Beginning of year

(216,474)11,687,633
(31,376)
41,994

(32,019)
74,013

$Cash - End of year 10,618 $ 41,994

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

1.NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Company and Business Operations

CIM International Group Inc. (the “Company”) is a Canadian company incorporated pursuant to the
provisions of the laws of the Province of Ontario on February 18, 2010. On May 27, 2010, the Company
was listed as a Capital Pool Company (“CPC") as defined pursuant to Policy 2.4 ("Policy 2.4”) of the TSX
Venture Exchange ("TSXV”). On April 29, 2016, the Company officially changed its name to CIM
International Group Inc.and de-listed its shares from the Toronto Stock Exchange, which was approved by
the shareholders of the Company on April 8, 2016 at the Company’s Annual and Special Meeting. In
connection with the Transaction, as described in Note 7, the Company completed the process to list its
Common Shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) in accordance with the CSE’s listing
requirements effective on May 2, 2016 and its common shares began trading on May 9, 2016 on the CSE
Exchange. The Company is classified as a "Diversified Industries" issuer company. The registered address
of the Company is 55 Commerce Valley Drive West, Suite 502, Markham, Ontario, Canada, L3T 7V9.
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements, for the year ended December 31, 2018, including comparative
figures for the year ended December 31, 2017, have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial ReportingStandards ("IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018 were

• .i ,, -i - . iIV - • -* » £ — -- f — m- - - — ft — — - Afl, — — — — ft —^ - -A-
_
X _

M ^ itLa- A. -a- t-a.-a. AA aa a * -aa. ——. A ka »atI #4approver ariu aumurizeu iur issue uy 1116 ouaiu ui uueuiuis ui vie company on /ipm ze, zu 1».
Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the
revaluation of investments accounted at fair value.
Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency
of the Company and its subsidiaries.
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all group entities and for all periods
presented in these consolidated financial statements.
a) Basis of Consolidation

I) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has power over
an entity, exposure or rights to variable returns from the Company’s involvement with the entity, and

9
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

the ability to use its power over the entity to affect the amount of the Company’s returns. The financial
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries.

ii) Associates

Where the Company has the power to significantly influence but not control the financial and operating
policy decisions of another entity, it is classified as an associate. Associates are initially recognized in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition
changes in the Company’s share of the net assets of the associate, under the equity method of
accounting. The Company's share of post-acquisition profits and losses is recognized in the
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income, except that losses in excess of the
Company's investment in the associate are not recognized unless there is a legal or constructive
obligation to recognize such losses.If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Company’s share
of profits is recognized only after the Company’s share of the profits equals the share of losses not
recognized. Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Company and its associates are
recognized only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associate. The investor's share in
the associate's profits and losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying
value of the associate.
Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Company’s share of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalized and included in the carrying amount
of the Company’s investment inan associate. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in
an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the
same way as other non-financial assets.

Ill) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Inter-company balances, transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses, are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Unrealized gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the
extent of the Company's interest in the investee. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
The consolidated financial statements include material companies:

Country of
Incorporation

Principal
activities

% Equity interest

CIM Capital Inc.
CIM Development LP
CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP
CIM Port McNicoll
Holding LP

Investment Banking
Real Estate
Real Estate
Real Estate

Canada
Canada
Canada
Canada

100.0%
21.0%
27.3%
30.0%
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31 , 2018 and December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

b) Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and readily convertible demand deposits and are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in fair value. Cash is invested in a commercial bank accounts in a major Canadian Chartered
Bank in Canada.

c) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and to the extent that
collection is reasonably assured at the time the revenue is earned. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized by reference to the completion of the
performance obligation in the period.

Investment income

Income from investments is recognized when the right to receive payment has been established provided
that the economic benefits will flow the Company and the amount of the income can be measured reliably.

d) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognized in consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income and is provided
on a straight-line basis using the following rates:

Over 5 years
Over 3 years

Over the term of the lease

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment

Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and
adjusted if appropriate.

e) Income Taxes

Current Income Taxes

Income tax in the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income for the periods presented
comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of income and
comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which
case it is recognized in equity. Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at year end, adjusted for amendments to tax
payable with regards to previous periods.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred tax is recorded using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation
purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the financial position reporting date.
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset canbe utilized. Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.
f) Earnings or Loss per Share

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share are calculated using the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the year. The dilutive effect on earnings (loss) per share is calculated presuming
the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such
exercise would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the year.

However, the calculation of diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise
of options and warrants that would be anti-dilutive. Shares held in escrow, other than where their release
is subject to the passage of time, are not included in the calculation of the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding.
g) Share-Based Payment Transactions

The Company accounts for share-based compensation expense using the fair value based method with
respect to all share-based payments to directors, employees and non-employees, including awards that
are direct awards of stock and call for settlement in cash or other assets, or stock appreciation rights that
call for settlement by the issuance of equity instruments. Fair Value is calculated using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model and is based on model variables including interest rates, expected life, expected
volatility, expected dividends, expected forfeitures and share prices. For directors and employees, the fair
value of the options is measured at the grant date.

For non-employees, the fair value of the options is measured on the earlier of the date at which the
counterparty performance is completed or the date the performance commitment is reached or the date at
which the equity instruments are granted if they are fully vested and non-forfeitable. Under this standard,
share-based payments are recorded as an expense over the vesting period or when the awards or rights
are granted, with a corresponding increase to other capital reserves under shareholders’ equity. When
stock options are exercised, the corresponding fair value is transferred from other capital reserves to share
capital.
h) Share Issuance Costs

Costs directly incurred in connection with the issuance of common shares, such as legal fees and finder’s
fees, are recorded as a charge against share capital.
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CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

i) Share Purchase Warrants

When the Company issues common shares and non-transferable share purchase warrants, the Company
follows the relative fair value method of accounting for warrants attached to and issued with common shares
of the Company.Under this method, the fair value of warrants issued is estimated using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model. The relative fair value ascribed to the warrants is determined based on total proceeds
received applied pro-rata to the fair of the issued common shares at the transaction date and the fair value
of the warrants issued therewith.
j) Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control or common significant
influence.
Related parties may be individuals or corporate entities. A transaction is considered to be a related party
transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties. Related party
transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm's length transactions and are made
only if such terms can be substantiated.
k) Lease Liabilities

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
contractual arrangement at inception date, including whether the arrangement contains the use of a specific
asset and the right to use that asset. Where the Company receives substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset, these arrangements are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
recorded as an asset with a corresponding liability at an amount equal to the lower of the fair value of the
leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance costs using the effective interest method, with the interest element of the
lease charged to the consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income as a finance cost.
Capital assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset
and the lease term.
All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized in the
consolidated statement of income and comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
I) Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management
to make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, the reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period, and the assessment and disclosure of
contingencies, if any. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

13

414



84

CIM International Group Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)

Estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting
estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
Information about critical estimates and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in these consolidated financial statements is included in
the following items:

Convertible Debentures

The Company measures the discount rate used to determine the fair value of the debt component by
reference to interest rate, charged to companies with debt issuances without a conversion feature.

Stock Options and Share-Based Compensation

The Company measures the fair value of stock options granted to officers, directors, employees and agents
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model which incorporates the assumptions regarding the expected
life of the stock option, volatility, dividend yield, and risk-free rates. The Company is required to calculate
the fair value of these stock options at the date of issuance.

Financial Instruments under IFRS 9

The Company makes estimates with respect to the valuation of level 3 investment classified as FVOCI.

Income Taxes

In assessing the probability of realizing deferred income tax assets, management makes estimates related
to expectation of future taxable income, applicable tax opportunities, expected timing of reversals of existing
temporary differences and the likelihood that tax positions taken will be sustained upon examination by
applicable tax authorities. In making its assessments, management gives additional weight to evidence that
can be objectively verified.

Critical Accounting Judgments

Impairment

Management is required to use judgment to review the carrying values of the mining properties on a
quarterly basis to determine whether any impairment exists based on assumptions of current and future
events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions may change if new information becomes available. If
after the expenditures are capitalized and information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of
the carrying values is unlikely, the amount capitalized is written-off to the statement of income and
comprehensive income during the year that the new information becomes available.

Debentures

The Company applies judgment in determining the appropriate accounting treatment for debt issued. The
Company reviews the relevant agreements and determines if any embedded derivatives (other than the
conversion feature) exist in the arrangement. The Company then reviews the terms of the conversion
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feature, if applicable, to determine if it should be classified as a liability or as a component of equity. For
the debt issued during the year, the Company determined that there were no other embedded derivatives
and that the conversion feature should be classified as a component of equity.

Going Concern

Management uses its judgment in determining whether the Company is able to continue as a going concern.
Critical considerations take into account all available information about the future viability of anticipated
return on its real estate investments and recoverability of such investments, the availability of capital
financing, current working capital funds, market price of real estate, and the future commitment and
obligations. Management has asserted that the Company is a going concern and that no material
uncertainty exists as at December 31, 2018.
Classification of financial instruments

The Company makes judgments with respect to the classification of its investment.
m) Accounting Standards Adopted in 2018

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Company has adopted the new IFRS 15 standard "Revenue from Contracts and Customers” (IFRS
15) which was issued by the IASB on May 28, 2014, and which became effective on January 1, 2018 on a
modified prospective basis as if the standard had always been in place. The comparative information has
not been restated and continues to be reported under the accounting standards in effect for those periods.
The objective of IFRS 15 is to establish a single model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers; except for contracts that are within the scope of the standards on leases,
insurance contracts, and financial instruments.
The standard requires revenue to be recognized in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods
or services to a customer and at an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received in
exchange for transferring those goods or services. This is achieved by applying the following five steps:

1. Identify the contract with a customer;

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determine the transaction price;

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
The adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact to the consolidated financial statements
of net income and comprehensive income.
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IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments {"IFRS 9” ) which replaced IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement ("IAS 39") effective January 1, 2018. IFRS 9 provides new
guidance on the classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting for financial
instruments in addition to clarification for the treatment of modifications of financial liabilities. IFRS 9 is
required to be adopted retrospectively with certain available transition provisions.The adoption of this
standard did not have any significant impact on the combined financial statements for
the current or prior years.

Classification and measurement:

IFRS 9 requires a new approach for the classification and measurement of financial assets based on the
Company’s business models for managing these financial assets and their contractual cash flow
characteristics. This approach is summarized as follows:

• Assets held for the purpose of collecting contractual cash flows that solely represent payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortized cost.

• Assets held within a business model where assets are both held for the purpose of collecting
contractual cash flows or sold prior to maturity and the contractual cash flows solely represent
payments of principal and interest are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI” ).

• Assets held within another business model or assets that do not have contractual cash flow
characteristics that are solely payments of principal and interest are measured at fair value through
profit or loss (“ FVTPL” ).

The Company completed its review of all financial instruments held and performed a cash flow and business
model assessment, and the impact is summarized as follows:

• The classification of Investments as Available for Sale ("AFS” ) under IAS 39 has been renamed to
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income ("FVOCI” ). The Investments previously classified
as Available for Sale were still measured at fair value, thus there was no material impact from the
adoption of IFRS 9.

The following summarizes the Company’s classification and measurement of its financial assets and
liabilities:

Classification and
Measurement Basis

Financial assets
Accounts receivable
Cash
Due from related parties
Loan receivable
Investments

Amortized Cost
Amortized Cost
Amortized Cost

Amortized Cost
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
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Financial liabilities
Debentures
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Financial lease payable

Amortized Cost
Amortized Cost
Amortized Cost
Amortized Cost

Effective interest method

The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial instrument asset or liability and
allocates interest income or cost over the corresponding period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments over the expected life of the financial asset or liability,
or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets classified as FVTPL.

Convertible debentures

The component parts of compound instruments (convertible debentures) issued by the Company are
classified separately as financial liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion options that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company's own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest
rale for similar non-convertible instruments. This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortized cost
basis using the effective interest method until extinguished on conversion or at the instrument's maturity
date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component
from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognized and included in equity, net
of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the conversion option classified as
equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the balance recognized
in equity will be transferred to share capital.
When the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance
recognized in equity will be transferred to contributed surplus. No gain or loss is recognized in the statement
of income and comprehensive income upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are recognized directly in equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability component and are amortized over the lives of the convertible
notes using the effective interest method.

Impairment
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A financial asset carried at amortized cost is considered impaired if objective evidence indicates that one
or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flow of that asset that can be
estimated reliably. Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The
remaining financial assets are assessed at the cash generating unit which occurs at the mineral property
level. An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the
difference betweenthe carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses
historical trends of the probability of default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted
for management’s judgment as to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual
losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

n) Future Accounting Standards

IFRS 16- Leases

On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued a new standard IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”). This new IFRS
standard is effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2019.This standard introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more
than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation
to make lease payments. This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of
IAS 17, while requiring enhanceddisclosures to be provided by lessors.Other areas of the lease accounting
model have been impacted, including the definition of a lease. Transitional provisions have been provided.

Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16, “Leases” which introduces changes to lease
accounting whereby many of the leases previously accounted for as operating leases will now need to be
accounted for as capital leases. IFRS 16 superseded IAS 17-Leases and related interpretations. Upon
adoption of IFRS 16, the Company expects the adjustments to the consolidated financial statements will
be required because of adopting IFRS 16. The Company’s current office space lease will result in the
recognition of the right of use asset and the corresponding lease liability (note 18).

4. OTHER RECEIVABLES
December 31. 2018 December 31. 2017

$ 64,491
2,000,000
1,426,313

HST taxes and other tax credits
Due from CIM Mackenzie Creek LP
Other receivable

$ 11,199

$ 3.490.804 iTotal 11 199
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5. LOAN RECEIVABLE

ijBalance - beginning of year
Issued in the year

Balance-end of year

During the year 2018, the Company provided a three-year loan in the amount of $10,000,000 bearing
interest at a rate of 20% per annum (the “Investment”) to Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, the beneficial owner of
the Bayview Creek residential development project located at 10747 Bayview Avenue, Richmond Hill,
Ontario maturing June 27, 2021. The Company raised gross proceeds via a Private Placement, to fund this
loan receivable, by issuing three-year term secured debentures in the amount of $10,000,000 bearing
interest at a rate of 13.5% per annum payable semi-annually. The Private Placement and the Investment
were considered “related party transactions" as (i) Jiubin Feng, one of the directors and senior officers of
the Company, is also a director and officer of the general partner of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP and (ii) the
general partner of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP is also the general partner of one of the insiders of the
Company, namely CIM Investment & Development LP.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded interest income totaling $1,292,082
with respect to the note receivable from Bayview Creek (CIM) LP, a related company (Dec 31, 2017 - $nil).

IP.000.000

£i io.Qon. oon

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
.lEEltilE LtegrcmtDftr : : . 201j

$ 104,346
33,955
19,286

7.500
19.2SG

Office equipment and furniture
Computer equipment and software
Leasehold improvements
Software i 900

196,562
(112.4061

165,087
<64.5761

Total
Accumulated depreciation

$ 84.156 $ 100.511Net book value

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company acquired a total of $31,475 of property and
equipment assets ($Nil - Dec 31, 2017) and did not dispose of any property and equipment assets in the
year ended December 31, 2018 ($Nil - Dec 31, 2017).

7. INVESTMENTS
/PIE

$ 10,000,000
352*400

$ 10,909,090
352.400

Investment in CIM Mackenzie Creek LP -FVTOCI
Investment in Victoria House Retirement Home- FVTOCI

$ L ! fr . ' I -$ 10.352 400Total
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Investment in CIM Mackenzie Creek LP
As at December 31, 2016
In April 2016, the Company completed the securities exchange with the CIM Parties and acquired 10M
Class A Units in a new limited partnership named CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership in exchange
for 40M common shares in the capital of the Company at a price of $0.25 per consolidated share on a post- ”
consolidated basis totaling $10M (referred to as the “Transaction'’). The Company measured $10 million
investment in CIM Mackenzie Creek LP at fair value both at the transaction date and as of December 31,
2016.The fair value of the investment at the transaction date was $12,745,286 which resulted in a day one
level three gain of $2,745,286 which is to be recognized through profit and loss over time and any changes
in fair value only to the extent that it arises from a change in factors that market participants would take into
account in accordance with IAS 39 should be recognized through Other Comprehensive Income.
The Company recorded income of $1,333,333 partially relating to the amortization of the deferred gain of
$610,064, and partially relating the income earned on that investment of $723,270. The change in the fair
value attributable to Other Comprehensive Income was $357,373.
The investment was initially designated upon inception as available for sale and recorded at fair value of
$12,745,286. This resulted in a day 1 gain of $ 2,745,286 which was deferred and will be recognized into
profit and loss over the term of the investment. This resulted in $610,064 being recognized in income for
the ten-month period ended December 31, 2016. At December 31, 2016, the fair value of the investment
was $11,777,850.
The Company recognized $723,270 in income, and unrealized gains and losses of $357,372 recognized in
Other Comprehensive Income. The Company received cash $2 million during ten-month period ended
December 31, 2016 and as a result of, the Company recorded a deferred gain of $666,667,

As at December 31. 2017
The Company recorded income of $2,000,000 consisting of the amortization of the deferred gain of
$915,095 and income earned on that investment of $1,084,905. The change in the fair value of the
investment attributable to Other Comprehensive Income was an increase of $46,332 for the year ended
December 31, 2017.

As at December 31. 2018
The Company recorded income of $2,000,000 to be collected in the period 2019. Income is partially related
to the amortization of the deferred gain of $915,095 and partially related income earned on that investment
of $1,084,905. The change in the fair value of the investment attributable to Other Comprehensive Income
was an increase of $6,005 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
In calculating the fair value, management was required to make several assumptions concerning, but not
limited to, cash flows and discount rates. All assumptions resulted in a fair value that is considered within
the level 3 category of the fair value hierarchy. In particular, the Company used a discounted cash flow
approach in the determination of the fair value which utilized cash flow projections based on financial
forecasts prepared by Company management covering a period of 2 years and 2 months, and a discount
rate of 10%.
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On August 2, 2018, the Company executed an Extension Agreement in connection with the securities
exchange for the 10M Class A units of CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership. As of the date of the
agreement, CIM Invests Development Inc., on behalf of CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership, granted
to CIM International Group Inc. the right to require CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership to redeem,
and agreed to extend the redemption right for, an aggregate of 10,000,000 Class A Units to February 6,
2021.

Iiivmlimtnl 1» Vldniia Hcume Rirllmrnunl home

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company invested in the "Victoria House Retirement Home
(“ Victoria House"), a retirement home located in Orillia, Ontario. CIM invested $352,400 directly in the
common shares of Canadian China Ageing Development Inc. ("CCAD” ) representing 8.045% of CCAD’s
shares. CCAD is the facilities manager of the Victoria House. This investment was initially designated upon
inception as, and recorded at FVOCI. Due to its recent purchase, the Company kept the investment at cost
which approximates the fair value.

8. ASSET HELD FOR SALE
PwmfruOi _?S3J! IL'SEEma’ . Ifllf

$ 2,072,727 $ 1,500,000Investment in CIM Hwy & Holding LP

On May 23, 2017, the Company invested in the "Bur Oak" residential and commercial real estate project
located at 6910 Hwy 7 and Ninth Line in Markham, Ontario. The Bur Oak project is a 3-Phase project on a
20-acre site which is planned to include 140 residential townhouses, 575 condominium units and 50,000
sq. feet of commercial space in separate developments over a 6-year timeframe. The Company invested
$1,200,000, which was transferred from a loan receivable of $1,200,000 in the account, directly in limited
partnership units in the capital of CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP, and which effectively represents a 27.3% interest
in the Bur Oak project. This project is moving forward with all the various studies, processes and approvals
required for the development of the project.
As at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP on a gross basis includes
the following:

LM.'S ^
$ 853,840

4,846,368
(200,208)

$ 74,452
7,725,549

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net Equity $ 5.500 0005 7 fltr: roil

As at December 31, 2018, the Company has classified its investment in CIM Hwy 7 Holding LP as an Asset
Held for Sale as the Company is exploring the sale of its interest in this property in 2019.
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9. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
Datgintrer 1 n December 3 I 2017

(a) Investment in CIM Development LP
(b) Investment in CIM Homes Inc.
(c) Investment in CIM Port McNicoll Holding LP

Net Equity

$ $ 2,000,000
55,263

2.011.500
? afl $ 4.066.763

3,577,500

(a) On November 28, 2016, the Company invested in the Valleyview Garden residential real estate project
located at 3000-3020 Kennedy Road in Scarborough, Ontario. The Valleyview Garden Project Is a 4.3
acres site of developable residential real estate land in the City of Toronto. The development proposal
application,which has been submitted to the City of Toronto, is for 42 freehold newly constructed single
detached residential housing units. The Company invested in limited partnership units in the capital of
CIM Development LP, which beneficially owns the Valleyview Garden real estate project, representing
a 21% interest in the limited partnership, at an investment cost of $2 million.
As at December 31, 2017,CIM Development LP on a gross basis includes the following:

Pf- IJE-TTllJlW 3 T '

Current assets
Non-current assets
Curent liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net Equity

$ 3,357,373
21,153,606

(510,979)

5 9.500.000

On December 31, 2018, the Company sold its interest in CIM Development LP for total proceeds of
$2,000,000 and recorded no gain or loss on the transaction. The $2,000,000 of total proceeds are
comprised of a $600,000 cash settlement, and a $1,400,000 promissory note.The Company has recorded
the $1,400,000 within Other Receivables on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
(b) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company invested in 20% of CIM Homes Inc. by

acquiring 200 common shares issued at $1 per share. CIM Homes Inc. is a real estate development
company which develops residential and commercial real estate projects.
As at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, CIM Homes Inc. on a gross basis includes the
following:

DecalntK:r '1:. >

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net Equity

$ 334,440
1,077,772

(1,144,854)

$ * IV; Ir
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‘A h &K,Hijnbm AI

$ 6,000 $
2J45
3.055 $

684,000
(402*687)
275.313

Revenues
Expenses
Net income for the period

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recorded $611 (Dec 31, 2017: $55,063) of
associate’s post-acquisition profit. Effective May 31, 2018, the Company sold its 20% shares in CIM Homes
Inc. to Jiubin Feng, a related party, for $200 and a total of share of associates loss for the year was recorded
at $54,863 as a result.

(c) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company invested in the Port McNicoll residential real
estate project located near the town of Port McNicoll, Ontario on the southern shore of Georgian Bay.
The project is in the development stage on a 1,126-acre site which is planned to include up to 1,500
residential homes. The Company invested $2,011,500, in limited partnership units in the capital of Port
McNicoll Holding LP, and which effectively represents a 30.0% interest in the Port McNicoll project.

$

As at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, CIM Port McNicoll Holding LP on a gross basis
includes the following:

December 31. 2018 r - 1 . -I'JI

t 4 JWJS.13 ttea.tsfc
i,* X 3M)

$ 7.475.341

$ 956,975
44,068,150

(2,865)
(31.823.883)

$ 13.198.377

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net Equity

10. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES
[)teHir=r 11 2T11B UCH 3A. JQ 47

$ 180,000
(180.000)

S-Balance- beginning of the year
Less: principal repaid in the year

$ 2Balance - end of the year

On December 5, 2013, the Company issued convertible debentures with a face value of $280,000 through
a non-brokered private placement financing. The convertible debentures bore interest at a rate of 8% per
annum paid semi-annually during May and November each year, were unsecured, and with a maturity date
of December 5, 2016.

Each debenture was convertible into common shares of the Company at the holder's option at any time
prior to the maturity date at a conversion price of $1.75 per common share (post-consolidation). The
convertible debentures were compound financial instruments consisting of the debt instrument and the
equity component feature. The debt instrument was recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest
method at an annual discount rate of 10.28% over the life of the debenture of three years.
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The gross proceeds were allocated between the debt instrument in the amount of $265,371 and to the
equity component for $14,629. The accreted interest for the debenture for the year ended December 31,
2017 was $Nil (December 31, 2016: $12,522). Effective December 5, 2016, a total of $50,000 in principal
of the convertible debentures were repaid and $50,000 was settled against an amount due to a related
company. A total of $180,000 in principal of the convertible debentures were extended for a term of one
year to December 5, 2017 with all other terms and conditions remaining unchanged. In December 2017,
the balance of $180,000 in principal of the convertible debentures and the accrued interest of $14,400 for
the year were repaid in full.

11.DEBENTURE
December 31.2018 December 31. 2017

Debenture issued in the year
Issue costs- less amortization

$ 10,000,000 $
(579.661\

Balance- end of year $ 9.420.339 $

During the year 2018, the Company raised aggregate gross proceeds of $10,000,000 by issuing three-year
term secured debentures bearing interest at a rate of 13.5% per annum payable interest only semi-annually
(the “ Debenture” ) on a non-brokered Private Placement basis (the “ Private Placement"). The Debenture is
due by August 2, 2021, and are secured by 10,000,000 Class A limited partner units owned by the Company
in the capital of CIM Mackenzie Creek Limited Partnership.

The net proceeds of the Private Placement were used to purchase a three-year term secured debenture
bearing interest at a rate of 20% per annum payable semi-annually (the “ Investment” ) from Bayview Creek
(CIM) LP, the beneficial owner of the Bayview Creek residential development project located at 10747
Bayview Avenue, Richmond Hill, Ontario. The Company paid a finder’s fee equal to four percent (4%) of
the gross proceeds of the Private Placement raised from investors referred to the Company by the finders.

The Private Placement and the Investment (collectively, the "Transactions") were considered "related party
transactions” as (i) Jiubin Feng, one of the directors and senior officers of the Company, is also a director
and officer of the general partner of Bayview Creek (CIM) LP and (ii) the general partner of Bayview Creek
(CIM) LP is also the general partner of one of the insiders of the Company, namely CIM Investment &
Development LP.

The Company incurred a total of $749,038 issued costs in connection with the issuance of the Debentures
and amortized a total of $169,377 of these costs as at December 31, 2018. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company incurred interest expense of $962,703 regarding the Debentures,

12. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLE
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Finance lease payable
Less: Current portion

$ 39,296 $
17.572

27,027
16.932

Finance lease payable - Long term portion $ $21 724 10.095
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The finance lease payable bears interest at rates of up to 13.9% per annum, are repayable in monthly
instalments of principal and interest of $1,599, are secured by capital assets, and mature up to July 2022.
As of December 31, 2018, the committed present value repayments of the finance lease on a fiscal year
basis are as follows:

$ 17,572
7,657
8.586
5.481

2019
2020
2021
2022

$Total 39.296

13. INCOME TAXES
a) Income tax expense

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would result from applying the Canadian federal and
provincial income tax rates to earnings from continuing operations before taxes. These differences result
from the following:

December 31, 2018 December 31. 2017
$ 425,849£ 234,844Income before taxes

26.5%26.5%Canadian statutory federal and provincial income tax rates

$ 62,234 $ 112,850Income tax provision based on Canadian income tax rates

Non-deductible expenses
Pre-acquisition of control
Non-taxable portion of partnership draw
Other
Non-recognition of tax attributes
Income tax recovery

1,857 6,083

(265,000) (265,000)
15,0361712

£ $ /131.0311M99.1971
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b) Deferred tax assets (liabilities)

Recognized in
Income

Balance
January 1,

2018

Recognizedjn
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Balance
December 31,

2018

$ 201,309 $Non-capital
losses
Share
issuance
cost
Debt
Issuance
Cost
Investment
in CIM
Mackenzie
Creek LP
Total

$ 558,738 $ 760,047

6,707 (5,586) 1,121

5,186 5,186

(1,7121(283.5231 (7.1731 (292,4081

S 281.922 £ 199.197 £ (7.1731 £ 473.946

c) Non-recognized net deductible temporary differences
The Company has total deductible temporary differences in total of $3.9 million (Dec 31, 2017: $3.9
million) for which no deferred tax asset has been recognized, comprised as follows:

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

$ 776,873 $ 776,873Mine exploration costs
Share issuance costs
Non-capital losses 3.207.761 3-207.761

£ 3.984.643 $ 3.934.<?43Total

(i) As per Note 1, the Company underwent a securities exchange, which resulted in a change of control. As
a result, the non-capital losses and mine exploration costs pre-acquisition are restricted in use. The
Company has not recognized deductible temporary differences on these properties.
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Income taxes (Continued)

d) Loss carry-forwards

As at December 31, 2018, the Company has available non-capital losses in Canada of $6.1 million
related specifically to its mining business that if not utilized will expire as follows:

$ 298,251
413,076
518,729
441,280
860,411
666,697
978,457

1,129,987
759,659

2031 (Restricted)
2032 (Restricted)
2033 (Restricted)
2034 (Restricted)
2035 (Restricted)
2036 (Restricted)
2037
2038
2039

£ 6.066.547

14. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized - Unlimited common shares with no par value
Issued, fully paid and outstanding

Number of Shares
(Post -Consolidation) Amount

$ 13.972.59746.132,616Balance, December 31, 2017

$ 13.972.59746,132,616Balance, December 31, 2018

Income (Loss) Per Share

The dilutive effect on earnings (loss) per share is calculated presuming the exercise of outstanding options,
warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise would be used to
repurchase common shares at the average market price during the year.However, the calculation of diluted
loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of options and warrants that would
be anti-dilutive.
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15. OTHER CAPITAL RESERVES

a) Stock Options

The Company established an incentive stock option plan (the 'Plan”) pursuant to which the Company
may, from time to time, at the discretion of the directors to grant options to the directors, officers,
technical consultants and, employees of the Company to purchase common shares, provided that the
number of common shares reserved for issuance will not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding
common shares. The number of common shares reserved for issuance to any individual director, officer
or employee will not exceed five percent (5%) of the issued and outstanding common shares and will
not exceed two percent (2%) for all technical consultants.
As at December 31, 2018, there were a total of 373,262 (December 31, 2017 -372,262) vested stock
options outstanding and the weighted average contractual life remaining of the balance of the
outstanding stock options is 0.32 years (December 31, 2017: 1.33 years).

STOCK OPTIONS
Number of
Stock Options

Weighted
Average Exercise
Price

Balance, January 1, 2017
Granted in the year
Cancelled or expired in the period

373,262 $0,375

Balance, December 31, 2017 $0,375373,262

Balance, December 31, 2018 $0,375373,262

b) Other Capital Reserves
Amount

Balance, December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018 $ 624.183

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value

On December 31, 2018, the carrying value of other receivables (excluding HST) and due from related
parties, accounts payables and accrued liabilities, due to related parties, approximates their carrying value
due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is
based on Level 1 inputs. Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 1 are
determined by reference to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
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Fair Value Hierarchy

The following provides a description of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is
observable:

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s investments are measured as fair value and are categorized as
level 3 fair value hierarchy as disclosed in Note 7.

Capital Management

The Company’s capital management objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue to operate as a going
concern.The Company considers items included in shareholder's equity to be capital. Its principal sources
of cash are from the issuance of common shares and funding from related parties. The Board of Directors
monitors the Company's capital position regularly. The Company does not have any externally imposed
capital requirements to which it is subject.
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Company may issue new shares from time to time.
Risk Management

The Company is exposed to financial risks due to the nature of its business operations and the financial
assets and liabilities it holds. The Company’s primary risk management objective is to safeguard its cash
flows, and to maintain a strong and efficient capital structure to provide liquidity to support continued asset
growth.
The management of the Company monitors its overall cash position on a regular basis and forecasts its
financial obligations so that it is able to meet these commitments. The Board of Directors meets regularly
to review business operations, reviews of cash positions and budgets, monitors the status of its real estate
investments, reviews compliance with contracts and commitments, and compliance with regulatory
authorities.
A summary of the Company’s risk exposures as it relates to financial instruments are reflected below:
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a) Market risk - Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow from a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk:
currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The Company believes that it is exposed to
price risk related to real estate.

b) Credit risk - Credit risk arises from cash and deposits with banks and financial institutions, and
accounts receivables. To minimize the credit risk the Company places these instruments with a
high credit quality financial institution, and monitors accounts receivable balances on a monthly
basis for collectability.

c) Interest rate risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of the Loan to Bayview
Creek LP and the Debenture will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates..

d) Currency risk - The Company operates in Canada and conducts its business operations in
Canadian dollars only. As a result, the Company no foreign currency exposure with respect to its
transactions denominated in Canadian dollars

e) Liquidity risk - Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Company currently settles its financial obligations out of cash.
The ability to do this relies on the Company raising equity and debt financing in a timely manner
and by maintaining sufficient cash in excess of anticipated needs subject to certain restrictions
imposed by the CSE. It is anticipated that the Company’s existing cash balances, cash flow from
operations, advances from related parties and debt financing will be sufficient to fund operations
for the next twelve months. Refer to note 10 whereby the Company raised a total of $10,000,000
gross proceeds from the issuance of three-year term secured debentures during the year.

Ail Company’s financial liabilities except for as disclosed in notes 10 and 11, are due within three months
to one year.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended December 31, 2018 and year ended December 31, 2017, the following are the
related party transactions:

a) Due from related parties:

December 31. 2018 December 31, 2017

$ 22,776
89,900

611,501
30.428

$ 100,830Rent, cost, accounting service and other
CIM International Development Inc.
Bayview Creek (CIM)LP
Due from an Officer and Director

$ 754.606Total $ 1 0 0 8 2 2
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Due to related parties:
December 31. 2018 December 31.2017

$ 1,000,000
3,663,327

2,544

$ 1,201,644
7,352,306

CIM Homes Marketing Inc.
Bayview Creek (CIM)LP
CIM Global Development LP
Due to Officers and Directors

(537)
250.000

$ 8.803.413 $ 4.665.871Total

b) As at December 31, 2018, the Company owes CIM Home Marketing Inc. Inc., a related company,
$1,201,644 which is a 20% annual interest rate short-term loan payable on demand and is presented
as "Due to related parties” on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company is related to an officer and director of this company.

c) As at December 31, 2018, the Company owes Bayview Creek CIM LP., a related company. $7,352,306
which is a 20% annual interest rate short-term loan payable on demand and is presented as "Due to
related parties" on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company has an interest in related companies. During the year , interest expense payable of
$800,000 was waived by Bayview Creek (CIM) LP by agreement. This resulted in a reduction to "Interest
expense” and “ Due to related parties” in the amount of $800K each.

d) As at December 31, 2018, the Company repaid $1,611 to CIM Global Development LP„a related
company, related to a non-interest short-term loan payable on demand in the amount of $1074.06 and
is presented as ‘Due to related parties” on the Consolidated Financial Position Statement since the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest in related companies.

e) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired a 27.3% interest in CIM Hwy 7
Holding Limited Partnership (Note 8) where the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest
in related companies.

f) During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company acquired a 30% interest in CIM Port McNicoll
Holding Limited Partnership (Note 8) where the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has an interest
in related companies.

g) During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company issued a note receivable in the amount of
$10,000,000 to Bayview Creek (CIM) Limited Partnership (Notes 5 and 10) where the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company has an interest in related companies.

h) During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company earned interest revenue totaling $1,292,082
from Bayview Creek (CIM) LP (Dec 31, 2017 - $Nil)

i) During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company earned accounting and financial services
totaling $115,000 charged to related companies (Dec 31, 2017 - $255,000).
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j) During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company charged related companies for the recovery
of operating expenses totaling $231,505 (Dec 31, 2017 - $136,793).

k) During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company incurred interest expense totaling $482,896
to related companies (Dec 31, 2017 - $350,683).

L) Effective May 31, 2018, the Company sold a 100% of its interest in CIM International Development Inc.
to Jiubin Feng, the CEO of the Company for $30,728 representing the estimated value at that time.

m) Key management includes the Company's directors, officers and any employees with authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly.

n) A summary of the key management compensation for the period comprises the following:

December 31. 2018 December 31. 2017

$Salaries and benefits $ 340 023383.746

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitment
The Company is committed to the following office rental payments as at December 31, 2018:

Rent Amount

Less than 1 year
Greater thanl and less than 5 years
Greater than 5 years

$ 276,310
368,413

£ 644.723Total Commitment

The Company expects to recover approximately $533,316 of this commitment from related companies.

19. SEGMENT

The Company currently operates in one business segment, which is real estate development for which all
operating activities are conducted within Canada. As at December 31, 2018, the Company had
$16,000,627 (December 31, 2017 was $16,828,253) of real estate non-current assets and recorded
revenue of $2,000,000 (December 31, 2017 was $2,000,000) from its investment in real estate.
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